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Good morning Chair Reynoso, and members of the City Council Committee on Sanitation and 
Solid Waste Management. I am Gregory Anderson, Deputy Commissioner for Policy and 
External Affairs at the NYC Department of Sanitation. Thank you for the opportunity to testify 
today on these two bills related to commercial waste in New York City. 
 
While DSNY collects trash and recycling from residential buildings, more than 90 different 
private carters crisscross the city each night to service the city’s 100,000 commercial 
businesses, driving long, overlapping and unsafe routes. The private carters dispose of waste at 
a network of private transfer stations and recycling facilities in New York City and around the 
metropolitan region. 
 
This Administration, in close partnership with the City Council, advocates, and a wide range of 
stakeholders, has supported comprehensive reforms to the City’s commercial waste sector that 
seek to reign in unsafe practices, improve sustainability, and promote equity and fairness in the 
impacts and benefits of waste infrastructure and operations. I will briefly provide updates on 
those efforts before discussing the two bills that are the subject of today’s hearing.  
 
New York City’s Solid Waste Management Plan 
 
In 2006, the New York City Council adopted the City’s Solid Waste Management Plan. The 
SWMP is a fair, five-borough plan to sustainably manage New York City’s waste and offer 
flexibility and resiliency in the case of a natural disaster or other emergency. The SWMP 
mandates a shift from waste export by long-haul trucking to a system of marine and rail transfer 
stations spread throughout the five boroughs, and the SWMP’s implementation has provided 
NYC with new world class infrastructure. In total, the SWMP has reduced truck traffic associated 
with waste export by more than 60 million miles per year, including more than 5 million miles in 
and around New York City. It has slashed greenhouse gas emissions by 34,000 tons annually.  
 
After the closure of the Fresh Kills landfill, almost all of New York City’s waste was exported by 
long-haul truck from privately-operated transfer stations. Because of zoning and siting 
restrictions, these stations were, and still are today, predominately located in three 
neighborhoods in North Brooklyn, Southeast Queens, and the South Bronx. The SWMP is 
based on the concept of borough equity – that no borough should be responsible for managing 
another’s garbage – and it has steeply reduced truck traffic associated with waste collection and 
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hauling in these historically-overburdened minority communities. 
 
The SWMP called for the creation of eight rail or barge-based transfer stations along with the 
use of an existing energy-from-waste facility in New Jersey. Together, these nine facilities make 
up a resilient and reliable network for the export of waste. They also create new waste transfer 
capacity that has allowed the City to permanently reduce permitted capacity at transfer stations 
in historically overburdened communities. 
 
New York City’s Waste Equity Law 
 
In August 2018, City Council passed and Mayor de Blasio signed Local Law 152 (“LL152”), also 
known as the Waste Equity Law. LL152 requires the Department of Sanitation (“the 
Department” or “DSNY”) to reduce the permitted capacity of putrescible and non-putrescible 
transfer stations in four designated community districts.  
 
LL152 requires DSNY to reduce permitted capacity at transfer stations in Brooklyn Community 
District 1 by 50 percent and in Queens Community District 12 and Bronx Community Districts 1 
and 2 by 33 percent. The law also allows for certain limited exemptions to the reductions in 
permitted capacity for activities consistent with the City’s goals. It allows these limited 
exemptions for processing recyclables and organic waste and for diverting construction and 
demolition debris to beneficial use. The law also fully exempts facilities that export waste by rail 
and have on-site rail infrastructure. LL152 allows facilities to request a one-time permit increase 
of up to 20 percent to accommodate future growth in capacity for processing recyclables or 
organic waste.  
 
Beginning in October 2019 through September 2020, the Department implemented reductions 
in permitted capacity at 22 facilities that hold a total of 24 transfer station permits. In total, the 
reductions implemented pursuant to LL152 cut permitted capacity in the four designated districts 
by 10,137 tons per day.  
 
In addition, four putrescible transfer stations located in the designated districts opted to reserve 
a portion of their capacity exclusively to process source-separated organic waste for beneficial 
use. In total, these facilities reserved 377 tons per day of capacity to process source-separated 
organic waste, and this reserved capacity was excluded for the purposes of determining 
reductions in permitted capacity pursuant to LL152. 
 
Commercial Waste Zones 
 
In 2019, Mayor de Blasio signed Local Law 199, requiring the establishment of Commercial 
Waste Zones throughout New York City. The result of years of planning, analysis, and 
stakeholder engagement by DSNY, the Commercial Waste Zones (CWZ) program will create a 
safe and efficient commercial waste collection system that advances the City’s Green New Deal 
and zero waste goals while providing high-quality, low-cost service to NYC businesses. The 
new system is expected to nearly double the commercial diversion rate for recyclables and 
organic waste. 
 
The Department began the competitive procurement process by issuing Part 1 of a Request for 
Proposals (RFP) in November 2020. Part 1 of the RFP requested information from potential 
awardees to determine their ability to perform in accordance with specific business, character, 
financial and licensing requirements. The Department has completed its review of those Part 1 
responses and earlier this week released a list of 48 responsive proposers eligible to respond to 
Part 2. 
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The Department is also promulgating several rules to implement the program, including rules 
governing customer service, operations, health and safety, recycling and organics collection and 
other administrative requirements. In the next several weeks, the Department will publish final 
rules covering these areas and will issue Part 2 of the RFP to select the zone awardees. We 
expect the transition period to the new zone system to begin in 2022 and last up to two years.  
 
The FY 2022 Executive Budget provides $4.0 million in funding to support the implementation of 
Commercial Waste Zones. This includes funding for 28 new civilian staff in the coming year, as 
well as OTPS funds for implementation support, communications, outreach, and IT systems. We 
look forward to working with the City Council and all stakeholders as we advance this important 
program to bring much-needed reform to the City’s commercial waste sector. 
 
Intro 2349 
 
Intro 2349 would amend the City’s Waste Equity Law to create an exemption from permit 
capacity reductions for transfer stations that construct and utilize rail infrastructure on or near 
their property for the export transport of all or the majority of waste they receive. The exemption 
applies only to structures that are enclosed – having at least three walls and a roof – and 
provides up to four years for the construction of the rail infrastructure. 
 
The export of waste by rail instead of long-haul truck reduces truck traffic on local streets and 
regional highways, reduces greenhouse gas emissions and other air pollutant emissions 
(particularly when using modern freight rail locomotives with advanced emissions control 
technology), improves roadway safety, and limits quality of life impacts of truck parking and 
transport. DSNY supports the intent of this bill to incentivize additional rail export of waste in 
New York City.  
 
However, we acknowledge that the Waste Equity Law was a hard-won victory for environmental 
justice, and we understand that many stakeholders and advocates urge caution and express 
skepticism about potential changes that could roll back this important policy. We look forward to 
hearing from various stakeholders today, and we look forward to working with the Council, the 
industry, and advocates to balance our goal of reducing truck traffic with important protections 
for these historically overburdened communities.  
 
Preconsidered Intro. T2021-7669 
 
The Department of Sanitation echoes the concerns of the Business Integrity Commission 
regarding removing regulatory authority over providers of waste audit services. In particular, 
Local Law 199 of 2019 requires that awardees selected to provide services within a zone 
provide for third-party waste audits for their customers. These audits provide a neutral and 
objective measure of the amount of each waste stream that a customer generates, and they can 
provide important resources and information about waste reduction, reuse, recycling and 
composting strategies.  
 
Because these audits can be used as the basis for billing under the CWZ system, we believe it 
is important for the City to retain some level of regulatory authority over the individuals and 
organizations that conduct these audits. DSNY plans to publish draft rules in the coming weeks 
related to third-party waste audits, and we look forward to receiving additional feedback through 
the rulemaking process.  
 
Thank you for this opportunity to testify this morning, and I am now happy to answer your 
questions.  
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Good morning, Chair Reynoso and members of the City Council’s Sanitation and Solid 

Waste Management Committee.  My name is Noah Genel, and I am the Commissioner and Chair 

of the New York City Business Integrity Commission, or BIC.  Joining me today is BIC Executive 

Agency Counsel Emily Anderson.  And, as you know, we are also joined by members of the 

Department of Sanitation.  Thank you for inviting us to testify today regarding Preconsidered Bill 

T2021-7669, regarding waste audits, also known as waste stream surveys. 

Background on the Business Integrity Commission 
 

BIC is a law enforcement and regulatory agency, created by Local Law 42 of 1996 to 

regulate the commercial waste hauling – or trade waste – industry after decades of control by 

organized crime and rampant abuse of customers.  Soon after the agency’s creation (when it was 

named the Trade Waste Commission), BIC’s jurisdiction expanded to include oversight of the 

City’s public wholesale food markets and shipboard gambling.  And in November 2019, Local Law 

198 added safety in the trade waste industry to our jurisdiction. 

While BIC’s responsibilities have grown, our original mission to remove and keep 

organized crime and other forms of corruption out of the trade waste industry has not changed.  
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Corruption and bad actors still exist in the industry.  In the last five years alone, the Commission 

has denied 36 trade waste licenses or registrations.  At least 14 of those denials were for issues 

relating to corruption and other integrity issues, such as involvement with organized crime groups, 

serious criminal convictions of companies or principals, failing to disclose a principal of a trade 

waste company and providing false or misleading information to the Commission.  Most recently, 

in April 2021, BIC denied the license renewal of a company after its principal pled guilty in federal 

court to a bribery scheme directly related to the trade waste industry. 

BIC is open to discussions with this committee about the goals of the preconsidered bill 

and how to achieve them.  However, given the history of the trade waste industry and BIC’s 

ongoing efforts to fight corruption in it, BIC has serious concerns about the unintended 

consequences of removing waste stream surveys from BIC regulation. 

Waste Stream Surveys 
 

Under the Administrative Code, trade waste brokers must register with BIC.  The definition 

of “trade waste broker” includes anyone who, for a fee, conducts evaluations or analyses of the 

waste generated by commercial establishments in order to recommend cost efficient means of 

waste disposal or other changes in related business practices.  These analyses are commonly known 

as waste stream surveys.  The preconsidered bill would remove performing such surveys from the 

definition of trade waste broker.  As a result, entities that conduct these waste audits would be free 

from BIC regulation – and would not be required to pass a BIC background check.  This would 

open the door to corruption in the industry through individuals BIC has barred or who have never 

applied because they knew they would not pass muster.  Trade waste customers – local businesses, 

big and small – would be most at risk. 
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To appreciate why, it is important to understand how waste stream surveys work.  Most 

trade waste customers in New York City are billed using a “flat” or “average” rate, meaning that 

their waste is not actually measured each time the truck picks it up.  Under BIC’s rules, a customer 

has a right to demand a waste stream survey to measure the amount of waste that the customer 

leaves out for collection over a set period of time.   

Both trade waste brokers and licensees (the carters) perform waste stream surveys.  Those 

conducting the surveys have direct customer contact and base the customer’s fee on the results of 

the surveys.  If left to unscrupulous parties, waste stream surveys can be a major point of corruption 

through manipulation resulting in the customer paying a higher rate than it should.  For this reason, 

any employee or agent who performs a waste stream survey on behalf of a licensee must be 

fingerprinted and provide BIC with additional disclosure, including, but not limited to, the name 

and address of any business in which the person holds an equity or debt interest and a listing of all 

criminal convictions and all pending civil or criminal actions to which the person is a party.   

Brokers are permitted to perform waste stream surveys on behalf of trade waste customers 

in lieu of one conducted by a licensee and are required to represent the customer’s interests in 

doing so.  If a broker conducts a waste stream survey, the broker cannot request or accept money 

from anyone other than the customer unless the broker first discloses that to the customer.  But, 

there is always the risk that a particular broker will not act in the customers’ best interests, instead 

establishing illegal side arrangements with carters to falsely inflate the amount of waste being 

collected.  

Given the sensitive nature of waste audits, BIC’s ability to vet and regulate those 

performing such audits is crucial to BIC’s mission of protecting customers.  For example, after a 

recent BIC investigation, one trade waste broker paid a $70,000 fine for violations of BIC rules, 
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including those regarding waste stream surveys.  The violations included failing to maintain 

required records, improperly collecting fees from customers, and engaging in illegal practices 

involving contracts with customers.  

Permitting unregistered entities to perform waste stream surveys for trade waste customers 

potentially opens the door to the trade waste industry for organized crime figures and others who 

lack the good character, honesty and integrity required to operate in the industry.  Unvetted and 

unchecked, they would have direct customer contact and set waste collection fees; BIC would have 

no direct recourse in the event they engage in corrupt business practices.   

Conclusion 
 

BIC supports finding new ways to meet the city’s changing waste collection needs and 

appreciates that the Council seeks to expand the number of entities able to conduct waste stream 

surveys.  BIC is ready to work with this committee to find an appropriate solution that balances 

the trade waste industry’s need for close regulation while lowering the barriers to entry in this area 

of customer service.  We are now happy to answer your questions. 
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The Waste Equity Law was supposed to give tonnage relief to Environmental Justice 
communities that are overburdened with transfer stations, trucks, air pollution, and foul odors. 
Below are community flyers from the long struggle for Waste Equity, which transfer stations in 
CD12 asked you to forget about at the 6-24-21 hearing. 

 
 



 2 

 
Councilman Miller is telling his constituents that to end the terrible problems shown in the 
flyers above that they have to accept tonnage increases and vague plans from these same bad 
actors, and assent to bringing waste-by-rail into their M1 zone. He’s not telling them that 
waste-by-rail still requires lots of trucks and will bring new environmental, health, and quality 
of life problems into their community. What problems? 
 
Every year, New York City and Long Island route their waste-by-rail -- thousands and thousands 
of polluting open rail cars of C&D and the high-polluting 1970’s locomotives that haul them – 
through the same neighborhoods. This March 2021 map shows the routes and how C&D waste-
by-rail is expanding in Suffolk County -- driven by private companies supported by NYS 
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Department of Environmental Conservation permitting. The Yellow Zone represent the area 
within 1 km of rail facilities where pollution is worst. The table below the map shows the 
number of people who live with the worst pollution. 

 

 
 
NYC DOH’s Community Air studies have proven that it’s important to measure local pollution at 
street level because that’s where the people live. DOH found that that air pollution is usually 
higher at street level than it is on roofs, which is where NYS DEC monitoring equipment gathers 
data required by the federal government. The Deputy Commissioner of Sanitation made this 
point about harms from local pollution sources at the hearing. The statistics cited by Dominic 
Susino at the hearing encompass a much larger geographic area (he mentioned a 50 mile radius 
for his air quality improvement statistics at one meeting). So they’re benefits at a scale that 
doesn’t help people breathe easier in the neighborhood where the facility is located. Local 
people would breathe pollution emissions from diesel trucks, trains, and the facility with three 
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walls and roof. This is a slide from the Diesel Technology Forum that shows how much excess 
pollution the old locomotives that are hauling waste now emit at street level, compared to the 
Waste Management Locomotive: like replacing 29 older trucks or removing 30,000 cars for a 
year.    

  
The Diesel Technology Forum also found that repowering all the old freight locomotives within 
the MTA-LIRR system to the standard of Waste Management’s locomotive removed more NOx 
per dollar spent than any of these other projects.  

 



 5 

Councilman Miller has characterized people speaking up about problems this new waste-by-rail 
facility in CD12 would cause in CD-5 as being from “outside the community.” However, as the 
map and slides show, building any new waste-by-rail transfer station, extending freight rail in 
CD12 or anywhere else on Long Island the way this industry is operating today will increase 
health and quality of life problems up and down the rail line, including where my family lives by 
Fresh Pond Yard in CD5. My three grandchildren have grown up breathing air polluted by old 
diesel locomotives and waste blowoff. Since 2009, CURES has been advocating for the use of 
modern locomotives, containment technologies, and a plan for waste-by-rail, with successes 
that include a changeover to sealed containers for MSW and funding for Tier 4 locomotives. 
Our families are stakeholders in Int 2349. Please withdraw this legislation.  
 
Mary Arnold, Co-Founder Civics United for Railroad Environmental Solutions, 
civicsunited@gmail.com 
 



UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
BEFORE THE NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD 

DIVISION OF JUDGES 
NEW YORK BRANCH OFFICE 

ROYAL WASTE SERVICES, INC. 
Case Nos. 29-CA-217244 

and 	 29-CA-219866 
29-CA-220426 

GRACIANO CAMARENA, an Individual 

and 

TARQUINO DE JESUS RIVERA, an Individual • 

and 	 Case No. 29-CA-225646 

INTERNATIONAL UNION OF OPERATING 
ENGINEERS, LOCAL 15-15A, 15B, 15C, 15D 
and 15H, AFL-CIO 

ORDER DENYING RESPONDENT 
ROYAL WASTE SERVICES, INC.'S PETITION TO REVOKE 

GENERAL COUNSEL'S SUBPOENA DUCES TECUM 

The Consolidated Complaint and Notice of Hearing in this matter, issued on 
December 19, 2018, alleges that Royal Waste Services, Inc. (Royal or Respondent) 
violated Sections 8(a)(1), (3), and (4) of the Act. Specifically, the Consolidated 
Complaint alleges that Royal suspended Jose Toribio on March 26, 2018, and 
discharged him on April 2, 2018, in retaliation for his support for and activities on behalf 
of International Union of Operating Engineers, Local 15-15A, 15B, 15C, 15D, and 15H, 
AFL-CIO (the Union), in violation of Sections 8(a)(1) and (3). The Consolidated 
Complaint also alleges that Royal discharged Graciano Camarena on May 14, 2018, in 
retaliation for filing unfair labor practices charges against it, in violation of Sections 
8(a)(1) and (4). Finally, the Consolidated Complaint alleges that Royal violated Section 
8(a)(1) by interrogating employees regarding their Union support and activities, 
threatening employees with discharge in retaliation for their Union support and activities, 
and making statements to employees indicating that support for the Union was futile. 
Royal filed an Answer denying the Consolidated Complaint's material allegations. 

On or about January 15, 2019, Counsel for the General Counsel (General 
Counsel) served Royal with a Subpoena Duces Tecum, which Royal received on 
January 18, 2019. On January 22, 2019, Royal filed a Petition to Revoke, and on 
January 29, 2019, General Counsel filed an Opposition. 
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The standard for evaluating a petition to revoke a subpoena is well-established. 
Under Section 102.31(b) of the Board's Rules and Regulations, documents sought via 
subpoena should be produced so long as they relate to any matter in question, or can 
provide background information or lead to other potentially relevant evidence. See also 
Perdue Farms, 323 NLRB 345, 348 (1997), affd. in relevant part, 144 F.3d 830, 833-
834 (D.C. Cir. 1998) (information need only be "reasonably relevant). Under Rule 
26(b)(1) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, referred to by the Board in deciding 
such issues, information sought in a subpoena must only be "reasonably calculated to 
lead to the discovery of relevant evidence." See Brinks, Inc., 281 NLRB 468 (1986). 

I. General Objections 

Royal contends that twelve Paragraphs contained in the Attachment to the 
Subpoena are overbroad because they require the production of "all" of documents, 
referring to Section 11776 of the Board's Casehandling Manual. Petition to Revoke at 
p. 2. However, each such Paragraph specifically limits the documents to be produced 
to a distinct topic. As a result, these Paragraphs of the Subpoena will not be revoked 
on this basis. 

Royal also argues that Paragraph 1 of the Subpoena's Definitions and 
Instructions is overbroad in that it requires the production of "all documents that are in 
your possession, custody or control, as well as your,present or former agents, 
attorneys, accountants, advisors, investigators..." Petition to Revoke at p. 2. Pursuant 
to Section 102.31(a) of the Board's Rules and Regulations, Subpoenas issued at a 
party's request may require the production of any evidence in the served entity's 
"possession or under their control." This encompasses not only information in the 
entitys possession, but information Which it has the right to obtain. See Clear Channel 
Outdoor, Inc., 346 NLRB 696, 702, n. 10 (2006). Thus, to the extent that the Subpoena 
requires the production of information in the possession of "present or former agents, 
attorneys, accountants, advisors, investigators" which Royal is legally entitled to obtain, 
it is not overbroad or unduly burdensome. Information which Royal has no legal right to 
obtain and does not possess, by contrast, is necessarily beyond the Subpoena's scope 
and need not be produced. 

Royal further contends that the Subpoena is overbroad because it seeks the 
production of documents for the period August 1, 2016 to the present. In particular, 
Royal asserts that "information pertaining to a period of time more than six months after 
the instant charge was filed" — on May 4, 2018 — "is time barred and clearly irrelevant." 
Petition to Revoke at p. 2. However, it is well-settled that information regarding events 
occurring outside the six-month period for filing unfair labor practice charges set forth in 
Section 10(b) of the Act is not irrelevant on that basis alone. International Asen of 
Machinists v. NLRB, 362 U.S. 411, 416 (1960). General Counsel also states that the 
Subpoena seeks information beginning as of August 1, 2016 because that date is six 
months before Royal's employees filed a petition for a representation election, on 
February 7, 2017. Opposition at p. 6-7, Ex. 3. Finally, General Counsel notes, and the 
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Tally of Ballots attached to the Opposition as Exhibit 3 indicates, that the bargaining unit 
at issue here consists of approximately 15 employees; much of the information to be 
produced is limited to that restricted group. For all of the foregoing•reasons, 
Respondent's argument that the Subpoena should be revoked as overbroad on this 
basis is rejected. 

Royal also contends that the Subpoena is unduly burdensome and requests 
information that is unreasonably cumulative or duplicative. Petition to Revoke at p. 3. It 
is well-settled that a subpoena is not unduly burdensome merely because it requires the 
production of a large number of documents. Instead, the party seeking to revoke a 
subpoena on this basis must establish that production of the subpoenaed information 
"would seriously disrupt its normal business operations." NLRB v. Carolina Food 
Processors, 81 F.3d 507, 513-514 (4th  Cir. 1996); see also McAllister Towing & 
Transportation Co., 341 NLRB 394, 397 (2004), enfd. 156 Fed.Appx. 386 (2d Cir. 
2005). Bald assertions that compliance with the subpoena would substantially interfere 
with normal business operations are insufficient to warrant revocation. NLRB v. AJD, 
Inc., 2015 WL 7018351 (S.D.N.Y. 2015). Here, Royal merely asserts that compliance 
with the Subpoena would be unduly burdensome, without alleging or providing any 
information to support an argument that compliance would substantially impede its 
normal business operations. As a result, Royal's unsubstantiated contention that the 
Subpoena should be revoked on this basis is rejected. However, Royal will not be 
required to produce again information already provided to the Region during its 
investigation of the instant unfair labor practice charges. 

Finally, Royal asserts that the definition of the word "document" as used in the 
Subpoena is "ill-defined, vague, and calling for a legal definition, overbroad and calling 
for speculation." Petition to Revoke at p. 3-4. However, the definition of "document" set 
forth in Paragraph a of the Attachmenfs Definitions and Instructions section contains a 
comprehensive list of specific materials and media sought via the Subpoena. 
Furthermore, contrary to Royal's contention, both the Subpoena and General Counsel's 
Opposition make clear that the Subpoena does not require the production of documents 
subject to attorney client, attorney work-product, or other privileges. Attachment, 
Definitions and Instructions, Paragraphs m, n; Opposition at p. 12-14. If there are 
specific documents responsive to the Subpoena which Royal contends are subject to 
privilege, Royal is ordered to prepare a privilege log as described in Paragraph n of the 
Definitions and Instructions. See also Federal Rules of Civil Procedure 26(b)(5)(A), 
45(e)(2)(A); CNN America, Inc., 353 NLRB 891, 899 (2009); Nestle Dreyers Ice Cream 
Co., 2018 WL 549553 and Meadowlands Hospital Center, 2015 WL 6164938 
(unpublished Board Orders). 

11. Specific Objections 

Royal objects to Paragraphs 3, 4, 5, 6, and 7 of the Attachrnent to the Subpoena, 
which require the production of information pertaining to the terms and conditions Of 
employment, job duties, and authority of five specific individuals. Petition to Revoke at 
p. 2. Royal argues that these persons are "not parties to this matter," and claims that 
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Paragraphs 3 through 7 seek irrelevant material as a result. Id. The Consolidated 
Complaint alleges that these individuals — Angelo Realli (Owner), David Griffin (Owners 
Assistant), Lazaro Lopez and Eladio Cabrera (Mechanics Supervisors), and Henry 
Enesti (Parts Manager) — are supervisors within the meaning of Section 2(11) of the Act 
and agents of Royal within the meaning of Section 2(13). The Consolidated Complaint 
further alleges that Realli interrogated employees regarding their Union support and 
activities, and that Cabrera threatened employees with discharge and informed 
employees that support for the Union would be futile, in violation of Section 8(a)(1). 
General Counsel further states that Griffin, Lopez, and Ernesti were involved in Toribio 
and Camarena's terminations. Opposition at p. 5. In its Answer, Royal denied that 
Realli, Griffin, Lopez, Cabrera, and Enesti were statutory supervisors or agents, and 
denied all allegations regarding statements violating Section 8(a)(1). As a result, 
information regarding Realli, Griffin, Lopez, Cabrera, and Enesti's terms and conditions 
of employment, job duties, and authority is relevant to the Consolidated Complaint's 
allegations, and Royal's Petition to Revoke these Paragraphs is denied. 

Royal objects to Paragraph 18 of the Attachment to the Subpoena, which seeks 
documents pertaining to disciplinary action imposed upon employees at Royal's facility 
for insubordination, failure to perform duties and follow instructions, safety violations, 
failed inspections, and work assignment protocol. Royal contends that this Paragraph 
seeks irrelevant information, arguing that because the drivers and helpers it employs 
are represented by International Brotherhood of Teamsters Local 813, more favorable 
treatment of such employees would not establish anti-union animus. However, the 
Attachment to the Subpoena defines "employees" as "all full-time and regular part-time 
welders, mechanics, electricians, mechanic's helpers, and partsmen," and not the 
drivers and helpers referred to by Royal in its Petition to Revoke. Petition to Revoke at 
p. 3; Subpoena Attachment, Definitions and Instructions, at Paragraph e. General 
Counsel reiterates this position at page 9 of her Opposition. Furthermore, it is well-
settled that evidence tending to establish that employees committing offenses similar to 
or more serious than those purportedly committed by the alleged discriminatees is 
relevant to determining whether a Respondent's purportedly legitimate reasons for 
disciplinary action are in fact pretextual. See, e.g., Lucky Cab Co., 360 NLRB 271, 274 
(2014), citing Windsor Convalescent Center, 351 NLRB 975, 983 (2007), enfd. in 
relevant part 570 F.3d 354 (D.C. Cir. 2009). Royal's Petition to Revoke Paragraph 18 is 
therefore denied. 

For all of the foregoing reasons, Royal's Petition to Revoke General Counsel's 
Subpoena Duces Tecum is denied. 

Dated:New York, New York 
January 30, 2019 
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American Recycling Mgmt. LLC

172-33 Douglas Ave

Jamaica, NY, 11433

American Recycling Mgmt. LLC is a waste transfer station located 172-33 Douglas Ave,

Jamaica, NY. It is our mission to reduce the carbon foot print of our community, provide

economic stability for our neighborhood, and service the New York City area for

generations to come. The property sits adjacent to the Long Island Rail Road main line

between Jamaica Station and the Hillside Shops. American is interested in utilizing rail

transportation for the purposes of moving outbound municipal solid waste, as well as

construction and demolition material by rail.

American Recycling anticipates that this project would transfer 1,000 tons of waste

products per day from Trucks (using the local, and regional, street and highway system)

to a Waste by Rail application. The transfer of product from truck to rail would remove

46 round-trip truck trips from the area and the highways and bridges connecting Long

Island to the remainder of the tri-state region. This would effectively eliminate 14,352

truck trips per year, totaling 10,319,088 million miles per year.

The project involves demolition of several existing structures on site to allow for a new

state of the art transfer facility, construction of that state of the art facility, grading and

construction of appropriate retaining walls and construction of approximately 1,600 feet

of railroad track. The new structures will be fitted with solar power as part of our

community solar project. Certain walls will be faced with living green walls that will

provide a natural air-filtration system. The entire facility will utilize materials that lower

the facility’s carbon footprint. There are three key components to the transformation of

this facility:

 Enhanced recycling protocols.

 Use of rail to transport the waste streams to end use facilities.

 Education, cooperation and coordination with the local community.

The containerized process will allow more densely packed material to be loaded,

increasing the efficiency of the entire logistics chain. The more robust recycling

component will allow more of the sorted material to be segregated and directed to

recycling streams rather than being comingled in the waste stream and use of rail as

opposed to truck for outbound transportation will significantly reduce truck traffic on

area, regional and statewide roadways.



The resulting rail traffic would be incorporated into existing trains on both NYA and the

connecting Class 1 railroads (CSX, NS or CPR). There would be significant public and

environmental benefits realized in several critical areas:

 Reduction of 2,579,772 gallons of diesel fuel consumed annually.

 Reduced Emissions

o 23,769 tons less of Carbon produced annually.

o 75.7 tons less of NOx produced annually.

o 1.9 tons less of Particulate Matter produced annually.

 Reduced Highway Congestion

o 10,319,088 truck miles removed from New York State roadways annually.

o An increase in Public Safety.

o Reduced wear and tear on roadways and bridges.

Additionally, this project would allow American Recycling to institute procedures that

will increase recycling on the ongoing waste stream while making the facility more

efficient and protecting well-paying jobs. This includes 35 direct jobs and 400 well-

paying indirect jobs related to the facility. The 35 direct jobs only contemplate the men

and women directly employed by American. The four hundred indirect jobs include such

skilled labor positions as truck drivers, maintenance personnel, environmental service

specialists, engineering personnel and other technicians, and is exclusive of other indirect

jobs such as restaurants, retail and other service providers. American Recycling and

Regal Recycling have focused on hiring from the local community. The company’s intent

on partnering with the council member’s office and the local community board to further

staff the facility.

At this location there are multiple Long Island Rail Road (LIRR) main tracks as well as

switching leads to the shops within the adjacent LIRR property. The right-of way is

owned by the LIRR and the freight operation is managed by New York and Atlantic

Railway (NYA). American Recycling has met with representatives from LIRR and NYA

to discuss the feasibility of the rail movement of waste from this location, and all parties

have endorsed this plan. As a result of discussions with the LIRR and NYA, American

Recycling has developed conceptual plans to build approximately 1,600 feet of track on

American Recycling’s property (and connecting tracks on LIRR/NYA property) to

support the movement of waste products by rail.

Representatives from CupriDyne Clean are working with the projects architects and

engineers to integrate a ground-breaking misting system that is 100% safe, gentle and

scientifically-proven Transfer Station Odor Eliminator. The companies are also



integrating state-of-the-art misting systems and air handling systems designed to reduce

dust and increase air quality.

The project is expected to be completed in under 48 months and have cost of $30 million

including all needed equipment. The companies anticipate a strong push forward once

initial approvals are given from the bank, DEC, DOS, and building departments.

American Recycling Mgmt. is looking for the restoration of its previously permitted

capacity to help secure the loans needed to fund such an operation. Even with the restored

capacity the company has secured certain public grants to assist in the development of

this rail served facility and has already submitted a Consolidated Funding Application

(CFA) to the State of New York. The DOT recognizes the vast benefits of moving waste-

by-rail and has listed several grants to help accelerate the transport of MSW to rail

instead of on our roadways.



 
 
Dear Members of the Committee on Sanitation and Solid Waste Management, 
 
My name is Michael Scotland and I’m the President of Addisleigh Park Civic Organization, which serves 
its members and neighbors within Addisleigh Park a historic district within St. Albans. I’d like to thank 
this committee for the opportunity to testify on this proposed legislation today.  
 
As a Southeast Queens resident that lives near these waste facilities, I urge this committee to oppose 
the proposed amendment that would allow these facilities to increase their permitted waste capacity 
for export by rail for the following reasons: 
 
Appropriateness: 
It should be top of mind that this waste transfer station, which is intended to operate only in M-3 zones, 
is operating in an M-1 zone.  The faculties are directly across the street from residents and an active 
park with a running track, a field, handball and basketball courts.  The intent of the M-1 zoning is to 
allow light manufacturing in and around residential homes. This is not the case here and Southeast 
Queens residents continue to be taken advantage of even when the correct zoning is in place.  Allowing 
these facilities to move forward with waste by rail undermines the Waste Equity Law’s environmental 
justice mandate and assists these waste transfer stations in their expansion process. District 12 is one 
of the four overburdened communities of color that the Waste Equity Law is meant to protect from 
additional waste handling burdens. I believe this committee is charged with protecting and doing the 
right thing in serving the tax payers and residents of this fair community and city. I believe your 
approval of the proposed expansion of this waste transfer station will be in direct opposition of this 
charge. 

Impact to Health and Quality of Life: 
Just to level set everyone, the two facilities have been operating without being totally enclosed for 
many years now. As a result, the smell from these facilities naturally escapes with the odor travelling 
for blocks in all directions. I personally pass this facility in my travels during the week and can say it is 
a very unpleasant and an extremely disturbing. This experience, along with complaints from members 
of my civic, has driven me to take the time to speak to the neighbors and park goers across from the 
facility to get their thoughts. Many of them, if not all, say that the smell is horrible, as well as the noise 
coming from the facility.  They also say it’s impossible to keep their window open because of the smell.  
This is not the quality of life we want for Southeast Queens, for New Yorkers nor for anyone. An 
increase in waste continues to disregard, ignore and minimize the rights of these neighbors and areas 
partners have to decent quality of life. Which begs the ultimate question: why do you feel an increase 
in pollution is acceptable in neighborhoods of color? 

Community Engagement and Partnership: 
To date is there has been inadequate community outreach and engagement around this proposal. The 
only time there has been a public meeting to solicit feedback from the community was on April 15, 
2021 where residents were only made aware of this public meeting the day before the meeting took 
place. Public outreach and engagement mean community members should have been made aware of 
this days in advance with materials made available to review beforehand.  It’s interesting that none of 
the best practices mentioned in EPA guidelines (Waste Transfer Stations: Involved Citizens Make the 
Difference, January 2001 ; Waste Transfer Stations: A Manual for Decision-Making) around community 
engagement and oversight are being used by these operators. During the “public meeting” on April 15, 
2021, questions could only be submitted through the Zoom Q&A function and there were no 
opportunities to share feedback or follow up with questions. Many of the questions submitted in the 
Zoom were not answered leaving community members in limbo. 
 
Thank you for your consideration and we hope you do not vote to allow this expansion to take place. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
Michael Scotland 
President 
Addisleigh Park Civic Organization 

https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2016-03/documents/wtsguide.pdf
https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2016-03/documents/wtsguide.pdf
https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2016-03/documents/r02002.pdf
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Int 2349 is being driven by private companies who don’t want to give up tonnage through the 
Waste Equity Law -- as promised to Environmental Justice Communities -- and don’t qualify for 
hard-fought exceptions. As the Sanitation Committee grapples with this special interest 
pleading, I ask you to give weight to Eric Goldstein’s remarks about holding more hearings 
focused on getting to Zero Waste. Recently the Queens Solid Waste Advisory Board (QSWAB) 
was reconstituted by Queens Borough President Donovan Richards. The State of Waste in 
Queens report was published recently by the QSWAB Organizing Committee. 
https://queensswab.nyc/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/State-of-Waste-in-Queens-
Report_42921.pdf Ongoing work to engage Queens in diverting waste from landfills at scale, 
and problems and recommendations about waste transfer stations in CD12 and waste-by-rail 
problems are in the report. Please read it. 
 
The Environmental Justice organization Brookhaven Landfill Action and Remediation Group has 
turned a spotlight on the human consequences of environmental racism, lack of regional waste 
planning, failure to divert waste from landfills at scale, and expansion of waste-by-rail export 
driven by private companies, as Int 2349 is. The Environmental Justice organization by the 
Brookhaven landfill has made connections with residents in a distant Ohio community by a 
Tunnel Hill Partners/WIN Waste Innovations landfill where NYS C&D waste is dumped, with 
more tonnage planned. 
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Credit: Amanda Kaminsky, Building Product Ecosystems LLC 
 
Residents by landfills suffer health and quality of life problems, including from toxic hydrogen 
sulfide gas due to decomposing gypsum in construction debris that NYS should be recycling into 
new drywall. The photo below shows NYC regional C&D spilled out of NYAR-Coastal’s open rail 
cars in Ohio. This happened when a CSX train hauling 109 loaded waste cars to the landfill -- by 
where Mallie Grim teaches – derailed. The DEC and the industry say the public should accept 
this waste export because waste-by-rail gets trucks off the road. 
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NYAR-Coastal’s annual tonnage reports to DEC feature the MTA as the owner of this filthy 
business.  

 
 
The waste export industry likes to talk about how every rail car gets four trucks off the road 
without mentioning needless community burdens from waste-by-rail pollution in communities 
all along the rail line, or that all waste is still delivered to waste-by-rail transfer stations and 
transload facilities by truck. Int 2349 waters even that down, by only requiring 51% rail.  
 
Please withdraw Int 2349. Thank you. 
 
Mary Arnold, Co-Founder Civics United for Railroad Environmental Solutions, 
civicsunited@gmail.com 
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Good morning. My name is Rebecca Bratspies, I am a professor at CUNY School of Law where I 
run the Center for Urban Environmental Reform (CUER) and I am offering testimony in that 
capacity.  I am also an appointed member of the NYC Environmental Justice Advisory Committee, 
and I sit on EPA’s Children’s Health Protection Advisory Committee. My testimony today is based 
on CUER’s work with the Jamaica residents who recruited our assistance to combat the odor, 
noise, and dust nuisances created by the waste transfer stations in their neighborhood.  We are 
therefore stunned that this Committee is entertaining Int. 2349 which would gut Local Law 152—
the Waste Equity Bill—vis-à-vis this community. In the process it would inflict new, additional 
noise, odor, and dust burdens on this already overburdened community. I urge this committee to 
make sure that all the City’s waste handling laws promote rather than undermine waste equity. 

I want to take the opportunity to remind the committee that, pursuant to Local Laws 60 and 64 of 
2017—the Environmental Justice Laws—New York City recently released its map of 
environmental justice neighborhoods. CUER urges this committee to explicitly prioritize reducing 
environmental burdens on the City’s newly delineated environmental justice communities, 
including the part of Jamaica, Queens that the waste transfer stations benefitted by this bill are 
located.  

I also want to remind this committee that environmental justice requires not only a fair distribution 
of environmental burdens and benefits across the City, but also that affected communities have the 
opportunity to participate meaningfully in the public decision-making processes by which 
environmental choices are made. This legislation achieves neither goal. Instead, this bill adds 
significant new environmental burdens to an overburdened community and does so with nothing 
resembling meaningful notice and consultation.   

New York City has long recognized that “meaningful,” participation must occur at a time that 
allows community concerns to be considered in environmental decision-making and must involve 
the opportunity for affected community members to contribute information, ask questions, and 
share their perspective with decision-makers. Communication that flows only one-way—from 
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decision-makers to communities, informing them about decisions already made elsewhere, based 
on uncommunicated priorities—does not amount to “meaningful participation.”  

Processes that give the veneer of public participation without actually allowing any opportunity 
for affected individuals to share their concerns or influence decisions undermine public trust in 
government and impoverish public discourse. 

With that critical sense of the role that meaningful public participation plays in legitimating public 
decision-making, I would like to tell you a story.  

CUER has spent the past year collaborating with community groups in Jamaica, Queens—a 
designated environmental justice community under both state and local law. At the request of 
community members, CUER has been assisting them gather information with regard to the laws 
and regulations governing the waste transfer stations in their neighborhood. These waste transfer 
stations are inappropriately located in an M-1 zone, directly adjacent to a public park and a 
residential neighborhood. This neighborhood was one of the four overburdened communities of 
color that the 2018 Waste Equity Law was specifically intended to protect from the excessive 
environmental burdens associated with waste handling. And I just want to respond to Deputy 
Commissioner Anderson—this is not a fully enclosed facility. It has three walls and a roof—the 
fourth wall is missing, allowing dust, noise, runoff and odor to overwhelm the community. 
Subsection b of this Introduction would legitimize an operation that creates an unreasonable 
nuisance for the community.  

Worse, this introduction is the culmination of an ongoing process that was conducted with no 
community involvement whatsoever. Although elected officials were apparently writing letters of 
support for this expansion proposal as soon as the waste equity law passed in 2018, the affected 
community learned about it for the first time on April 14, 2021—exactly one day before a “so-
called public meeting” on the proposal on April 15, 2021. The meeting is a “so-called public 
meeting” because although there was a poster announcing this meeting, it was not actually posted 
anywhere in the community—either physically or virtually. The meeting was not included in any 
newsletter, including CM Miller’s weekly email that came out on April 9th, nor was it posted to on 
the community board website. The poster announcing this meeting made its way to Facebook only 
the afternoon before the meeting.  The community owes its knowledge of that April 14, 2021 so-
called meeting to this committee, which seems to have been the only recipient of the poster and 
promptly shared it with NYC-EJA. 

During the period between Fall 2018 to the present, there was no public outreach, no stakeholder 
consultation, no opportunity for “meaningful involvement” in this momentous decision that will 
impose significant negative impacts on one of the communities the Waste Equity Law was 
designed to benefit. It will do so by reversing the protections that law crafted to protect this 
overburdened and vulnerable community.    

The April 15, 2021 meeting similarly offered no such opportunities. This meeting was a Zoom 
webinar, which merely informed those present about the project, solicited no suggestions, 
feedback, or ideas.  
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There was no opportunity for any form of direct public participation. The presenters were 
identified by first name only, and provided no contact information, and no opportunity for follow-
up. Questions could be submitted only through the Zoom Q&A function, and the few questions 
that were posed to the presenters were paraphrased, rather than read aloud.  

To my certain knowledge multiple substantive questions were neither posed nor answered. 
Requests for the video of this recorded meeting, the attendee list, and the questions submitted by 
attendees remain unanswered. I received a response that the video and other relevant data was 
wholly in the custody of the waste transfer station, not Councilmember Miller, who called the 
meeting. The waste transfer station has not responded to emails or phone calls requesting this 
information. This kind of disregard of the community is not only a breach of the Open Meetings 
Laws, it is also yet another environmental injustice inflicted on this community by those who claim 
to be protecting the community’s interests!   

This is not public participation. This is not environmental justice.   

I urge you to keep environmental justice at the center of your work. That means keeping 
meaningful community participation at the center of your work. This kind of a change needs robust 
public process. This community deserves to be consulted, to be listened to, to have a genuine 
opportunity to participate in this momentous decision. We urge you to not take any actions on 
Intro. 2349 until that consultation occurs. 

Environmental justice is social justice, is economic justice, is racial justice.  It only exists when 
affected communities have genuine opportunities for meaningful participation that brings those 
most affected into the decision-making process and takes their concerns and priorities seriously.   

Thank you for your time and attention.  Please direct any questions or follow-up to Prof. Rebecca 
Bratspies at bratspies@law.cuny.edu.  

 
Sincerely,  
 
 
_________________ 
Rebecca Bratspies  
Director, CUNY Center for Urban Environmental Reform 
CUNY School of Law 
2 Court Square 
Long Island City, NY 11101 
718-340-4505  
 
About the CUNY Center for Urban Environmental Reform (CUER)  
 
CUER is a justice initiative at CUNY School of Law dedicated to developing new avenues of 
participation and new opportunities for citizen empowerment in environmental decision-making. 
Drawing from the emerging human rights norms of participation, access to information, 
transparency and intergenerational equity, CUER seeks to revitalize participatory environmental 
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decision-making to help community members, scholars and policymakers communicate in a way 
that leads to better, more sustainable decision-making. In doing so, the Center facilitates important 
social conversations about the acceptability of environmental risks and the need for their equitable 
distribution.  
 
Many of the standard techniques of environmental decision-making reduce society's ability to 
include issues of distributive justice and overall fairness in the decision. As a result, environmental 
policies have been repeatedly accused of perpetuating environmental injustice — with poor and 
minority communities consistently allocated a larger share of environmental bads while having 
access to fewer environmental goods. CUER's emphasis on environmental citizenship is an attempt 
to surface these justice dynamics that are too often ignored. Framing environmental choices as 
questions of fundamental equality in a political community, rather than as private choices about 
property, helps emphasize the role that power, access to information, and inequality play in shaping 
environmental outcomes. 



American Recycling Mgmt. 

& Regal Recycling

Waste-to-Rail Project
Chris Hein & Mike Reali



Current Facility



New Facility



Community Solar Project

American Recycling

Regal Recycling



Community Solar Project

 Annually the combined community solar projects will produce 1.4 
Million kWhs of clean renewable energy.

 The combined CO2 offset if greater than 585,000 lbs. annually.

 The projects will be capable of servicing both facilities and one 
additional commercial subscriber and 190 households in Queens every 
year for the next 25 years. 



Community Solar Project

Phase V – 750 kWdc

American Recycling

1-2 Commercial Subscribers

125 Homes Annually

310 kWdc

205 kWdc

235 kWdc



Community Solar Project

Regal Recycling - 390 kWdc 

1 Commercial Subscribers

65 Homes Annually



Regal Recycling – Live Green Wall



Classroom & Community Education 



3-D View of Completed Project



Cost Benefit Analysis

Current Activity

 46 Trucks per day Round Trip from 

Jamaica, NY – Waterloo, NY

 719 Highway Miles per day / Truck

 10,319,088 Annual Highway Miles

 1,984,440 Gallons of Diesel / Year

 21,829 Tons of CO2 (Carbon Dioxide)

 200.1 Tons of  NOx (Nitric Oxide)

 4.8 Tons of PM (Particulate Matter)

Proposed Activity

 10 Rail Cars per Day  

 650 Rail Miles per Round Trip 

 202,800 Annual Rail Miles

 418,985 Gallons of Diesel / Year

 4,609 Tons of CO2 (Carbon Dioxide)

 Additional 193 Ton Reduction w/ solar project

 124.4 Tons of  NOx (Nitric Oxide)

 2.9 Tons of PM (Particulate Matter)



Continued Commitment to Going Green:

RECs – Wind, Solar & Fuel Cell Power

American Recycling has Contracted with EDF Energy to 

Purchase Renewable Energy for 2021



Community Programming and Sponsorship 

(G.R.A.C.E.)

Greater Royal and American Alliance for Community Empowerment

 Sole Patron of the Jamaica Bulldogs (20 years)

 Patron of KOSS – Keeping our Streets Safe (10 Years)

 Sponsor of the 103rd and 113th Precinct Community Council (15 Years)

 Sponsor of Community Board #12 Events – (20 Years)

 Sponsor of Holiday Giveaways including food, clothing, school supplies and toys (5 Years)

 Sponsor of Det. Keith Williams Park Cleanups (20 Years)

 York College Scholarship, Internships, and Environmental Initiatives (5 Years)

 Greater Bethel LDC Sponsorship (10 Years)

 Thanksgiving Turkey Giveaways (20 Years)

 Covid-19 Food Relief, transportation and distribution to churches, senior housing and 

NYCHA residents – Started April 2020 and currently ongoing



Letters of Support



Letters of Support



Letters of Support



Letters of Support

Wells Fargo Community Lending and Investment New Market Tax Credit Group 1750 H Street NW, Suite 200 
Washington, DC 20006 

This expression of proposed terms is for discussion purposes only and should not be construed as 
a lending or investment commitment. A commitment can only be made after completion of our 
underwriting process, review and approval of all third party reports and completion of 
documentation acceptable to Wells Fargo. 

American Recycling 

Queens, NY 

Summary of Proposed New Market Tax Credit Investment 

December 9, 2019 

Wells Fargo is pleased to provide the following Letter of Interest to participate in the New 
Market Tax Credit financing of the proposed American Recycling project. 

Project Description: The proposed New Market Tax Credit (NMTC) investment will 
provide funding to American Recycling for the upgrade and expansion of a waste transfer 
facility in the Jamaica section of Queens, NY. Specifically, the facility will add green features, 
including a rail line connection that will reduce truck traffic in the surrounding neighborhood by 
as much as 40%. Reducing both traffic congestion and the accompanying smell and air 
pollution. 

The project will add or retain over 100 jobs in a designated Opportunity Zone and will offer job 
opportunities to convicts on parole through a prison work release program. 

Investor: Wells Fargo Community Investment Holdings, LLC (“Investor”) 

Price Per Credit: Contemplated pricing per New Markets Tax Credit (“NMTC”) of $0.83 per 
$1.00 using a partnership structure for the proposed Sub-CDE(s). 

CDE NYC Neighborhood Capital Corp. (CDE owned by New York City Economic 
Development Corp.) or another TBD CDE. 

Third Party 

CDE Fees: TBD 

Allocation Size: Contemplated NMTC allocation of up to $15 million. 

CDE Terms: CDE and Investor will coordinate on loan and financial servicing.



To: Chairman Reynoso, Council Member Daneek Miller and the panel:

I am submitting this testimony as a concerned citizen and lifelong community member of
Queens. I do not agree with the Local law in question that would increase waste
capacity. First and foremost, CB 12 is already overburdened with environmental
hazards due to the proximity of the transfer stations to homes. This legislation is two
parts - increase waste capacity to a facility promising the greenwashed idea of waste by
rail- which is not a perfectly safe system even by today’s standards. Also- the
construction it proposes to create a waste by rail facility is not the environmentally
friendly solution it promises- it would actually permanently create a future of more
environmental hazards as such continuation of a waste facility would obviously promote
greater waste input to the neighborhood for future generations. Particularly in CB 12,
the community board didnt have a say or be able to vote. The waste transfer stations
are in inappropriate locations in an M1 zone- across from a park and homes. An M1
zone is supposed to be for light manufacturing- Intro 2439 would create more
environmental hazards with the construction of the waste by rail mode. By law, the
community should rally behind removing this transfer station altogether as it doesn’t
belong in the M1 zone. More trucks bringing the waste introduces increased pollution
and Particulate matter into the air- this is a neighborhood which was ravaged by the
coronavirus pandemic. As evident in the patients I cared for as an ICU nurse- mainly
people of color were affected by the virus- with chronic histories such as Asthma,
Diabetes, Hypertension, Chronic Kidney disease they were at higher risk. And now a
year later there is legislation looking to introduce more environmental toxins on the
same frontline community? Where is the justice? As the legislation stands, I don’t
believe it is in the best interest of the frontline community and only serves to benefit the
pockets of the carting companies & transfer station owners-all of whom I see who had
given testimony are people of privelege. Please don’t make it easy for them. NYC has
a goal of zero waste this is the only path moving forward to justice.
Thank you.
Ruth Esa, BSN, RN, HNB-BC, CCRN
Resident of Community Board 13



Committee on Sanitation

June 24, 2021

Improve Access to Employment Opportunities in the

Sustainable Materials Management Sector

Good morning, my name is Meredith Danberg-Ficarelli. I am the Director of Common Ground
Compost LLC, a member of the Save Our Compost Coalition, a member of the Manhattan Solid
Waste Advisory Board, and a Board Member of the US Composting Council. Through my work,
I build zero waste programs, advocate for the expansion of access to waste reduction services,
and center education on materials literacy, the power of individual behavioral change, and the
recognition that all people must demand structural change in order to build a livable and just
future for all.

I am here today to urge you to improve access to employment opportunities in the waste sector,
allowing more New Yorkers to play an active role in mitigating climate catastrophe. New
Yorkers need green jobs that help us curb emissions, reduce waste exports, produce essential soil
amendments, and provide new sources of non-toxic renewable energy. One immediate way to
support job creation of this kind is to pass legislation that decouples waste auditing from waste
brokering. A certification course for auditors must be created, data reported to a central database,
pricing mechanisms should be standardized, and businesses guided to reduce waste and recycle
more. Waste work is hard work, and with greater transparency lots can be streamlined.

Waste brokering can involve the management of waste infrastructure, contracts, and bidding
processes, while waste auditing is the physical process of weighing bags of waste to demonstrate
waste generation, and identifying contamination to snapshot recycling behavior. Generally a
“survey” is a visual assessment of waste, which can also include weighing, while an “audit” is a
more in-depth assessment that involves weighing all bags, sorting material, and detailing
contamination in different waste streams. (If you can see my zoom photo, that’s me at a waste
audit in a Manhattan office building last night.) Currently, in order to audit the waste generated
by a business, an individual or company must be registered by the Business Integrity
Commission as a Trade Waste Broker, a process that requires extensive paperwork and a $5,000
application fee.

Today, NYC businesses pay for waste to be collected, but the system lacks transparency and
businesses are frequently confused about what exactly they are paying for. Waste bills can be
based on frequency of collection of different streams, estimated weight of waste, volume or size
of waste containers, real estate square footage, number of bags of waste, and other variables.



Many business owners have no idea how much waste they generate or if they are paying a fair
price for service.

Under the current system is it normal for haulers and waste brokers to estimate or survey waste
and then set a monthly hauling price, leaving the business at the whim of those results which are
gathered in a non-standard manner, not always shared with the business, and no centralized
database exists. We are missing a major opportunity to benchmark, to bring transparency to this
sector, and to empower businesses to better understand their waste.

Commercial Waste Zoning will encourage more businesses to assess their waste streams through
the services of third party auditors, who would impartially measure waste, share data with the
City, the hauler, and the business, and then the hauler and the business would directly set the
pricing for waste collection services. The auditors would not need to be involved in price setting
at all. NYC can begin to standardize both the metrics that are used to bill businesses for waste
collection services, and the procedures that are followed to collect and report this data.

Benchmarking behavior through waste surveys and auditing is an essential building block to the
circular economy: until individuals and businesses understand their waste behavior, they may not
recognize the opportunities that exist to save money by reducing waste, and to share and donate
valuable materials, repair items, and divert as much as possible from landfills and incinerators
through recycling, composting, and other value recovery mechanisms.

To support a new and transparent commercial waste landscape, a waste auditing certification
course must be created that will train independent contractors and businesses to become certified
third party waste auditors, while taking all necessary precautions to keep organized crime out of
the waste industry. Best practices in waste surveys and auditing should include measuring piles
of waste (length, width, and height), photographing waste as it is set at the curb and/or in
containers, counting bags of all streams wherever possible, weighing bags, and identifying
contamination, among other metrics. With these standardized metrics, DSNY can develop
standard assumptions about waste streams across different business types and sizes, and can even
better oversee and enforce fair pricing.

In addition to learning best practice waste survey and audit procedures and reporting
requirements, this certification course can educate about zero waste, and offer these auditors a
framework through which they can provide a wide array of waste reduction and behavioral
change recommendations to businesses. DSNY has an opportunity to create an onramp to the
circular economy for New Yorkers through this certification program.

To meet our citywide Zero Waste goals we need all hands on deck. The more certified waste
auditors in our communities, the more opportunities there will be for businesses to understand
their waste services and what steps they must take to reduce waste. Developing a Waste Auditor
Certification Program would not only facilitate green jobs creation and foster a new era of
inter-agency collaboration for climate justice, it would increase equity and accessibility in the
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waste sector, give us a clearer picture of the state of waste in our city, and offer an innovative
opportunity to enter our city’s waste sector.

Thank you

Meredith Danberg-Ficarelli

Common Ground Compost LLC
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Dear Members of the Committee on Sanitation and Solid Waste Management,

My name is Danielle Hammer and I would like to thank this committee for the opportunity to
testify on this proposed legislation today. I am a public school teacher within the New York City
Department of Education at a school in District 13. Many of my students reside in close
proximity to the two waste transfer facilities in District 12, American/Regal Recycling, to whom
the proposed legislation is seeking to grant an increase in putrescible waste based on their intent
to move to a waste by rail system. I write to advocate for the withdrawal of this legislation.

The Waste Equity Law (Local Law 152) states that if a waste transfer station exports their waste
by rail then they are exempt from reducing their waste tonnage capacity. However, Local Law
152 does not grant a waiver based on intent but rather on the facility's existing mode of
operation. As a teacher and advocate for children who live and play near these waste
facilities, I urge this committee to oppose the proposed amendment that would allow these
facilities to increase their permitted waste capacity for export by rail.

My students reside within Environmental Justice Communities that were supposed to see
tonnage reductions from the Waste Equity Law, not heavier industrialization and more tonnage.
These waste transfer stations are meant to operate in M3 zoned heavy industrial use areas yet
they are inappropriately located in an M-1 zone, directly adjacent to a public park where many
children - including some of my students - play sports, and a residential neighborhood where
many live. M1 zones are designed to accommodate light manufacturing that can easily coexist
with residential homes. Residents who live near the two unenclosed waste transfer stations
experience foul odors, diesel exhaust, waste blowoff, leachate, constant noise, and disruption
from these facilities and the trucks that traverse them on a daily basis. During the summer, many
residents in the neighborhood can’t open their windows due to the odors coming from the
facilities. Some of my students have reported an inability to play outdoors on warm days due to
the intolerable stench. Others have been able to move out of the neighborhood for this reason.

As a teacher with over 15 years experience, I can attest that I have never worked with a
population of children that have exhibited higher rates of asthma than this one. In our school, it is
the norm for students to carry inhalers with them and “Code Blue” emergencies in response to
asthma attacks are regular, weekly occurrences. Sadly, many of my students are not aware of the
inequities that created these realities for them as these conditions have become a normalized part
of their daily life. They deserve better. These waste transfer stations are legally obligated to
comply with permit restrictions crafted to prevent them from negatively impacting the health and
welfare of those living adjacent to the facility.

Between Fall 2018 to the present, there has been no meaningful attempt to directly involve
community members in the decision making process of the proposed expansion. The only time



there has been a public meeting to solicit feedback from the community was on April 15, 2021 -
residents were made aware of this public meeting only a day prior to the meeting taking place.
Public participation means that community members should have been made aware of this event
far longer in advance. There was no effort to distribute the meeting information to the
neighboring community physically and virtually. During the so-called public meeting, questions
could only be submitted through the Zoom Q&A function and there were no opportunities to
share feedback or follow up with questions. This is not how we achieve environmental justice.

Environmental justice means those most affected by environmental issues are at the forefront of
the decision-making process. Allowing these facilities to move forward with waste by rail
undermines the Waste Equity Law’s environmental justice mandate and assists these waste
transfer stations in their expansion process. District 12 is one of the four overburdened
communities of color that the Waste Equity Law is meant to protect from additional waste
handling burdens. Allowing more waste into an environmental justice neighborhood will not
advance the city’s goal of Zero Waste. It is unjust to allow these facilities to bring in more waste
into a neighborhood that is already facing environmental racism. The health and wellbeing of
community members, and especially our children, should be prioritized over the interests of
polluting waste facilities.

My students and I dream of communities that have achieved Zero Waste by developing systems
that allow for composting at scale and significant increases in all types of recycling. We are
asking this committee to not approve this level of heavy industrialization in an M1 zone or any
other neighborhood of NYC that doesn’t already have freight rail. Neighborhoods that were
deemed as “Environmental Justice Communities” have not received the relief from the Waste
Equity Law and this proposed amendment will allow these facilities to continue to
disproportionately affect the health and safety of Southeast Queens residents. The issue of
waste-by-rail export urgently requires serious assessment, study, planning, and public input, not
this legislation. This legislation should be withdrawn.

Thank you,

Danielle Hammer



 

 

 

 

 

 

Children’s Environmental Health Center 

Department of Environmental Medicine and Public Health 

Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai 

One Gustave L. Levy Place, Box 1217 

New York, NY 10029-6574 

 

June 24, 2021 

 

TESTIMONY IN OPPOSITION TO INTRO 2349: 

 

Dear Members of the Committee on Sanitation and Solid Waste Management, 

 

We would like to thank this committee for the opportunity to provide expert testimony on this proposed legislation. The 

Waste Equity (Local Law 152) states that if a waste transfer station exports their waste by rail then they are exempt from 

reducing their waste tonnage capacity. However, Local Law 152 does not grant a waiver based on intent but rather on the 

facility's existing mode of operation. The proposed legislation is seeking to grant the two waste transfer facilities in 

District 12, American/Regal Recycling, an increase in putrescible waste based on their intent to move to a waste by rail 

system. We urge you to oppose the proposed amendment Intro 2349 to the Waste Equity Local Law 152 that would allow 

these facilities to increase their permitted waste capacity for export by rail.  

We are a team of physicians, industrial hygienists, epidemiologists, scientists and community-engaged researchers from 

the Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai with expertise in environmental, and public health. Mount Sinai is host to 

one of 10 nationally funded Pediatric Environmental Health Specialty Units, and we are the data coordinating center to the 

New York State Children’s Environmental Health Centers, a state funded network of academic medical centers and 

community organizations dedicated to preventing and treating the adverse health impact of toxic environmental 

exposures. We are convinced that the proposed amendment will have long lasting, toxic impacts on children living near 

the site as well as their families. Our team has extensive experience and expertise in counseling communities and families 

on evidence-based strategies to create safer environments. Our work incorporates community-based participatory research 

methods, which emphasize partnerships with local residents, rigorous community and academic science, and anti-racist 

approaches that promote environmental justice. We have analyzed the amendment and evaluated its impact on the local 

community. 

As health professionals with expertise in the impacts of environment on health, we oppose this amendment for the 

following reasons: 

● Environmental Health Inequities - Allowing these waste transfer stations to increase their permitted waste capacity 

could disproportionately expose the neighboring community to increased environmental hazards, such as air quality, 

odor, leachate, noise, and storm water runoff.  
● Environmental Justice - 1) These waste transfer stations are meant to operate in M3 zoned heavy industrial use 

areas. They are inappropriately located in an M-1 zone, directly adjacent to a public park and a residential 

neighborhood 2) There has been no meaningful attempt to directly involve community members in the decision 

making process of the proposed waste expansion 3) Allowing these facilities to expand will set precedent for other 

environmental justice communities across NYC to become industrialized.  
 

Environmental Health Inequities:  

Environmental health inequalities are far too prevalent in New York. Too often, health hazards are unjustly distributed 

and placed in low-income communities of color and contribute to health effect burdens that are also disproportionate. As 

public health researchers, we see the long term impact of environmental injustices and the role they play in affecting the 

health of frontline communities which are too often low-income communities of color. For the past year, our 

environmental health research team has been collaborating on an air quality study with residents and community groups in 

Southeast Queens. Residents who live near the two waste transfer stations have reported a high frequency of foul odors, 

diesel exhaust, waste blow off, leachate, constant noise, and disruption from these facilities and the trucks that traverse 

https://urldefense.proofpoint.com/v2/url?u=https-3A__nycdohmh.maps.arcgis.com_apps_instant_lookup_index.html-3Fappid-3Dfc9a0dc8b7564148b4079d294498a3cf-26find-3D170-2D21-252520Douglas-252520Ave-25252C-252520Jamaica-25252C-252520NY-25252C-25252011433-25252C-252520USA&d=DwMFaQ&c=shNJtf5dKgNcPZ6Yh64b-A&r=-yPsGc0ZXNrf_PZGkj38DWHuV8kjZCGMVZA_3PAX-70&m=hTjY32bS-rlCD3MW4QxI9W-VVp4-wBYradsvLwN0xy0&s=ZD_KTwFjtymBvtYPm0v9vs6u20R8fAZqugW6kd-lBY0&e=


them on a daily basis. These exposure have substantial impacts on chronic stress, headaches and will have long term 

effects, particularly in children living in this community. Allowing these facilities to expand their waste tonnage will 

worsen air quality, increase odor exposures, and add to existing environmental health inequities:  

- Odor: In summer, the stench emanating from these waste transfer stations is so unbearable that residents are unable to 

use their backyards or open their windows. Odor from municipal waste is primarily caused by volatile organic 

compounds (VOCs), and many of these compounds are known to negatively impact health1. Excessive exposure to 

certain VOCs has been linked to cancer, as well as damage to the kidneys, liver, central nervous system, and 

respiratory system 2,3.  

- Air Quality: Along with VOCs, residents near the waste transfer stations likely experience diminished air quality due 

to increased diesel exhaust. Over 90% of the solid matter in diesel emissions is less than 1 micron in diameter and is 

therefore classified as PM2.5, or a type of particulate matter less than 2.5 microns in diameter 4. The health effects of 

elevated PM 2.5 levels are well researched and are associated with increased risk of cardiovascular and respiratory 

disease 5,6.  

- Existing Environmental Inequities: These waste facilities are cited in communities already overburdened by asthma 

and other chronic health problems. Data from the New York City Environment and Health Data Portal shows that 

estimated asthma emergency department visits attributed to PM2.5 for children under 18 years of age, from 2015-

2017, were at a rate of 69.6 per 100,000 residents in Jamaica, Queens compared to the rest of Queens with a rate of 

47.3 per 100,000 residents. Overall asthma emergency department visits among children ages 5 to 17 years old in 

Jamaica, Queens were at a rate of 186.4 per 10,000 residents, while the rate for the rest of Queens was 126.6 per 

10,000 residents. The Data Portal also shows that adult asthma hospitalizations were higher than average in Jamaica 

in 2016, with a rate of 11.5 per 10,000 residents compared to an average rate of 6.8 per 10,000 residents in Queens 7. 

Environmental Justice 
This community is already exposed to disproportionate levels of environmental pollutants compared with high-income 

and white neighborhoods and the impact is undeniable as chronic stress and the associated economic impact of nearby 

toxic waste affects all aspects of a healthy community8.  According to the Data Portal, Jamaica has among the lowest high 

school graduation rates in New York City at 70.5%. In addition, the percentage of rent burdened households, which is the 

percentage of households whose gross rent equals at least 30 percent of their income, is among the highest in the city at 

62.5%. Jamaica is also an overwhelmingly minority community with 96.4% of residents identifying as non-white. The 

New York City Department of Health and Mental Hygiene classifies Jamaica as an Environmental Justice Area, which is 

most broadly defined as, “low-income or minority communities located in the City of New York [that] … have been and 

continue to be more vulnerable to potential environmental injustices due to factors including history of systemic racism 

and inequitable resource distribution.” 9 In New York City, waste transfer stations are almost exclusively located in 

Environmental Justice Areas10,11. Expanding these waste transfer stations only deepens the environmental injustices faced 

by Jamaica residents and widens existing inequities.  

 

Environmental justice means those most affected by environmental issues should be at the forefront of the decision-

making process. Allowing these facilities to move forward with waste by rail undermines the Waste Equity Law’s 

environmental justice mandate and assists these waste transfer stations in their expansion process. These waste transfer 

stations are meant to operate in M3 zoned heavy industrial use areas yet they are inappropriately located in an M-1 zone, 

directly adjacent to a public park and a residential neighborhood. M1 zones are designed to accommodate light 

manufacturing that can easily coexist with residential homes.  

 

We also ask that the committee consider that between Fall 2018 to the present, there has been no meaningful attempt to 

directly involve community members in the decision making process of the proposed expansion. The only time there has 

been a public meeting to solicit feedback from the community was on April 15, 2021 - residents were made aware of this 

public meeting only a day prior to the meeting taking place. Public participation means that community members should 

have been made aware of this event far longer in advance. There was no effort to distribute the meeting information to the 

neighboring community physically and virtually. During the public meeting, questions could only be submitted through 

the Zoom Q&A function and there were no opportunities to share feedback or follow up with questions. This is not how 

we achieve environmental justice.  

 

Additionally, District 12 is one of the four overburdened communities of color that the Waste Equity Law is meant to 

protect from additional waste handling burdens. Allowing more waste into an environmental justice neighborhood would 

set a precedent for other environmental justice communities across NYC to further industrialize and increase waste export, 

which goes against the City’s Zero Waste and environmental justice goals. It is unjust to allow these facilities to bring in 



more waste into a neighborhood that is already facing environmental racism. The health and wellbeing of community 

members should be prioritized over the interests of polluting waste facilities.  

 

Private waste transfer systems in environmental justice communities are a city-wide health and safety issue. A report 

published in 2016 by Cleanup North Brooklyn details how the Bushwick community, about 50 residential buildings, are 

affected by the Brooklyn Transfer LLC waste transfer station. In this report, the researchers describe the high levels of 

noise, strong odors and diesel fuel emissions the community was burdened with due to this waste transfer facility and 

include recommendations that could be followed to lessen the health risks, such as having the waste transfer station adopt 

better housekeeping measures for odor control, depressurizing the tipping floor so air moves into the facility and not out 

into the neighborhood, educating the staff on waste transfer rules and limiting the tonnage of trash that is brought into the 

station. 

Our recommendations to the committee:  
We are asking this committee to not approve this level of heavy industrialization in an M1 zone or any other 

neighborhood of NYC that doesn’t already have freight rail.  Neighborhoods that were deemed as “environmental justice '' 

communities have not received relief from the Waste Equity Law, and this proposed amendment will allow these facilities 

to continue to disproportionately affect the health and safety of Southeast Queens residents. As the city moves towards the 

goal of Zero Waste, we urge the committee to listen to direct community experiences and to keep environmental justice at 

the core of policy changes.  

Thank you,  

 
Luz Guel  

Community Engagement Coordinator 

Department of Environmental Medicine & Public Health 

Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai  

 
Caitlin Harris 

Environmental Justice Researcher  

Department of Environmental Medicine and Public Health 

Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai  

 
Sarah Evans, PhD, MPH 

Assistant Professor 

Department of Environmental Medicine and Public Health 

Children’s Environmental Health Center 

Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai 

 
Jacqueline Cortez 

Environmental Justice Researcher 

Department of Environmental Medicine and Public Health 

Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai  

 
Maida P. Galvez, MD, MPH, FAAP 

Professor, Departments of Environmental Medicine and Public Health 

& Pediatrics  

Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai 

 
Andrea Ndoka 

Environmental Justice Researcher 

Department of Environmental Medicine and Public Health 

Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai  

 

 

 

Robert O Wright, MD, MPH 

Ethel H Wise Professor and Chair 

Department of Environmental Medicine & Public Health 

Director, Institute for Exposomics 

Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai 
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   STATEMENT OF THE NATURAL RESOURCES DEFENSE COUNCIL 

                                  REGARDING INTRO 2349: A BILL THAT WOULD  

           UNDERMINE THE COUNCIL’S LANDMARK 2019 WASTE EQUITY LAW AND  

                 ERODE PUBLIC TRUST IN THE COUNCIL’S LAW-MAKING PROCESS 

               June 24, 2021 

 

Good morning, Chair Reynoso and members of the Committee.  My name is Eric A. Goldstein 

and I am New York City Environment Director at the Natural Resources Defense Council.  As you know, 

NRDC is a national, non-profit legal and scientific organization active on a wide range of public health, 

natural resource protection and quality of life issues across the country, around the globe and right here in 

New York City where our principal offices have been located since our founding in 1970.  NRDC has 

long focused on solid waste issues as one of our top regional priorities.  Our overall goal is to transform 

the current waste disposal system from primary reliance on landfilling and incineration to one that places 

waste prevention, composting, recycling and equity as cornerstones of a more sustainable, 21st century 

waste policy in New York. 

NRDC strongly opposes Intro 2349.  It would add more trucks and more waste to an already 

overburdened environmental justice neighborhood.  It would reverse promises made to environmental 

justice communities and undermine public confidence in the City Council’s negotiating and law-making 

processes.  It would conflict with the goals, objectives and actual language of the historic Waste Equity 

Local Law 152 of 2019.  And it would represent a capitulation to a small number of industrial waste 

haulers. 

In 2018, the City Council enacted what became Local Law 152 of 2019 -- New York City’s 

Waste Equity Law.  It was designed to address longstanding issues of environmental racism in the siting 

and operation of land-based waste transfer stations in New York City.  Specifically, it required the 

Department of Sanitation to reduce permitted capacity of putrescible and non-putrescible waste in four of 

the city’s most overburdened districts.  A 33% reduction in permitted capacity was mandated for three 

districts – Bronx 1 and 2, and Queens 12.  A 50% reduction in permitted capacity was required for waste 

transfer operations in Brooklyn district 1.  The law provided a narrow exemption to the permitted capacity 

reductions if a facility was already exporting waste by rail and if it had on-site rail infrastructure.  

Implementation of that new law began in October 2019. 

The provisions of that landmark law were not lightly agreed to.  They were adopted after years of 

negotiations going all the way back to the Solid Waste Management Plan of 2006.  They were agreed to 

after many stops and starts and following continuing engagement with environmental justice advocates 

and the four most affected communities, which have long hosted most of the privately-operated transfer 

stations serving the entire city’s waste stream.   



 

 

 

 

 

 

City officials hailed the new statute.  “For far too long, a few communities have been saturated by 

waste-transfer stations and resulting truck traffic.  We are creating a more equitable city by shifting the 

burden away from those communities…”, Mayor Bill de Blasio said at the time.  Council Speaker Corey 

Johnson proclaimed: “North Brooklyn, the South Bronx and Southeastern Queens have for generations 

been dumping grounds for the city’s waste.  This law will place a limit on the amount of trash moving in 

and out of neighborhoods that for years have taken an unfair burden.” 

But now, Intro 2349 is being advanced as if none of this history existed.  The new bill reverses a 

key provision of Local Law 152.  It would require the Commissioner of the Sanitation Department to 

restore reductions mandated by Local Law 152 if a transfer station operator expresses the intent to export 

by rail in the future and completes rail link construction years down the line.  Meanwhile, during at least 

the first four years, the operator would be permitted to increase truck traffic and waste hauling at the 

facility.  And even if the rail link is created, the proposed law would mean additional waste-hauling trucks 

coming into the transfer station on a permanent basis. 

This attempt to gut a cornerstone requirement of Local Law 152 should be rejected by this 

Committee.  Indeed, it is hard to believe that this bill is even receiving a hearing when much more 

essential waste legislation, such as proposals to require citywide, universal food waste collections for 

composting have not moved forward or even had a committee hearing.   

What passage of this bill would allow -- even if rail links were ultimately constructed at some 

point in the future -- is more truck traffic and more waste going into Queens district 12 (and potentially 

other overburdened neighborhoods as well).  That would be a grave environmental injustice.  And it 

would reverse -- for this neighborhood at least -- much of the promise of Local Law 152.   

Such exceptions and exemptions to Local Law 152 were specifically considered and rejected little 

more than two years ago when the details of the legislation were negotiated between Council leadership, 

the affected communities and other stakeholders.  The rail transport exception that was incorporated into 

the law was painstakingly drafted and specifically written to allow only existing rail operations and not 

permit future construction -- changes that would in fact boost permitted capacity at these facilities.  Waste 

facility operators should not now come back to the Council for another bite at the apple and seek to re-

open negotiations and undermine this landmark environmental justice statute.  That is especially true 

where, as here, the operating track record of the waste stations seeking to expand operations have been 

the subject of waste violations on numerous occasions over the years.  For the Council to entertain this 

renegotiation would reflect poorly on its law-making process and cause a loss in public confidence when 

it comes to future negotiations between environmental stakeholders and City Council representatives.   

We strongly urge the Committee to reject this anti-environmental justice bill. 

Thank you for your attention. 

 

 





Good morning Chairman Reynoso, Councilmember Miller and the rest of the
members of the committee. Thank you for allowing me the opportunity to speak
before you. Good morning my name is Bilal Karriem and I am a community
advocate in southeast Queens where i live and work.

I had the opportunity to visit the potential project site on Douglas Ave and
southeast Queens. I was able to tour the facilities to understand what type of
upgrades would happen and also discussed the potential impacts on our
community. In weighing all that I have heard I have determined that there is a net
benefit to the community in terms of moving waste by rail creating good paying
employment opportunities in our community and finally having an environmental
resource in Jamaica Queens that our children could benefit. I understand that this
bill would allow for waste capacity to be increased in southeast Queens within
Community Board 12. It is also my understanding that the increase would just be
to the levels it was previously, which would still keep our community from being
overburdened and under the 10% which was the goal of the waste capacity bill. I
understand the need for the increase to help raise the revenues necessary to
secure the funding to undertake this multibillion dollar capital project. Because I
live here and I work here I don't want our community to continue to stay the
same. I want to see progress. I want to see jobs created in our community and
most importantly I want to make sure that it is done in an environmentally
friendly way. I urge you to support intro 2349.

Sent from my Sprint Samsung Galaxy Note10+.



Good day, my name is Mary Parisen Lavelle. I am speaking out against Councilman Miller’s
legislation. I lived in Glendale for 34 years within 100 ft of the NY & Atlantic railyard. The
operations are noisy and polluting. Waste by rail is a big business. It is profitable for private
industries at the expense of the quality of life for the communities they travel through.

Constituents of Councilman Miller’s district are being bamboozled! They have asked me to
testify today .They are being told that a new state of the art waste transfer station will be built
and waste will be transported with a new rail siding so that they can get trucks off their roads.
Oh really, how do you think that the waste will get to the transfer station , of course trucks.
Those same trucks that have been going there. Presently, that waste transfer station has
horrendous odors emitting from it and Councilman Miller’s legislation legitimizes unenclosed
transfer stations with three walls and a roof. So how will this community’s burdens be
alleviated?

Regional planning is needed to consider the unintended consequences of waste by rail.
First, the locomotives leased by the MTA/LIRR to their freight concessionaire NY & Atlantic are
antiquated from the 1970’s Tier 0 when in this 21 st Century the state of the art USEPA are Tier
4 locomotives with near zero emissions. Old locomotives not only are not clean for the
environment and the air we breathe but the noise they produce. Freight operations have
narrow opportunities to move because of the shared tracks of passenger rail. Hence, they travel
predominantly during night hours.
Next, are the odors emitted from the open rail cars of waste. This problem is a reality since
leechate, vectors and odors are a daily occurrence. Containerization legislation on the State
Level is imperative. NYC should be demanding that this is a mandate before these railcars of
waste travel through our city.

So Councilman Miller this legislation of yours needs to be redacted! Protect those you serve
and do the right thing.

There can’t be any expansion of this waste by rail industry without mitigations for the
communities that they travel through.

Thank you.
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Across Long Island Environmental Justice leaders have been dealing with waste-by-rail. At the 
hearing on 6-24-21, CD12 civic leaders who were on the front lines in the fight for the Waste 
Equity Law asked that Int 2349 be withdrawn. In December 2020, the Brentwood 
Environmental Justice Community protested the Omni Brentwood waste-by-rail transfer 
station, asking DEC to deny the permit (DEC granted it). Now the NYS NAACP is leading the 
opposition to Winters Brothers proposed waste-by-rail facility in an Environmental Justice 
community in Brookhaven. Following is their press release, which is a window into the 
complexities of extending and controlling waste-by-rail that the DSNY Deputy Commissioner 
and CURES touched on at the 6-24-21 hearing.   
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The exemption the STB is offering Winters is an STB-created rule allowing the STB, in some 
circumstances, to retake jurisdiction over transfer stations on railroad property even though 
jurisdiction over transfer stations on railroad property was explicitly taken from the STB by 
Congress through the Clean Railroads Act of 2008. Congress did this because transfer stations 
on railroad property were not meeting state environmental standards, and that bad actor said 
they didn’t have to comply because it was railroad property.  
 
DEC has been unresponsive to the Brookhaven Environmental Justice community, including 
their concerns about groundwater pollution. Winters’ waste-by-rail expansion plans are 
proceeding in the absence of a Local Solid Waste Management Plan and with an expired landfill 
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permit. After becoming aware of the community’s plight, NYS Assembly Environmental 
Conservation Committee Chair Steve Englebright demonstrated responsibility by securing 
$250,000 in the NYS budget for DEC to study regional impacts from the Brookhaven landfill and 
waste-by-rail, specifically including impacts on Environmental Justice communities. Chairman 
Englebright recently said that DEC is operating without a plan and NYS lacks recycling capacity. 
Will the Sanitation Committee and DSNY be participating in this planning? Why? All the waste-
by-rail DEC Region 1 processes winds up in NYC. There is one 10-acre rail yard in Queens that is 
the only place on Long Island where all freight rail lines meet, trains switch, and freight is 
classified. It’s already a bottleneck (rail cars stored in neighborhoods and trains blocking grade 
crossings because there’s no room in the yard). What’s the plan? 
 
Except for Waste Management, others in the waste-by-rail industry have been willing to cut 
corners for private gain and ignore adverse impacts on communities. Because of the lack of 
state and federal regulation of waste containment in a rail car, the 13-year history of waste-by-
rail has been a series of waste containment experiments neighborhoods have had to endure. 
NYC’s Waste Equity Law already has exceptions for waste-by-rail. Please don’t weaken waste-
by-rail standards or expand freight rail into new areas of the city, which will weaken the city’s 
control over making New York City sustainable. Please withdraw Int 2349. Thank you.    
 
Mary Arnold, Co-Founder Civics United for Railroad Environmental Solutions, 
civicsunited@gmail.com 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



REGAL RECYCLING, INC. 355

Regal Recycling, Inc. and Local 813, International 
Brotherhood of Teamsters, AFL–CIO.1  Cases 
29–CA–16739, 29–CA–16870, 29–CA–16951, 29–
CA–17056, 29–CA–17131, and 29–RC–8020 

September 30, 1999 

DECISION AND ORDER 

BY CHAIRMAN TRUESDALE AND MEMBERS LIEBMAN 
AND BRAME 

On May 17, 1994, Administrative Law Judge Steven 
Davis issued the attached decision. The Respondent and 
the General Counsel filed exceptions and supporting 
briefs, and the Charging Party filed an answering brief. 

The National Labor Relations Board has delegated its 
authority in this proceeding to a three-member panel. 

The Board has considered the decision and the record 
in light of the exceptions and briefs and has decided to 
affirm the judge’s rulings, findings,2 and conclusions and 
to adopt the recommended Order as modified and set 
forth in full below.3 

1.  The judge found that the Respondent violated Sec-
tion 8(a)(3) and (1) of the Act by discharging seven em-
ployees because of their activities on behalf of Local 
813.  The Respondent contends that it did not discharge 
the employees, but lawfully laid them off until they could 
produce documentation demonstrating their eligibility 
under the immigration laws to work in the United States.4  
We agree with the judge that the Respondent unlawfully 
discharged the employees. 

The relevant facts follow.  Employee Edgar Pineda 
contacted Teamsters Local 813 in late June 1992.5  On 
July 13, Local 813 representatives met with 13 of the 
Respondent’s employees, and the employees signed au-
thorization cards.  Four days later, representatives of Lo-
cal 813 informed the Respondent that they had obtained 
authorization cards from a majority of the Respondent’s 
employees and requested that the Respondent sign a rec-
ognition agreement.  Angelo Reali (Angelo), one of the 

Respondent’s owners, refused to sign the agreement, 
asserting that the Company already had a collective-
bargaining agreement with Laborers Local 445.   

                                                           

                                                          

1 Local 445, Laborers International Union of North America, AFL–
CIO intervened in Case 29–RC–8020.  We correct the case caption to 
accurately identify the Charging Party. 

2 The Respondent has excepted to some of the judge’s credibility 
findings. The Board’s established policy is not to overrule an adminis-
trative law judge’s credibility resolutions unless the clear preponder-
ance of all the relevant evidence convinces us that they are incorrect.  
Standard Dry Wall Products, 91 NLRB 544 (1950), enfd. 188 F.2d 362 
(3d Cir. 1951).  We have carefully examined the record and find no 
basis for reversing the findings. 

3 We modify the Order to conform to the violations found and to our 
decisions in A.P.R.A. Fuel Oil Buyers Group, 320 NLRB 408 (1995), 
enfd. 134 F.3d 50 (1997), discussed below, and Indian Hills Care Cen-
ter, 321 NLRB 144 (1996).  We have substituted a new notice to con-
form to the changes in the Order. 

4 The Immigration Reform and Control Act (IRCA), 8 U.S.C. §1324 
et seq., requires employers to complete INS Form I-9 for each em-
ployee after reviewing documents produced by the employee showing 
identity and eligibility to work in the United States.  

5 All dates are in 1992 unless otherwise indicated. 

After this discussion with the Local 813 representa-
tives, Angelo and Supervisor David Rios interrogated 
several employees about whether they had signed au-
thorization cards.  Rios told some employees that he al-
ready knew who had signed cards.  He further told 
Pineda that Angelo and Michael Reali (Michael), who 
was also an owner and the vice president of the Respon-
dent, wanted to know who had contacted Local 813 and 
that they were angry.  

About July 20, Rios held a meeting of all employees at 
which he presented Raphael Griffin, a representative of 
Local 445.  Griffin informed the employees that they did 
not need to join Local 813 because Local 445 already 
represented them.  The employees responded that they 
had never signed authorization cards for Local 445 or 
seen Griffin before that day.6  When employee Norman 
Ortega outspokenly criticized Local 445, he was called to 
the side of the room, where Angelo told him that he 
could lose his job for criticizing that Union.  In the meet-
ing, Griffin told the employees that Local 445 could se-
cure raises and medical benefits for them, and that they 
could not sign cards for another union.   

The following day, the employees went to the Respon-
dent’s office and informed Michael that they desired rep-
resentation by Local 813 rather than Local 445.  At a 
subsequent meeting called by the Respondent, Michael 
asked the employees why they had signed cards for Lo-
cal 813, stated that he would close the facility if they 
selected that Union, and informed the employees that 
they would be required to show him proof the next day 
that they were entitled to reside and work in the United 
States.7  

 
6 The judge found that the employees did not know that they were 

represented by Local 445 or entitled to benefits under a collective-
bargaining agreement, the Respondent never complied with the terms 
of the agreement, and Local 445 never administered it.  In addition, in 
response to union-security provisions of the agreement, the Respondent 
paid dues from its own funds directly to Local 445 on behalf of its 
employees, who of course had not authorized payroll deduction of dues.  
The judge found, based on the record, that Local 445 was not con-
cerned with the working conditions of the employees, which were set 
unilaterally by the Respondent, and failed to otherwise enforce or ser-
vice its contract with the Respondent.  Thus, this case is factually dis-
tinguishable from Henry Bierce Co., 328 NLRB No. 85 (1999), in 
which the union had no actual or constructive notice that the employer 
was not complying with the contract.  In this case, on the other hand, 
Local 445 has never asserted that it lacked knowledge of the Respon-
dent’s noncompliance with the contract. 

7 We adopt the judge’s findings that the Respondent violated Sec. 
8(a)(1) by, inter alia, interrogating employees concerning their union 
activities, threatening to close the facility if the employees continued 
their union activities, and threatening to require its employees to pro-
duce documents to establish that they were legally in the United States.  
The judge stated that only employee Mario Ortiz testified that Michael 
threatened to close the facility.  We note, however, that Pineda corrobo-
rated Ortiz’ testimony regarding this threat.  Pineda’s testimony per-
tained to the meeting initiated by the employees, but the judge found it 

329 NLRB No. 38 
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On July 28, the Respondent, in individual meetings, 
gave each of the seven discriminatees a letter stating in 
part: 
 

[Y]ou have not produced the proper proof of residence 
that is required by the federal government which makes 
you eligible to work in the United States. . . . [W]e have 
no choice but to ask you to hold off from your em-
ployment until such time that the documents are 
brought into the office. 

 

The discriminatees were unable to produce the re-
quired documents and the Respondent did not permit 
them to return to work. 

The record shows, and the judge found, that the Re-
spondent previously had not uniformly required employ-
ees to furnish proof of their authorization to work.  In-
deed, Michael testified that the Respondent would permit 
employees to begin work if they said that they had 
documents showing work authorization, and that the em-
ployees sometimes failed to produce the documents.  The 
Respondent had not even requested documents from dis-
criminatees Hugo Carillo, Edgar Pineda, or Julio Del Cid 
before July.  Upon his hire, Nery Perez provided a mar-
riage certificate, which is not among the documents 
listed by the Immigration and Naturalization Service 
(INS) Form I-9 as an acceptable demonstration of iden-
tity or work eligibility.  The record shows that the Re-
spondent requested documents from Mario Ortiz, who 
furnished a work permit.  Joel Chinchilla was asked for 
identification, and he produced a green card.  Neither 
Ortiz nor Chinchilla completed a Form I-9 as required by 
the INS. 

As the judge found, the Respondent also did not con-
sistently apply a policy of verifying eligibility even at the 
time when it discharged the discriminatees, purportedly 
for lacking proper authorization.  Four employees who 
did not sign authorization cards for Local 813 remained 
at work after July 28, despite their failure to produce 
documents demonstrating their eligibility to work.  
Moreover, after the discharges new employees were 
hired without providing appropriate documents. 

Two of the discharged employees were rehired in No-
vember, after Local 813 failed to receive a majority of 
votes in the October 30 election.  Carillo returned to 
work after seeking assistance from Local 445 to obtain a 
work permit, although his application for the permit was 
still pending even at the time of the hearing in this pro-
ceeding.  Ortiz, whose discharge the Respondent attrib-
uted to the expiration of his work permit, returned to the 
Respondent’s facility initially with a document stating 
that his permit would be renewed and later with the re-
newed permit, but the Respondent failed to reinstate him.  
                                                                                                                                                       
consistent with testimony about the later meeting called by the Respon-
dent.  

Like Carillo, Ortiz was ultimately rehired following the 
intervention of Local 445.    

Under the test set out in Wright Line,8 in order to es-
tablish that the Respondent unlawfully discharged the 
seven employees based on their union activity, the Gen-
eral Counsel must show by a preponderance of the evi-
dence that the protected activity was a motivating factor 
in the Respondent’s decision to discharge.  Thus, the 
General Counsel must show that the employees engaged 
in union activity, that the Respondent had knowledge of 
that activity, and that the Respondent demonstrated anti-
union animus.9  Once the General Counsel has made the 
required showing, the burden shifts to the Respondent to 
demonstrate that it would have taken the same action 
even in the absence of the protected union activity.   

Based on the above facts, we adopt the judge’s conclu-
sion that the Respondent unlawfully discriminated 
against the seven discharged employees based on their 
union activities.  The General Counsel demonstrated that 
the seven employees were among those who signed au-
thorization cards for Local 813 and informed Michael 
that they wished to be represented by that Union rather 
than Local 445.  Thus, the Respondent was well aware of 
their support for Local 813.  The Respondent reacted to 
the employees’ union activity with a clear demonstration 
of antiunion animus, by threatening to close the facility 
and, in an unprecedented manner, demanding a mass 
production of work authorization documents.   

In agreement with the judge, we further find that the 
Respondent has failed to show that it would have dis-
charged the employees even in the absence of their union 
activity.  The record does not support the Respondent’s 
assertion that its enforcement of eligibility requirements 
under IRCA predated the employees’ support for Local 
813.  Therefore, we reject the Respondent’s contentions 
that it had already instructed the employees to produce 
their documents before the advent of their union activity 
and had distributed an undated letter in June requiring 
the documents.  

We also reject the Respondent’s argument that the em-
ployees were not discharged, but merely laid off until 
they could be employed in compliance with Federal im-
migration laws.  Significantly, the Respondent’s attempt 
at strict compliance with eligibility requirements as to 
these employees, though arguably proper under immigra-
tion law, was contrary to its practice both before and 
after these discharges, as well as to its contemporaneous 
treatment of employees who did not support Local 813.  
To undocumented employees, hired and allowed to con-
tinue to work without having to produce authorization 
papers, an employer’s sudden demand for such papers, 
accompanied by a “layoff” until they are provided, 

 
8 251 NLRB 1083 (1980), enfd. 662 F.2d 899 (1st Cir.1981), cert. 

denied 455 U.S. 989 (1982), approved in NLRB v. Transportation 
Management Corp., 462 U.S. 393, 393–403 (1983). 

9 Wright Line, supra at 1090. 
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clearly means a permanent, or at least long and indefi-
nite, loss of employment.  Moreover, the Respondent’s 
failure to reinstate Ortiz upon presentation of his re-
newed work permit, until Local 445 intervened at his 
request, belies the Respondent’s contention that its only 
concern was ensuring proper work authorization.10 

For the above reasons, we conclude that the Respon-
dent’s discharge of the seven employees violated Section 
8(a)(3) and (1).11 

2.  The judge ordered the Respondent to offer the 
seven discriminatees immediate reinstatement with 
backpay.  In A.P.R.A. Fuel Oil Buyers Group, supra, 320 
NLRB 408, the Board considered the remedies appropri-
ate for discriminatory discharges of employees on the 
asserted basis of their undocumented status, including 
whether an employee’s ineligibility for employment af-
fects the propriety of reinstatement and backpay.  Recog-
nizing that the Board may not order a remedy that would 
require an employer to violate IRCA, it found in A.P.R.A. 
that an employer’s obligation to reinstate allegedly un-
documented workers should be conditioned on their sat-
isfaction of IRCA’s normal verification requirements.  In 
accord with the decision in A.P.R.A., we shall modify the 
judge’s recommended Order to condition the Respon-
dent’s reinstatement obligation on the discriminatees’ 
production, within a reasonable time, of documents ena-
bling the Respondent to meet its obligations under IRCA.  
We shall further modify the judge’s recommended Order 
to provide that the Respondent pay the discriminatees 
backpay from the dates of their discharges to the earliest 
of the following events:  their reinstatement by the Re-
spondent, subject to compliance with the Respondent’s 
normal obligations under IRCA, or their failure after a 
reasonable time to produce such documents. 

3.  The Respondent excepts to the judge’s recommen-
dation that the Board issue a Gissel12 bargaining order to 
remedy the unfair labor practices.  As an initial matter, 
we find no merit in the Respondent’s arguments as to the 
violations themselves, or its contention that a bargaining 
order is not appropriate because 3 months passed be-
tween the alleged unfair labor practices and the election.  
In normal circumstances, the violations in this proceed-
ing would prompt the Board to consider a Gissel remedy.  
However, as the Board recently recognized in Wallace 
                                                           

                                                          

10 See Victor’s Café 52, 321 NLRB 504, 514–515 (1996) (em-
ployer’s hasty demand, after learning of employee support for union, 
that employees produce documents demonstrating work authorization, 
and discharge of employees who failed to provide documents, violated 
Sec. 8(a)(3) and (1)).  Like the Board in Victor’s Café, we find that this 
case does not involve an employer’s good-faith effort to come into 
compliance with its statutory obligations under IRCA without regard to 
its employees’ union activities.  

11 We find it unnecessary to rely on Future Ambulette, 293 NLRB 
884 (1989), and Midwestern Mining, 277 NLRB 221 (1985), cited by 
the judge. 

12 NLRB v. Gissel Packing Co., 395 U.S. 575 (1969). 

International de Puerto Rico,13 excessively long delay at 
the Board may render such a remedy unenforceable.  
Here, the delay at the Board exceeded even that in Wal-
lace.  As in Wallace, rather than engender further litiga-
tion and delay over the propriety of such an order, we 
find that the interests of the employees are better served 
by proceeding to a second election (in the event the tally 
of ballots from the first election shows that Local 813 has 
not received a majority of votes). 

Although a Gissel remedy is not imposed, we find that, 
in the event that Local 813 has lost the first election, an 
additional remedy is necessary to dissipate as much as 
possible any lingering effects of the Respondent’s unfair 
labor practices and to ensure that a fair second election, if 
needed, can be held.14  Therefore, we shall in that event 
order the Respondent to provide Local 813, on request 
made within 1 year of the date of this Decision, the 
names and addresses of all current unit employees.15  The 
delay in this case, although unfortunate, was no more the 
fault of Local 813 or of the employees who were denied 
a fair opportunity to choose whether they desire union 
representation than it was of the Respondent.  Our Order 
will afford Local 813 “an opportunity to participate in 
[the] restoration of employee rights by engaging in fur-
ther organizational efforts, if it so chooses, in an atmos-
phere free of further restraint and coercion.”  United 
Dairy Farmers Cooperative Assn., 242 NLRB 1026, 
1029 (1979), enfd. in relevant part 633 F.2d 1054 (3d 
Cir. 1980).16 

 
13 328 NLRB No. 3 (1999).  In that case, the Board declined to issue 

a Gissel bargaining order and instead directed a second election given 
that the unjustified delay of the case at the Board for almost 4 years had 
likely rendered such an order unenforceable.  Cf. Garvey Marine, Inc., 
328 NLRB No.147 (1999) (Board found Gissel remedy appropriate, 
distinguishing Wallace based on the length of delay and extent and 
severity of the unfair labor practices involved). 

14 See Maramount Corp., 317 NLRB 1035, 1037 (1995) (Board has 
broad discretion to fashion a just remedy). 

15 If Local 813 loses the pending election, Member Liebman believes 
that additional remedial measures are necessary to dissipate, as much as 
possible, the lingering atmosphere of fear created by the Respondent’s 
unlawful conduct and ensure that employees will be able to exercise a 
free choice in a second election.  Specifically, she would order the 
Respondent to grant Local 813 and its representatives reasonable access 
to the Respondent’s bulletin boards and all places where notices to 
employees are customarily posted.  Member Liebman also would order 
the Respondent to grant Local 813 reasonable access to its facility in 
nonwork areas during employees’ nonworktime.  In her view, these two 
access remedies would provide employees with reassurance that they 
can learn the benefits of representation by Local 813 free from the 
unlawful threats and reprisals they have experienced in the past.  Given 
the judge’s finding, adopted by the Board, that the Respondent violated 
Sec. 8(a)(2) by denying Local 813 access to its employees and facility, 
while providing such access to Local 445, these additional remedies are 
carefully tailored to the situation which calls for redress.  

16 The Board has previously ordered this remedy in cases where it 
found that remedial measures in addition to the traditional remedies for 
unfair labor practices were appropriate.  See, e.g., Montfort of Colo-
rado, 298 NLRB 73, 86 (1990), enfd. in relevant part 965 F.2d 1538 
(10th Cir. 1992); United Dairy Farmers Cooperative Assn., 242 NLRB 
at 1030; Haddon House Food Products, 242 NLRB 1057, 1059 (1979), 
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ORDER 
The National Labor Relations Board orders that the 

Respondent, Regal Recycling, Inc., Jamaica, New York, 
its officers, agents, successors, and assigns, shall 

1.  Cease and desist from 
(a) Interrogating employees concerning their activities 

on behalf of Local 813, International Brotherhood of 
Teamsters, AFL–CIO. 

(b) Threatening employees with discharge for criticiz-
ing Laborers’  International Union, Local No. 445, AFL–
CIO. 

(c) Threatening to require its employees to produce 
documentation to establish that they are legally in the 
United States in retaliation for union activities. 

(d) Threatening to close the facility if the employees 
choose to be represented by Teamsters Local 813. 

(f) Hiring additional employees in order to influence 
the outcome of the election. 

(g) Denying Teamsters Local 813 access to its em-
ployees and facility, while providing access to Laborers’ 
Local 445. 

(h) Issuing a discriminatory warning to employee Ed-
gar Pineda because of his activities on behalf of Team-
sters Local  813. 

(i) In any like or related manner interfering with, re-
straining, or coercing its employees in the exercise of the 
rights guaranteed them by Section 7 of the Act. 

2.  Take the following affirmative action necessary to 
effectuate the policies of the Act. 

(a) Within 14 days from the date of this Order, make a 
conditional offer of reinstatement to Maynor Lima Bo-
badillo, Hugh Carillo, Mario Carillo, Joel Chinchilla, 
Julio Del Cid, Mario Ortiz, and Nery Perez, offering 
them full reinstatement to their former jobs or, if those 
jobs no longer exist, to substantially equivalent positions, 
without prejudice to their seniority or any other rights or 
privileges previously enjoyed, provided that they com-
plete, within a reasonable time, INS Form I-9, including 
the presentation of the appropriate documents, in order to 
allow the Respondent to meet its obligations under the 
Immigration Reform and Control Act of 1986. 

(b) Make Maynor Lima Bobadillo, Hugh Carillo, 
Mario Carillo, Joel Chinchilla, Julio Del Cid, Mario Or-
tiz, and Nery Perez whole for any loss of earnings and 
other benefits suffered as a result of the discrimination 
against them, in the manner set forth in the remedy sec-
tion of the decision.  

(c) Within 14 days of the date of this Order, remove 
from its files any reference to the unlawful discharges 
and warnings, and within 3 days thereafter notify the 
employees in writing that this has been done and that the 
                                                                                             

                                                          

enfd. in relevant part sub nom. Teamsters Local 115 v. NLRB, 640 F.2d 
392 (D.C. Cir. 1981); and Loray Corp., 184 NLRB 557, 559 (1970). 

This remedy is in addition to Local 813’s right to have access to a 
list of voters and their addresses under Excelsior Underwear, 156 
NLRB 1236 (1966), after issuance of a notice of second election.  

discharges and warnings will not be used against them in 
any way. 

(d) In the event that Local 813 loses the pending elec-
tion, supply Local 813, on its request made within one 
year of the date of this Decision and Order, the full 
names and addresses of current unit employees. 

(e) Preserve and, within 14 days of a request, make 
available to the Board or its agents for examination and 
copying, all payroll records, social security payment re-
cords, timecards, personnel records and reports, and all 
other records necessary to analyze the amount of back-
pay due under the terms of this Order. 

(f) Within 14 days after service by the Region, post at 
its Jamaica, New York facility copies of the attached 
notice marked “Appendix.”17  Copies of the notice, on 
forms provided by the Regional Director for Region 29, 
after being signed by the Respondent’s authorized repre-
sentative, shall be posted by the Respondent and main-
tained for 60 consecutive days in conspicuous places 
including all places where notices to employees are cus-
tomarily posted.  Reasonable steps shall be taken by the 
Respondent to ensure that the notices are not altered, 
defaced, or covered by any other material.  In the event 
that, during the pendency of these proceedings, the Re-
spondent has gone out of business or closed the facility 
involved in these proceedings, the Respondent shall du-
plicate and mail, at its own expense, a copy of the notice 
to all current employees and former employees employed 
by the Respondent at any time since July 23, 1992. 

(g) Within 21 days after service by the Region, file 
with the Regional Director a sworn certification of a re-
sponsible official on a form provided by the Region at-
testing to the steps that the Respondent has taken to 
comply. 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Case 29–RC–8020 is sev-
ered and remanded to the Regional Director of the pur-
pose of opening and counting the challenged ballots of 
Hasan Abdool, David Baksh, David Gustman, Joel Ma-
cilla Chinchilla, Julio Del Cid, Nery Perez, and Edgar 
Pineda.  Thereafter, the Regional Director shall prepare a 
revised tally of ballots.  If the tally shows that Local 813, 
International Brotherhood of Teamsters, AFL–CIO has 
received a majority of ballots cast, the Regional Director 
shall issue a certification of representative; if the revised 
tally shows that Local 813 has not received a majority of 
the ballots, the Regional Director shall set aside the elec-
tion and conduct a second election. 
 

MEMBER BRAME, concurring in part and dissenting in part. 
I agree with my colleagues that the Respondent unlaw-

fully interrogated its employees in violation of Section 
 

17 If this Order is enforced by a judgment of a United States court of 
appeals, the words in the notice reading “Posted by Order of the Na-
tional Labor Relations Board” shall read “Posted Pursuant to a Judg-
ment of the United States Court of Appeals Enforcing an Order of the 
National Labor Relations Board.” 
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8(a)(1).  I reach this conclusion, however, by analyzing 
the interrogations based on the factors set out by the Sec-
ond Circuit Court of Appeals in Bourne v. NLRB, 332 
F.2d 47 (1964).  I also agree with my colleagues that the 
Respondent violated Section 8(a)(3) and (1) by discharg-
ing seven of its employees because of their support for 
Local 813.  In addition, I agree with my colleagues’ 
adoption of the judge’s decision in all other respects, 
except for his recommendation to issue a bargaining or-
der, which I join my colleagues in denying.1  I dissent, 
however, with respect to the backpay remedy that my 
colleagues grant to the discriminatees, in view of their 
undocumented alien status at the time of their discharges.  
I also dissent concerning the majority’s award of special 
remedies, which I find unwarranted. 

1.  The interrogations arose out of an organizing drive 
by Teamsters Local 813 at the Respondent’s recycling 
facility.2  Representatives of Local 813 met with the Re-
spondent’s employees on July 13, 1992,3 and the em-
ployees signed authorization cards for that Local.  The 
Respondent claimed that the employees were covered by 
a collective-bargaining agreement with Laborers Local 
445.  The judge found that within days after the employ-
ees signed authorization cards for Local 813, these offi-
cials began extensive interrogations of employees as to 
who had contacted Local 813 and if the employees had 
signed cards.  Employee Joel Chinchilla testified that 
shortly after he signed an authorization card, Rios told 
him that Angelo wanted to know which employee had 
called Local 813.  Employee Julio Del Cid stated that 4 
or 5 days after the July 13 card signing, Angelo, with 
Rios serving as translator, asked him if he had signed a 
card.  Del Cid did not answer, and Angelo proceeded to 
speak with all of the other employees.  The next day, 
Rios approached some employees, including Del Cid and 
Nery Perez, while they were eating, and stated that he 
knew that they had signed cards.  The employees did not 
reply.  Despite his assertion that he knew they had signed 
cards, Rios went on to ask the employees who had con-
tacted Local 813 and who had signed cards.  The em-
ployees said that they did not know. 

Shortly after employee Hugo Carrillo signed his au-
thorization card for Local 813, Rios began interrogating 
him about whether he had done so.  Carrillo denied sign-
ing a card.  After repeated questioning by Rios during the 
next 8 days, however, Carrillo finally admitted signing a 
card, because he believed that the Respondent would find 
out anyway.  
                                                                                                                     1 I agree with my colleagues that this case is factually distinguish-
able from Henry Bierce Co. 328 NLRB No. 85 (1999), in which I dis-
sented as to the appropriateness of the bargaining order.  I note, more-
over, that in the present case the employees have the opportunity to 
express their desires concerning representation through an election.   

2 The facts regarding the interrogations of employees by supervisor 
David Rios and owner Angelo Reali (Angelo) are uncontested, because 
neither Rios nor Angelo testified. 

3 All dates are 1992 unless otherwise indicated. 

Beginning about July 20, Rios told employee Edgar 
Pineda that Angelo and his fellow owner Michael Reali 
(Michael) wanted to know who had contacted Local 813 
and that they were angry.  Pineda said that he did not 
know.  Rios repeated his question to Del Cid, Chinchilla, 
and Carmello Calderon, who also asserted that they did 
not know.  Rios continued his questioning of Pineda one 
or twice per week through August, and Pineda continued 
to claim not to have an answer. 

On July 20, while these interrogations were ongoing, 
the Respondent called a meeting of its employees to in-
form them that they were already represented by a union, 
Local 445, and to introduce Local 445 representative 
Raphael Griffin.  The employees had not previously 
known of this representation, a collective-bargaining 
agreement between the Respondent and Local 445, or the 
benefits to which the agreement entitled them.  When 
employee Norman Ortega openly criticized Local 445 at 
the meeting, Angelo warned him that he could lose his 
job for such criticism.  After the employees informed 
Michael that they preferred to be represented by Local 
813, the Respondent convened another meeting with em-
ployees, at which Michael notified them that, if they con-
tinued to pay attention to Local 813, they would be re-
quired to bring in proof that they were eligible to live and 
work in the United States.  The Respondent had previ-
ously been lax about requiring such documentation from 
its employees, many of whom were recent immigrants to 
this country.  Ultimately, as the judge found, the Re-
spondent discharged some of the employees who were 
unable to provide the requested proof. 

In Bourne, supra, the Second Circuit recognized that 
interrogations of employees are not per se threatening, 
and identified five factors to be considered in determin-
ing whether an interrogation violated Section 8(a)(1).  
These factors are: 
 

(1) The background, i.e., is there a history of em-
ployer hostility and discrimination? 

(2) The nature of the information sought, e.g., did 
the interrogator appear to be seeking information on 
which to base taking action against individual em-
ployees? 

(3) The identity of the questioner, i.e., how high 
was he in the company hierarchy? 

(4) Place and method of interrogation, e.g., was 
employee called from work to the boss’s office?  
Was there an atmosphere of ‘unnatural formality’? 

(5) Truthfulness of the reply.4 
 

4 Id. at 48. The Board cited the Bourne test with approval in Ross-
more House, 269 NLRB 1176, 1177 (1984), affd. sub nom. Hotel Em-
ployees Local 11 v. NLRB, 760 F.2d 1006 (9th Cir. 1985), in which the 
Board declared: 

Our duty is to determine in each case whether, under the dictates of 
Sec[tion] 8(a)(1), such interrogations violate the Act.  Some factors 
which may be considered in analyzing alleged interrogations are: (1) 
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Applying these factors to the interrogations by Rios 
and Angelo, I conclude that the interrogations violated 
Section 8(a)(1).  Regarding the background, here the 
Respondent maintained a sham collective-bargaining 
relationship with Local 445, and did not provide employ-
ees benefits included in its alleged collective-bargaining 
agreement with that Union.  Moreover, the Respondent 
committed serious unfair labor practices, including 
threats of job loss and closing, and mass discriminatory 
discharges, when the employees demonstrated support 
for Local 813. 

The information sought in the interrogations clearly 
tended to convey to employees that the Respondent in-
tended to retaliate against individual employees.  Angelo 
and Rios asked employees specifically whether they 
signed authorization cards, which could indicate their 
support for Local 813, and who had contacted that Un-
ion.  Although such an inquiry, standing alone, might not 
tend to be coercive, Rios additionally told some employ-
ees that Angelo, or Angelo and Michael, wanted to 
know, and further informed Pineda that Angelo and Mi-
chael were angry.  In addition, during the same period 
when the interrogations were taking place, Angelo 
warned Ortega that he could lose his job for criticizing 
Local 445, and Michael, in a meeting of employees, also 
threatened that if they continued their support of Local 
813 they would have to produce documents showing that 
they were legally in this country.  Thus, the employees 
would reasonably conclude that they risked discharge or 
other adverse action if they supported that local. 

The interrogations were conducted by supervisor Rios 
and by owner Angelo, who represented the highest eche-
lon of the company hierarchy.  Although the questioning 
took place at the employees’ work stations and in their 
break area, the questions were asked pointedly and re-
peatedly over the course of a number of weeks.  The em-
ployees consistently denied knowing who had called 
Local 813 as well as signing authorization cards.  Only 
Carrillo, after several interrogations, admitted signing a 
card because he believed that the Respondent would find 
out anyway.  The Respondent’s continual return to the 
subject of whether the employees had signed cards would 
tend to make reasonable employees think that the Re-
spondent intended to retaliate against them for doing so.  
The employees’ uniform reaction of concealing their own 
union activity and denying knowledge as to who had 
called Local 813 illustrates their fear that the Respondent 
would retaliate if it learned the truth.  Based on all of 
these factors, I conclude that the interrogations by Rios 
and Angelo were coercive and therefore unlawful. 
                                                                                             

                                                          

the background; (2) the nature of the information sought; (3) the iden-
tity of the questioner; and (4) the place and method of interrogation. 

Rossmore House, supra at 1178 fn. 20.  See also Sunnyvale Medical Clinic, 
277 NLRB 1217 (1985) (Rossmore House standards apply to questioning of 
employees who are not open union supporters). 

2.  Although, like my colleagues, I find that the Re-
spondent acted unlawfully by discharging seven employ-
ees after they failed to present proof of their authoriza-
tion to work legally in the United States, I do not agree 
with the backpay remedy ordered by the Board in 
A.P.R.A. Fuel Oil Buyers Group5 and by my colleagues 
in this case.  In my view, and in agreement with Member 
Cohen’s dissent on this point in A.P.R.A., the discrimina-
tees are not entitled to backpay except for periods for 
which they can establish their eligibility to work legally 
in the United States. 

At the time of their discharges, the seven employees in 
this proceeding were unable to comply with the Respon-
dent’s requirement that they furnish documents demon-
strating their legal authorization to work.  The General 
Counsel acknowledges in his brief that the discriminatees 
were undocumented aliens when they were discharged, 
and that it is unknown whether they remain undocu-
mented.  The record shows only that the Respondent 
permitted two of the employees to return to work, at the 
urging of Local 445 and after they produced documents 
accepted by the Respondent.6 

The Supreme Court held in Sure-Tan v. NLRB7 that “in 
computing backpay, the employees must be deemed ‘un-
available’ for work (and the accrual of backpay therefore 
tolled) during any period when they were not lawfully 
entitled to be present and employed in the United States.”  
In Del Rey Tortilleria v. NLRB,8 the Seventh Circuit, 
relying on Sure-Tan, determined that in such cases the 
burden is on the employee “to present evidence that he 
[was] lawfully present and eligible for employment” dur-
ing the backpay period.  The court found that this rule 
followed logically from the elementary principle that “an 
alien who had no right to be present in this country at all, 
and consequently had no right to employment, has not 
been harmed in a legal sense by the deprivation of em-
ployment to which he has no entitlement.”9 

This principle, that undocumented workers suffer no 
legal injury by losing employment for which they are not 
eligible, provides, in my view, the proper benchmark for 
the Board’s backpay remedies for alleged or admitted 
undocumented alien discriminatees, because it remedies 
violations of the Act without disregarding Federal immi-
gration statutes and the important policies underlying 
them.   Not only does an award of backpay to an un-
documented worker bestow upon him the rewards of a 
job for which he is ineligible, but it also clearly operates 

 
5 320 NLRB 408 (1995), enfd. 134 F.3d 50 (2d Cir. 1997). 
6 I agree with my colleagues, for the reasons they articulate, that the 

reinstatement of these employees, with the assistance of Local 445, 
does not demonstrate that the discharges were based on a bona fide 
desire on the part of the Respondent to verify work eligibility, rather 
than on the employees’ support for Local 813. 

7 467 U.S. 883, 903 (1984). 
8 976 F.2d 1115 (7th Cir. 1992). 
9 Id. at 1119, quoting Office Workers Local 512 v. NLRB, 795 F.2d 

705, 725 (9th Cir. 1986) (Beezer, J., dissenting in part). 
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against the Congressional purpose of controlling unau-
thorized immigration by firmly closing the workplace 
door.   In one stroke, the remedy given by the majority 
provides a windfall to the individual who has entered the 
country and worked illegally, as well as an incentive to 
others to follow the same path.  A more appropriate bal-
ance between remedying unfair labor practices and pro-
moting compliance with immigration law and policy 
would be achieved, in my view, by ordering backpay to 
discharged discriminatees only for periods for which 
they can demonstrate that they were legally authorized to 
work in the United States.  I would issue such an order in 
this proceeding. 

3.  Contrary to my colleagues, I do not find that special 
remedies are warranted in this case, either to eliminate 
the effects of the Respondent’s violations or to ensure a 
fair second election.  I do not find that requiring the Re-
spondent to provide employee names and addresses to 
Local 813 is necessary as an alternative to a Gissel bar-
gaining order where, as here, excessive delay at the 
Board may render a bargaining order unenforceable.10  In 
fact, the circumstances that militate against the Gissel 
order typically also disfavor the award of other special 
remedies.  In the present case, the passage of 7 years 
since the violations renders unrealistic and speculative 
any conclusion by the Board as to whether there remain 
any “lingering effects” that require a special remedy.   

Moreover, with respect to the objective of ensuring a 
fair second election, the special remedy of providing 
employee names and addresses to Local 813 is not well 
tailored to the circumstances of this case. The bargaining 
unit involved is small, consisting of fewer than 20 em-
ployees.  In addition, the record clearly demonstrates 
that, despite the Respondent’s unlawful denial of access 
to employees on its premises, Local 813 had ample op-
portunity for personal contact with employees.  The Re-
spondent’s facility is a garage-like structure directly 
abutting the public sidewalk, and its offices are located in 
a separate building on the same street.  Thus, employees 
are easily accessible to union organizers in the public 
area outside the Respondent’s premises.  In fact, Local 
813 representatives met with employees frequently on an 
impromptu basis prior to the first election.  Therefore, 
employee names and addresses are not necessary in order 
to provide Local 813 a method of identifying and estab-
lishing contact with unit employees. 
 

                                                           
10 The Board has granted this remedy in other recent decisions in 

which it declined to issue a Gissel bargaining order.  See Wallace In-
ternational de Puerto Rico, 328 NLRB No. 3 (1999); Cooper Hand 
Tools, 328 NLRB No. 21 (1999); Comcast Cablevision of Philadelphia, 
328 NLRB No. 74 (1999).  Participating in Comcast, I found the spe-
cial remedy unjustified in the circumstances of that case. 

APPENDIX 
NOTICE TO EMPLOYEES 

POSTED BY ORDER OF THE 
NATIONAL LABOR RELATIONS BOARD 

An Agency of the United States Government 
 

The National Labor Relations Board has found that we vio-
lated the National Labor Relations Act and has ordered us to 
post and abide by this notice. 
 

Section 7 of the Act gives employees these rights. 

To organize 
To form, join, or assist any union 
To bargain collectively through representatives 

of their own choice 
To act together for other mutual aid or protection 
To choose not to engage in any of these protected 

concerted activities. 
 

WE WILL NOT interrogate employees concerning their 
activities on behalf of Local 813, International Brother-
hood of Teamsters, AFL–CIO. 

WE WILL NOT threaten employees with discharge for 
criticizing Laborers’  International Union, Local No. 445, 
AFL–CIO. 

WE WILL NOT threaten to require employees to produce 
documentation to establish that they are legally in the 
United States in retaliation for union activities. 

WE WILL NOT threaten to close the facility if our em-
ployees choose to be represented by Teamsters Local 
813. 

WE WILL NOT hire additional employees in order to in-
fluence the outcome of the election. 

WE WILL NOT deny Teamsters Local 813 access to our 
employees and facility, while providing access to Labor-
ers Local 445. 

WE WILL NOT issue a discriminatory warning to em-
ployee Edgar Pineda because of his activities on behalf 
of Teamsters Local  813. 

WE WILL NOT in any like or related manner interfere 
with, restrain, or coerce you in the exercise of the rights 
guaranteed you by Section 7 of the Act. 

WE WILL, within 14 days from the date of the Board’s 
Order, make a conditional offer of reinstatement to 
Maynor Lima Bobadillo, Hugh Carillo, Mario Carillo, 
Joel Chinchilla, Julio Del Cid, Mario Ortiz, and Nery 
Perez, offering them full reinstatement to their former 
jobs or, if those jobs no longer exist, to substantially 
equivalent positions, without prejudice to their seniority 
or any other rights or privileges previously enjoyed, pro-
vided that they complete, within a reasonable time, INS 
Form I-9, including the presentation of the appropriate 
documents, in order to allow  us to meet our obligations 
under the Immigration Reform and Control Act of 1986. 

WE WILL make Maynor Lima Bobadillo, Hugh Carillo, 
Mario Carillo, Joel Chinchilla, Julio Del Cid, Mario Or-
tiz, and Nery Perez whole for any loss of earnings and 
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other benefits suffered as a result of their discharge, less 
any net interim earnings, plus interest. 

WE WILL, within 14 days from the date of the Board’s 
Order, remove from our files any reference to the unlaw-
ful discharges and warnings of Maynor Lima Bobadillo, 
Hugh Carillo, Mario Carillo, Joel Chinchilla, Julio Del 
Cid, Mario Ortiz, and Nery Perez, and WE WILL, within 3 
days thereafter, notify each of them in writing that this 
has been done and that the discharges and warnings will 
not be used against them in any way. 

WE WILL, in the event that Local 813 loses the pending 
election, supply Local 813, on its request made within 1 
year of the date of this Decision and Order, the full 
names and addresses of current unit employees. 
 

REGAL RECYCLING, INC. 
 

James Kearns and Laura Kriteman, Esqs., for the General 
Counsel. 

Gary Cooke, Esq. (Horowitz & Pollack, P.C.), of South Or-
ange, New Jersey, for Regal. 

Joseph Scantlebury, Esq. (Eisner, Levy, Pollack & Ratner, 
P.C.), of New York, New York, for Local 813. 

Larry Cole, Esq. (Cole & Cole, Esqs), of South Orange, New 
Jersey, for Local 445. 

DECISION 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 
STEVEN DAVIS, Administrative Law Judge. Based on charges 

and amended charges filed by Local 813, International Brother-
hood of Teamsters, AFL–CIO (Local 813), an amended con-
solidated complaint was issued against Regal Recycling Com-
pany, Inc. (Regal or Respondent) on March 31, 1993.1  

The complaint alleges essentially that Respondent interro-
gated its employees concerning their activities in behalf of Lo-
cal 813, and concerning whether they had appropriate immigra-
tion papers, because of their activities in behalf of Local 813; 
created the impression that its employees’ activities were being 
kept under surveillance; offered and promised employees 
money as an inducement to abandon their support for Local 
813; threatened its employees with discharge if they could not 
produce valid immigration papers, and threatened an employee 
with discharge for having made a disparaging remark concern-
ing Local 445; informed its employees that they must produce 
immigration papers, thereby impliedly threatening them with 
unspecified reprisals; informed its employees that they already 
had a union, and that they should not join Local 813; threatened 
                                                           

1 The docket entries are as follows: The charge in Case 29–CA–
16739 was filed on July 23, 1992. The charge in Case 29–CA–16870 
was filed on September 28, 1992. The charge and first amended charge 
and second amended charge in Case 29–CA–16951 were filed on Octo-
ber 26 and November 16, 1992, and January 28, 1993, respectively. 
The charge and first amended charge and second amended charge in 
Case 29–CA–17056 were filed on December 18, 1992, and January 8 
and 28, 1993, respectively. The charge in Case 29–CA–17131 was filed 
on January 28, 1993. Respondent’s answer denied knowledge or 
information as to the filing and service of the charges. The charges bear 
proper filing stamps. Original return receipts received in evidence show 
proper service on Respondent. A consolidated complaint was issued on 
September 30, 1992, and an order further consolidating cases, consoli-
dated complaint and notice of hearing was issued on February 26, 1993. 

its employees with the close of the business and cessation of 
operations; offered and promised its employees benefits if they 
accepted Local 445, and voted for it in the Board election; 
granted Local 445 unrestricted access to its facility and em-
ployees, for the purpose of campaigning and discussing issues 
related to a Board election, while denying agents of Local 813 
such access for such purposes; used its car to attempt to run 
over an agent of Local 813; hired about 15 employees to artifi-
cially increase and pack the size of the voting unit for the pur-
pose of influencing the results of the election; threatened its 
employees with discharge if they did not vote for Local 445; 
prevented an employee from voting in the election by directing 
him to leave the voting area prior to casting a ballot; and physi-
cally assaulting an employee, and imposed more arduous and 
less desirable conditions of employment on him. 

The complaint also alleges that Respondent discharged seven 
named employees on July 28, 1992, and issued warnings to 
another employee, Edgar Pineda, and thereafter discharged him 
on December 10, 1992. 

The complaint further alleges that Respondent unlawfully re-
fused to recognize and bargain with Local 813, pursuant to its 
demand for recognition, and alternatively requests a bargaining 
order remedy based on Respondent’s serious and substantial 
unfair labor practices which preclude the holding of a fair elec-
tion. 

On March 12, 1993, the Regional Director issued a report on 
objections and challenges, consolidating for hearing the unfair 
labor practice cases, discussed above, with objections, filed by 
Local 813, which essentially parallel the alleged unfair labor 
practices. At an election conducted on October 30, 1992, of the 
32 eligible voters, 4 votes were cast for Local 813, 2 votes were 
cast for Local 445, 1 vote was void, and 24 ballots were chal-
lenged. Those 24 determinative challenged ballots were also 
consolidated for hearing.  

Respondent’s answer denied the material allegations of the 
complaint, and on May 5, 6, 7, 10, 20, and 21, and on June 14, 
1993, a hearing was held before me in Brooklyn, New York. 

Upon the evidence presented in this proceeding, and my ob-
servation of the demeanor of the witnesses and after considera-
tion of the briefs filed by the General Counsel, Local 813, and 
Respondent, I make the following 

FINDINGS OF FACT 

I. JURISDICTION 
Respondent, a New York corporation, having its office and 

place of business at 172–06 Douglas Avenue, Jamaica, New 
York, has been engaged in the operation of a recycling transfer 
station at which it sorts various recyclable materials and then 
transports them to various facilities to be recycled. During the 
past year, Respondent has purchased and received at its Ja-
maica facility fuel, machinery, recyclable materials, and other 
products valued in excess of $50,000, directly from points out-
side New York State. 

Respondent admits, and I find, that it is an employer engaged 
in commerce within the meaning of Section 2(2), (6), and (7) of 
the Act. Respondent further admits, and I also find that Local 
813 and Local 445 are labor organizations within the meaning 
of Section 2(5) of the Act. 
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II. THE ALLEGED UNFAIR LABOR PRACTICES 

A. The Organizational Campaign of Local 813 
Respondent operates a garbage transfer station at which gar-

bage trucks dump garbage, which is then spread by Respon-
dent’s heavy machinery. Employees then pick up recyclable 
materials and sort them into appropriate containers. 

In about late June 1992,2 employee Edgar Pineda contacted 
Local 813, and expressed interest in joining that union. A meet-
ing took place on July 13 at a park nearby Respondent’s shop. 
Present were Local 813 Vice President and Delegate James 
Murray, and Jerome Jackson, business agent, and employees 
Maynor Lima Bobadillo, Carmelo Calderon, Hugo Carrillo, 
Luis Carrillo, Mario Carrillo, Helbert Chinchilla, Joel Mancilla 
Chinchilla, Julio Del Cid, Dario Garcia, Norman Ortega, Mario 
Ortiz, Nery Perez, and Edgar Pineda.  

The union agents distributed authorization cards to the em-
ployees. The cards designated Local 813 as their collective-
bargaining representative. The 13 employees read and signed 
the cards, and returned them to Agent Jackson. 

On July 17, Local 813 Agents Jackson and Murray went to 
the office of Royal Carting, a company owned by the principals 
of Respondent, and located on the same block as Respondent. 
Jackson was familiar with Royal as Local 813 has a collective-
bargaining agreement with that company. Respondent does not 
have an office on its premises, and the principals of Respondent 
use Royal’s office as their office. The owners of Respondent 
are Angelo Reali, Michael Reali II, Paul Reali Jr., and Theresa 
Reali.  

The union agents met Angelo, Paul, and Pete Reali, pre-
sented them with a recognition agreement, and told them that 
they had signed authorizations from a majority of Regal’s em-
ployees. Angelo refused to sign the recognition agreement, 
saying that the Employer already had an agreement with Local 
445. Murray began to show photocopies of the cards to Angelo 
Reali, and he believes that Reali saw the first two—Ortega and 
Pineda. Reali then told the two agents to get off his property. 

B. Respondent’s Response to the Organizing Drive 

1. The alleged interference 

a. Respondent’s contacts with employees 
Employee Joel Chinchilla testified that shortly after he 

signed a card for Local 813 on July 13, a supervisor named 
Ronald asked him if he signed a card for Local 813, and asked 
other workers who called the Union and why they did so. Chin-
chilla denied knowing anything about the Union, and the other 
employees denied knowing who called the Union.3 Chinchilla 
also stated that admitted Supervisor David Rios told them that 
Angelo wanted to know who called the Union.  

Employee Julio Del Cid testified that about 4 to 5 days after 
the workers signed cards for Local 813 he was asked by An-
gelo, through translator and Supervisor Rios, if he signed a 
card. Del Cid did not reply. Del Cid stated that Angelo then 
spoke with all the other employees. 

Del Cid further stated that the following day Rios ap-
proached certain employees while they were eating and told 
                                                           

                                                          

2 All dates hereafter are in 1992 unless otherwise stated. 
3 I make no findings concerning this conversation with Ronald. 

There was only vague testimony concerning Ronald’s supervisory 
status. 

them that he knew that they had signed cards. The employees 
did not respond. Employee Nery Perez stated that Rios told 
them that he already knew who had signed cards, but then 
asked those present who called the Union and who had signed 
cards for it. The workers replied that they did not know. 

Employee Pineda testified that on about July 20, 1 week after 
the workers signed cards for Local 813, Rios began telling him 
that Angelo and Michael Reali wanted to know who called 
Local 813, and that they were angry.4 Pineda replied that he did 
not know who called the Union. Pineda heard Rios ask the 
same question of employees Carmello Calderon, Julio Del Cid, 
and Joel Chinchilla. They also professed ignorance. Pineda 
further testified that Rios asked him that question once or twice 
a week, from that time through August. Pineda continued to 
deny knowing who called Local 813. 

Employee Joel Chinchilla testified that Rios asked him who 
called the Union, saying that he was inquiring because Angelo 
wanted to know. He did not testify that Rios said that the bosses 
were angry. 

Employee Hugo Carrillo first testified that he did not speak 
to any managers regarding his signing a card for Local 813. 
Then he testified that after he signed a card for Local 813, Rios 
continuously asked him whether he signed such a card and he 
denied doing so. Finally, about 8 days after he signed the card, 
Rios again asked if he signed the card, and Carrillo admitted 
doing so. Rios did not say anything in answer. 

The Meeting with Local 445 
At about that time, on about July 20, Rios gathered all the 

employees for a meeting with Raphael Griffin, a Local 445 
representative. Pineda testified that Griffin told the workers that 
they did not have to join Local 813 because they were already 
members of Local 445. Pineda answered that Griffin was 
wrong because he had never signed a card for Local 445, and 
that there was never a union in the shop. The other workers said 
the same thing. 

Employee Joel Chinchilla testified that at that meeting, An-
gelo, Michael, and Peter Reali were present. He essentially 
corroborated Pineda’s version of the meeting, but added that 
employee Norman Ortega was outspoken thereat, telling those 
assembled, in Spanish, that he once worked at a Local 445 
shop, and that that union was not helpful, adding that when he 
was discharged Griffin avoided him. Chinchilla observed An-
gelo asking Rios what Ortega was saying. Shortly thereafter, 
Ortega was called to the side, and Angelo said something to 
Rios. During the rest of the meeting Ortega remained silent. 

Employee Mario Ortiz essentially corroborated Ortega’s 
comment at that meeting, and stated that he overheard Angelo 
telling Ortega that Ortega could lose his job for criticizing Lo-
cal 445.5 

 
4 Respondent argues that Pineda’s testimony must be discredited be-

cause he first testified that following the July 13 meeting, he did not 
speak to any manager concerning Local 813, nor did he speak with 
Rios about the Union. I reject this contention. Pineda testified through a 
Spanish interpreter, and there apparently was some confusion due to 
that. I credit Pineda’s testimony in this regard. He gave testimony 
which was consistent with other employees’ testimony concerning 
material subjects. In addition, his quote, infra, of Michael Reali that 
employees should think with their “hearts and minds” was admitted by 
Reali. 

5 I do not agree with Respondent’s argument in brief that Ortiz’ affi-
davit statement, that Angelo Reali told Ortega that “he could even fire 
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Employee Nery Perez testified that Griffin told them that 
Local 813 would not keep the promises it was making to the 
workers, and that the employees should not think of joining 
Local 813 because Local 445 represented them. When asked 
why the workers did not see Griffin before this, Griffin blamed 
Respondent.  

Employee Del Cid testified that at that meeting, at which 
only Angelo was present, Griffin told the men that he could 
obtain raises and health benefits for them. Employee Hugo 
Carrillo asked Griffin where he was when Carrillo was sick, 
and needed the Union’s help. Angelo asked Rios what Carrillo 
was saying, and upon being told, told Carrillo that he could 
have asked Angelo for the money for a doctor’s visit. Del Cid 
further stated that he saw employee Ortega speak but he could 
not recall what he said. 

Employee Del Cid further testified that Griffin told the em-
ployees that Local 445 had a contract with the Employer, and 
that Local 445 could obtain medical benefits for the men. He 
told them that they could not sign a card for another union. Del 
Cid asked Griffin why he was at the shop then and not before. 
Griffin answered that it was the owner’s fault for not advising 
the union earlier that these workers had been hired. 

The Meeting with Michael Reali 
Local 813 Agent Jackson testified that on July 21 he was 

outside Regal’s premises and was asked by the workers to ac-
company them as they had decided to meet with the owners. He 
walked with all the card signers to Regal’s office.  

Joel Chinchilla testified that the workers requested the meet-
ing because they no longer wanted to lie to the Realis about 
their interest in Local 813. Chinchilla testified that the men told 
Rios to tell Michael Reali that they wanted to become members 
of Local 813, and that they did not want Local 445. Michael 
shrugged his shoulders, told the men that that was not a party, 
and that they must return to work. 

Jackson testified that Pineda and Luis Carrillo told Paul and 
Peter Reali that the men wanted nothing to do with Local 445, 
and that they wanted the owners to deal with Local 813. Ac-
cording to Jackson, Paul said that he would take it into consid-
eration. The men then returned to work. 

Pineda testified that only Michael Reali was present at the 
meeting, and that Paul and Peter were not present. According to 
Pineda, Michael told the men that they already had Local 445, 
and  reminded them that he helped many of them by lending 
them money, and told them that Regal could not pay Local 
813’s benefits if that Union was selected. Michael added that if 
Local 813 was selected, he would close the shop because he 
couldn’t afford to pay the Union’s benefits. Michael also told 
them to think hard with their “hearts and minds” as to what 
action they intended to take. All the assembled workers told 
Michael that they wanted to become members of Local 813. 

One or 2 days later, Jackson visited Regal’s office, and told 
Paul Reali not to let this matter “get out of hand.” Jackson sug-
gested that Reali call Martin Adelstein, the secretary-treasurer 
of Local 813, and perhaps they could work something out with 
Local 1034, a sister union to Local 813, resolving the matter by 
perhaps having the employees be represented by Local 1034.6 
                                                                                             

                                                                                            

him for having said such a thing,” is inconsistent with his hearing tes-
timony. 

6 I reject Respondent’s argument that this statement indicated that 
Local 813 had no interest in representing the employees, and was there-

The Meeting Called by Respondent 
Employee Joel Chinchilla testified that Rios gathered the 

employees for a meeting. Angelo and Michael Reali were pre-
sent. Michael told them that “we are like family to you.” He 
asked the workers to remember all the favors the Company did 
for them, such as lending money to them. He told them to think 
carefully with their hearts and minds, and not to do anything 
that would be contrary to the employees and the Company. He 
asked them why they wanted Local 813, and also told them that 
they would have to bring in proof that they were in the United 
States legally.  

Employee Hugo Carrillo testified that at that meeting, Mi-
chael told them to think with their heads and hearts because 
they were a family. He reminded them that Respondent had lent 
money to the employees, and gave them turkeys. He told them 
that they already had a union, Local 445, and that they would 
have benefits. Michael added that they would need a green card 
to continue working. He asked why they signed cards for Local 
813, and no one responded. Carrillo stated that Michael said 
nothing negative about Local 813. It should be noted that 
Carrillo first testified that he did not speak with any managers 
regarding Local 813. 

Employee Mario Ortiz testified that at that meeting, Michael 
Reali told the workers that they are a family. He asked them to 
think with their heads and hearts about what they were doing, 
adding that if they continue, he could close down the shop. 
Michael did not speak about their signing cards. He said that he 
needed to see work permits or green cards by the following 
day. It should be noted that Ortiz stated that no managers spoke 
to him regarding Local 813, specifically stating that neither 
Michael nor Angelo Reali spoke to him about that union. 

Del Cid also testified that about 1 week after the employees 
signed the cards for Local 813, they were summoned by Rios to 
a meeting with Angelo and Michael Reali at the office. Michael 
told them that what they were doing is wrong. He asked them to 
think what they are doing and whether they want to “be with us 
or 813.” He then told them that they would have problems, and 
that if they “pay attention” to Local 813, he would ask for their 
“papers,” and “green card.” He further advised them not to pay 
attention to Local 813, which he called “bad,” and predicted 
that Local 813 would only make promises to them without 
helping them. Michael Reali reminded them that Respondent 
had helped them in the past by giving them turkeys on Thanks-
giving Day. Del Cid recalled that employees spoke at that meet-
ing, but he could not recall what they said. 

Employee Nery Perez testified that at that meeting, Michael 
told them to think what they are doing—think with your mind 
and heart. He reminded the workers they Respondent had been 
good to them, by giving turkeys at Thanksgiving, and making 
loans when needed. Michael said that the Company is their 
friends and that what they were doing was wrong, like taking 
their food from them. The employees did not respond.  

Respondent’s vice president, Michael Reali, testified that 
only one group meeting was held with employees. He stated 
that in July it came to his attention that the men were not work-
ing conscientiously as they had in the past, but were sitting and 
talking, and not paying attention to their work, which was dan-
gerous with such heavy machinery. He asked Rios to call all the 
workers to his office. 

 
fore not entitled to a bargaining order. Nothing came of the conversa-
tion, and Local 813 continued to represent the workers. 
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Reali stated that at the meeting he told the men that whatever 
was going on was disrupting his business. He told them that he 
had always treated each employee as a family member. He told 
them that if they think with their minds and hearts, they would 
make the right decision concerning “whatever is going on as far 
as activity and whatever causing them to deter them from 
work.” He told them to do whatever they wanted, but that 
whatever their decision was, they should just get back to work. 
Reali denied mentioning either Local 813 or 445. He further 
denied that anyone asked any questions at the meeting, and 
there was no mention of Thanksgiving turkeys.7 Reali also 
denied threatening anyone with discharge, or promising any 
benefits.  

b. The alleged attempt to run down a Local 813 agent 
The complaint, as amended at the hearing, alleges that in Oc-

tober 1992, a member of the Reali family, first name unknown, 
in the presence of employees, used his car to attempt to run 
over an agent of Local 813.8 Business Agent Jackson testified 
that he was at Respondent’s premises frequently since he repre-
sented employees at other companies, located on the same 
block, who were represented by Local 813. He stated that each 
time he walked on the sidewalk in front of Regal, he was fol-
lowed closely by one of the owners, and told by them to get off 
their property. 

Jackson stated that one day he stood on the sidewalk in front 
of Regal’s premises with his back to the street. As he spoke to a 
contractor who was repairing the sidewalk, suddenly the con-
tractor grabbed him and pulled him out of the driveway. At that 
moment a Jeep pulled into the driveway, nearly hitting Jackson. 
The driver told Jackson that he was standing in an active 
driveway. Jackson threatened him with violence, and the inci-
dent ended. Jackson stated that he saw Regal’s employees 
standing at the door. He could not identify them, and no em-
ployee testified that they saw this incident. The contractor was 
not identified and was not called to testify. 

Jackson stated that he did not know the driver’s identity, but 
he believes that he is one of the Reali “boys,” who he saw 
many times at the Reali’s office, but with whom he transacted 
no business. Jackson stated that he recognized the Jeep, which 
was always parked in front of the office. 

Analysis and Discussion 

Alleged Interference with Employees 
Based on the uncontradicted testimony of Local 813 agents 

Jackson and Murray, I find that on July 17, Respondent pos-
sessed knowledge of its employees’ activities in behalf of Local 
813. On that date, the two union agents told Respondent’s offi-
cials that a majority of their employees had signed cards for 
that union.  

The Interrogations of Employees 
The evidence also supports a finding that within a few days 

of Respondent’s becoming aware that its employees had en-
gaged in union activities, Supervisor Rios engaged in extensive 
interrogation of the workers. Thus, employees Joel Chinchilla, 
Perez, Pineda, and Hugo Carrillo testified, and I find, that Rios 
asked them if they called the Union or if they signed a card for 
                                                           

7 Reali conceded that Respondent distributes turkeys at Thanksgiv-
ing. 

8 The complaint originally stated that Paul Reali was the driver. 

Local 813. Further, Perez and Pineda testified that they heard 
Rios ask other employees those questions.  

I also credit the uncontradicted testimony of Del Cid that 
Angelo Reali, through Rios, asked him if he signed a card for 
Local 813. I further credit the uncontradicted testimony of the 
employees concerning Rios’ questioning. Neither Angelo Reali 
nor Rios testified. The employees testified in a consistent man-
ner concerning Rios’ pattern of interrogation and inquiries, in 
which he sought to learn the identity of the person who called 
Local 813, and who had signed cards. The fact that he was 
quoted as saying that the Realis wanted to learn this informa-
tion supports a finding that Angelo Reali individually partici-
pated in the interrogation of Del Cid.  

In addition, the fact that they later decided to admit that they 
had signed cards for Local 813 because they no longer wanted 
to maintain their denials that they signed cards, lends support to 
a finding that they were asked these questions. 

I find that the questioning of the employees by Rios and An-
gelo Reali reasonably tended to restrain, coerce, or interfere 
with their rights to engage in union activities. Rossmore House, 
269 NLRB 1176 (1964). No reason for the questioning was 
given to the employees, and no assurances against reprisals was 
made. The responses to the questions, either denials or no re-
sponse, supports a finding that, from the employees’ perspec-
tive, the questioning was coercive. 

The Creation of the Impression of Surveillance 
I also credit the testimony of Del Cid and Perez that Rios 

told them that he knew who had signed cards for Local 813. 
However, I do not find, as alleged in the complaint, that this 
constitutes the creation of the impression of surveillance of the 
employees’ union activities.  

In order to find such a violation, I would have to find that the 
employees “would reasonably assume from the statement in 
question that their union activities have been placed under sur-
veillance.” United Charter Service, 306 NLRB 150 (1992).  

The signing of the cards took place off the company prem-
ises. The location was specifically changed from a restaurant to 
a park so that Respondent would not observe their activity. The 
comment is also at odds with the statements made immediately 
thereafter. Thus, it must have been obvious to the employees 
that Respondent could not know who signed cards if Supervisor 
Rios immediately asked the employees whether they signed 
such cards. Their continued denials of having signed the cards 
lends support to a finding that they could not reasonably have 
believed that Respondent knew who had signed.  

In addition, no information was given to the employees as to 
who, specifically, had signed cards for Local 813. I will accord-
ingly recommend that this allegation be dismissed. LRM Pack-
aging, 308 NLRB 829, 832 (1992). 

The Meetings with Employees 
The complaint also alleges that Angelo Reali threatened 

Norman Ortega with discharge for criticizing Local 445 at a 
meeting at Respondent’s premises. I credit the testimony of 
Joel Chinchilla and Ortiz that Ortega excoriated Griffin and 
Local 445 at the meeting. I further credit Ortiz’ quote of An-
gelo Reali that Ortega could lose his job for criticizing Local 
445. That constitutes an unlawful threat of discharge for failing 
to support favored Local 445. Colonie Hill Ltd., 212 NLRB 
747, 752 (1974), in which an employee was discharged because 
he was a “troublesome threat to [a favored union’s] continued 
representation of” the employees. 
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The complaint alleges that on about July 20, Angelo Reali, 
offered money to employees to induce their abandonment of 
support for Local 813. This apparently refers to the meeting at 
which Griffin told the men that Local 445 would provide health 
benefits, and Carrillo mentioned that he did not know of that 
Union’s existence when he was sick and needed help. Angelo 
thereupon remarked that Carrillo could have asked him (An-
gelo) for the money for a doctor’s visit. I cannot find that that 
statement violated the Act. It had no reference to Local 813, 
was not an inducement to employees to abandon that union, and 
was simply an innocuous remark that if Local 445 was not 
available to assist, Respondent would have helped the em-
ployee financially. There was evidence that Respondent did 
help its employees through loans. Such loans have not been 
alleged as unfair labor practices. Accordingly, I find no viola-
tion in Angelo Reali’s statement.  

There was some confusion among the General Counsel’s 
witnesses concerning who was present at the meetings they 
attended with Respondent’s officials. Regarding the meeting 
initiated by the men, Local 813 Agent Jackson testified that 
Paul and Peter Reali were present. However, Joel Chinchilla 
and Pineda testified that only Michael Reali was present.  

Regarding the content of the meeting, I find that the version 
offered by Jackson and Chinchilla, and part of the version of 
Pineda is what actually occurred. According to that version, the 
sole purpose of the meeting was to tell Respondent’s officials 
that the men were interested in Local 813 and not Local 445, 
and they did so at that meeting.  

Pineda’s version of the meeting with Michael Reali was con-
sistent with the meeting which was conducted later, at Respon-
dent’s direction. I credit the testimony of employees Joel Chin-
chilla and Hugo Carrillo that at that meeting, Michael Reali 
asked them why they signed cards for Local 813, and told them 
that they would have to show proof that they were in the United 
States legally. I also credit the testimony of Del Cid, who also 
testified that Michael Reali told them if they “paid attention” to 
Local 813, they would have problems, and would be asked for 
their green [immigration] cards. Del Cid also stated that Reali 
said that Local 813 was “bad.” I further credit Ortiz’ testimony 
that Michael Reali told the men that he would close the shop if 
they continue, apparently with their union activities, and that he 
also asked to see their green cards the following day.  

Employees Joel Chinchilla, Hugo Carrillo, Del Cid, Ortiz, 
and Perez testified similarly about that meeting. I credit the 
employees’ testimony essentially because their versions were 
essentially similar, and mutually consistent. While it is true that 
only Ortiz mentioned that Reali threatened to close the shop, 
that does not mean that he did not make that statement. They 
heard and remembered different parts of the same conversation.  

The employees testified similarly that Reali told the workers 
that they are a family, reminding them that he did favors for 
them, such as lending them money, and giving them 
Thanksgiving turkeys, and urged them to think with their 
“hearts and minds” about what they were doing. 

Their testimony is supported by the fact that Michael Reali 
conceded that he held one meeting with employees, at which he 
told them that he always treated them as family members, and 
urged them to think with their minds and hearts concerning 
their activities, and they would make the right decision.  

In this respect, I reject Reali’s testimony that the meeting 
was related solely to his concern that employees were not being 
productive. That may have been true, and he attributed their 

lack of productivity to their preoccupation with Local 813, but 
nevertheless used the opportunity to unlawfully interrogate and 
threaten them concerning their union activities. 

I accordingly find that at this meeting Michael Reali interro-
gated employees by asking them why they signed cards for 
Local 813, and threatened to close the shop if they selected 
Local 813. 

I further find that Respondent unlawfully threatened to de-
mand to see their immigration papers. Although employers 
have a right to see such documentation, this request was made 
in a threatening manner in the context of a meeting at which 
Respondent sought to unlawfully coerce them into not support-
ing Local 813, the union of their choice. Reali specifically told 
them that if they paid attention to Local 813, he would ask for 
their papers. 

The Attempt to Run Down an Agent of Local 813 
The complaint alleges that Respondent attempted to run 

down Local 813 Agent Jackson. As set forth above, Jackson 
stated that a Jeep nearly hit him as he stood in front of Respon-
dent’s facility.  

I cannot find a violation based on the evidence received. 
Jackson testified that he saw the Jeep parked in front of the 
office. Assuming that this establishes a connection between the 
Jeep and Respondent, which itself is highly speculative since 
no specific identification of the Jeep, through license plates or 
other description was made, and Jackson testified that employ-
ees park their cars in the same area, nevertheless no definite 
link between Respondent and the driver has been proven.   

No identification of the driver was made. It should be noted 
that the complaint originally stated that Paul Reali was the 
driver, but the complaint was amended during Jackson’s testi-
mony to state that a member of the Reali family, first name 
unknown,  committed the violation. While it is true that Jack-
son stated that he believed that the driver was one of the Reali 
“boys” who he saw regularly at the office, he conceded having 
no business with him. 

The names of the owners and officers of Respondent, An-
gelo, Michael, Peter, and Paul Reali, were set forth in the com-
plaint, and their relationship to Respondent was admitted. Jack-
son named none of those persons as the driver.  

Assuming I find that a relative of Respondent’s owner com-
mitted the violation, I would also have to find that that person 
acted as an agent of Respondent.  
 

Family relationship is one of the facts to be considered in de-
termining apparent authority and, when viewed in the context 
of other factors, may be sufficient for a finding of agency 
based on apparent authority. However, it would be an error to 
hold that nonemployee relatives of an agent are per se agents 
of an employer. [Laborers Local 270, 285 NLRB 1026, 1028 
(1987).]    

 

There is no evidence that this individual acted in any respect 
in behalf of Respondent. Jackson testified that he has seen him 
many times in Respondent’s dispatcher’s office, located at 
Royal, but notwithstanding that Local 813 has a collective-
bargaining relationship with Royal, Jackson has conducted no 
business with this man.  

There is no evidence that this unnamed person had actual au-
thority to act for Respondent. Nor is there any evidence that 
Respondent held him out to the employees or to the public as 
one of Respondent’s representatives. The only possible argu-
ment that the General Counsel could make is that, this individ-
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ual was continuing Respondent’s policy of keeping Jackson 
away from its property. As set forth above, Jackson testified 
that whenever he walked on the street in front of Respondent’s 
property, one of Respondent’s owners closely followed him, 
and told him to get off its property.  

However, one cannot assume from Respondent’s direction of 
Jackson to get off its property that the driver of the Jeep was 
thereby authorized to hit him with his car. 

Based on the lack of identification of the driver and the vehi-
cle, the absence of any showing of agency on the part of the 
driver, and the fact that other witnesses to the incident, the con-
tractor and the employees, were not called to testify, I find that 
no violation of the Act has been established. 

The Alleged Assistance to Local 445 
The complaint alleges, and the answer admits, that from mid-

July until October 30, 1992, Respondent granted Local 445 
unrestricted access to its facility and employees for the purpose 
of campaigning and discussing issues related to the October 30 
election, while during such period denied access to agents of 
Local 813.9  

Such denial of access to a campaigning union has been found 
to be in violation of Section 8(a)(2) of the Act, and I so find. 
Ella Industries, 295 NLRB 976, 979 (1989); Castaways Man-
agement, 285 NLRB 954, 970 (1987). 

c. The alleged packing of the unit 
The complaint alleges that on various dates in August, Sep-

tember, and October, Respondent hired about 15 employees to 
artificially increase and pack the size of the voting unit for the 
purpose of influencing the results of the election, in an effort to 
assure that a majority of employees did not vote for Local 813 
in the election. 

Respondent denies the allegation, and asserts that the em-
ployees were properly hired due to business considerations. 

The petition was filed by Local 813 on July 15. Thereafter, a 
Stipulated Election Agreement was executed by all parties and 
approved by the Regional Director on October 9. The Agree-
ment provided that those eligible to vote included employees 
who were employed during the payroll period ending October 
7. The election was conducted on October 30. 

Respondent’s payroll records reveal the following:  
On July 15, the date the petition was filed, and which was 

also the date the payroll period ended, Respondent employed 
19 unit employees.10 The unit status of three other employees is 
in question. Thus, there was testimony that Antonio Costa was 
a supervisor. David Baksh and David Gustman are pickers, but 
are salaried, unlike the other unit employees who are hourly 
paid.  
 
 

 
 
                                                                                                                     

9 Respondent’s answer did not respond to those allegations of the 
complaint, and they accordingly were deemed to be admitted to be true. 
Sec. 102.20 of the Board’s Rules and Regulations. 

10 They are Abdool, Awan, Calderon, H. Carrillo, L. Carrillo, M. 
Carrillo, Helbert Chinchilla, Joel Mancilla Chinchilla, Del Cid, Garcia, 
M. Lima, Moran, Nunez, Ortega, Ortiz, Perez, Pineda, Veluppil, and 
Woolard. I have not included Balkissoon, Brown, Kawala, Mahadeo, 
Minas, Munoz, Carlos Sanchez, or Cesar Sanchez because, although 
they are listed on the payroll, they worked no hours in that or succeed-
ing weeks. 

Week       Number         Hours           Avg. Hours    Employees11 
Ending     of Hourly      worked by    per hourly      Working 
Date12      Employees     Hourly         Employee       Less than 
                                       Employees                          32 hours 
                                                                                   per week 
 

9/19/91         17              675-20513 40/12    0 
10/16 16             639/78 40/5    0 
11/13 15             600/133 40/9    0 
12/11 14             551/107 39//8    1 
2/12/92 15             600/134 40/9    0 
3/11 17             653/137 38/8    214 
5/15 18             658/136 37/8    1 
5/13 21             733/119 35/6    1 
6/10 22             820/164 37/7    3 
7/1 20             713/98 36/5    3 
7/8 19             764/14 40/.7    1 
7/15 19             751/103 40/5    0 
7/22 19             774/77 41/4    1 
7/29 19             605/26 32/1    8 
8/5 10             398/36 40/4    0 
8/12 12             400/52 33/4    0 
8/19 13             480/64 37/5    2 
8/26 13             506/39 39/3    0 
9/2 16             609/59 38/4    1 
9/9 24             763/58 32/2    815 
9/16 27             780/31 29/1  1216 
9/23 28              867/96 31/3    8 
9/30 28              885/50 32/2  10 
10/14 27              850/42 32/2  11 
10/21 27              878/51 33/2  10 
10/28 29              918/20 32/.7  12 
11/4 29              945/28 33/1  10 
11/11 29              971/75 34/3    9 
 

Michael Reali testified that Respondent’s busy season is the 
summer, from June through October or November, when most 
construction takes place. During those months, contractors 
utilize containers to dump construction debris, which is depos-
ited at Regal’s facility.  

Reali explained that during the busy period in 1992, Respon-
dent had more business than in the comparable period in 1991, 
because the price for dumping raw garbage to its customers 
dropped from an average of $71 per ton in 1991 to about $57 
per ton in 1992. Accordingly, Respondent had to remain open 
longer hours due to the greater demand, in order to make the 
same amount of money it did in 1991. Employee Pineda testi-
fied that in late July 1992 the amount of work at Respondent’s 
facility increased, but that there was about the same amount of 
work in the summer of 1992 as there was in prior years. Pineda 
further stated that in past years, Respondent did not hire addi-
tional employees for the busy, summer season. 

 
11 Employees Baksh and Gustman have not been included in this 

analysis. There is some dispute about their status. Although they were 
identified as pickers, they were salaried employees until September 16, 
1992, when they became hourly workers. 

12 These payroll records are all the records received in evidence. 
13 The two numbers represent regular hours/overtime hours. The to-

tal hours have been rounded off to the nearest hour. 
14 Five employees worked 32 hours. 
15 Six of the eight were hired that week. 
16 Two of the twelve were hired that week. 
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Most of the new employees hired were employed as pickers. 
Reali stated that the picker selects items from the garbage 
which can be recycled, and places them in separate containers. 
The pickers also sweep and clean the area, and surrounding 
streets, plant trees, paint the facility, run errands for the me-
chanics, act as welder’s assistants, and operate the scale. 

Local 813 Agent Jackson testified that beginning in early 
August, he stood outside the facility and counted the employees 
daily. He conceded that he could not see the rear loading dock, 
but could see virtually all the employees. He counted from 14 
to 18 each day, including many he had not seen before that 
time, and there were times that employees were present one day 
but absent the next. He observed them performing picking jobs, 
but in August and September, he saw other employees just 
sweeping. He stated that regular pickers had swept in the past, 
but those he observed sweeping did no picking. Jackson con-
ceded, however, that after watching them sweep for 1 hour, he 
did not know what other jobs they performed.  

Pineda testified that the new pickers swept the street. He 
stated that prior to their hire, no one was ever assigned to 
sweeping, and no one swept outside the facility before these 
new hires. Pineda conceded, however, that in 1991, pickers 
swept the facility when a garbage truck picks up garbage, and 
when a truck is loaded. He further stated that these new pickers 
swept the office, the inside shop, the diesel-fill area, and the 
yard, street, and sidewalk.  

Pineda testified that the new sweepers began work as he left 
work at 1 p.m. Employee Del Cid stated that he saw pickers 
who began work before the regular 6 a.m. start for the regular 
employees. Del Cid also testified that he and other pickers 
washed trucks among their other duties. Employee Hugo Car-
rillo stated that pickers paint containers, but swept only the area 
where they worked. Employee Joel Chinchilla also painted 
containers. Chinchilla also stated that from November 1991 
through late July 1992, he saw pickers sweeping every day, 
when the trucks were loaded. Employee Ortiz stated that he 
observed pickers who began work before 6 a.m., and those who 
began work after 2 p.m. He further stated that he has seen pick-
ers wash trucks, paint containers, and sweep the building he 
works in. 

Employees who testified for General Counsel testified that 
they knew some of the challenged voters, but did not know or 
remember others. Pineda testified that in the week before the 
election about 18 pickers were employed, but following the 
election only about 5 employees were working, including 1 
machine operator and 4 pickers. Nevertheless, Respondent’s 
payroll records show substantial numbers of employees on the 
payroll following the election. 

Analysis 
The Board has held that an employer’s hire of a substantial 

number of employees in order to “pack the unit” and dilute the 
union’s strength in a Board-conducted election violates the Act. 
Einhorn Enterprises, 279 NLRB 576, 596 (1986). The ques-
tion, which frequently turns upon circumstantial evidence, is 
why were the disputed individuals were added. Golden Fan 
Inn, 281 NLRB 226, 228, 229 (1986). 

Here, 20 employees were challenged by Local 813: Hasan 
Abdool, David Baksh, Roy Dortch, Richard Ferraro, Julio Flo-
res, Jose Gomez, David Gustman, Carlos Hernandez, Alex 
Martinez, Damon Mason, Derrick Mason, Alejandro Montalvo, 
Roberto Montalvo, Dimas Nunez, Roberto Peraza, Jose Pina, 
Ahmed Sagheer, Nelson Toledo, Jose Toribio, and Giro Valen-

tin. All were identified by Michael Reali as being unit employ-
ees, mostly pickers. All except Abdool, Baksh, and Gustman 
were hired from August 14 to September 10, 1992.17 

An analysis of the above payroll records demonstrates a 
change in Respondent’s employment practices. We are con-
cerned with Respondent’s employment history during August 
and September 1992 through the election on October 30.  

In a comparable period in 1991, Respondent employed 17 
and 16 employees, respectively, on September 19 and October 
16, 1991. Significantly, they were all full-timers working 40 
hours per week, and worked a total of 880 and 717 hours, re-
spectively, with substantial overtime in both weeks.  

In contrast, from September 9 through the pay period ending 
November 4, 1992, Respondent employed a steadily increasing 
number of employees, from 24 to 29, who worked an average 
of about 32 hours per week, proportionately less overtime, and 
during which, from 8 to 12 employees worked less than 32 
hours per week.  

Thus, in 1991, Respondent employed fewer employees, all of 
whom worked full time, with greater overtime. In 1992, its 
complement consisted of 12 more employees, who individually 
worked fewer hours and less overtime. Thus, in 1992, Respon-
dent employed more employees, many of whom were part-
timers, who worked fewer hours. 

Respondent explains this change in practice by asserting that 
it was required to stay open later due to a greater demand for its 
services, and therefore had to employ more employees to work 
longer hours. According to Reali, the demand for its services 
occurred in its busy season in 1992, which began in June.  

However, the hires of these additional employees did not be-
gin until mid-August, with the vast majority being hired in 
early September. From June through August 26, 1992, Respon-
dent employed about 10 fewer employees than it employed 
beginning on September 9, 1992. Accordingly, if in fact Re-
spondent had a need for more employees during the busy sea-
son in 1992, it would have begun hiring them in June. How-
ever, the number of its employees remained steady, from 19 to 
22 in that period, and would have remained at that level had the 
7 employees not been discharged in late July. Instead, the new 
employees were hired later, in mid-August and September, well 
into the busy season, which runs only to October or November. 
I find that the additional hires were clearly made in order to 
influence the outcome of the election. 

In addition, there was evidence that a substantial number of 
the pickers were performing more sweeping work than had 
been done in the past.  

In this regard, it is noted that had Respondent needed the 
services of so many workers in June, July, or even August, it 
would not have chosen late July to review the immigration 
documentation of its employees, and discharge seven of them 
in late July. This further adds support to my finding that Re-
spondent would not have discharged the seven in the absence of 
their union activities, to be discussed infra. 

Under these circumstances, I cannot view Respondent’s 
“sudden, substantial, unprecedented, and unsatisfactorily ex-
plained augmentation” of its employee force, in any light other 
than an attempt to dissipate Local 813’s strength, and to thwart 
the efforts of that union’s supporters to secure representation by 
that union in the October 30 election. Suburban Ford, 248 
                                                           

17 Abdool and Baksh were hired before the petition was filed. 



REGAL RECYCLING, INC. 369

NLRB 364, 368 (1980); Trend Construction Corp., 263 NLRB 
295, 300 (1982). 

Specifically, I find that all those employees set forth above, 
who were challenged, with the exception of Abdool, Baksh, 
and Gustman, were hired for the purpose of influencing the 
election in violation of Section 8(a)(1) of the Act.  

As to Abdool, Baksh, and Gustman, I find that they were not 
hired in order to pack the unit or to influence the election. 
Baksh and Gustman were regular employees of Respondent in 
1991. Gustman was hired in February 1992, before Local 813 
began to organize the employees. Their status will be further 
discussed in the representation case section of this decision. 

2. The alleged discrimination 

a. Alleged actions against Hugo Carrillo 
The complaint alleges that in late July 1992, Angelo Reali 

physically assaulted employee Hugo Carrillo, and imposed 
more arduous and less desirable conditions of employment on 
him.  

Carrillo is a picker whose job is to pick the recyclable mate-
rials from other garbage, and sort those items by type of matter. 
He testified that some time after he told Supervisor Rios that he 
signed a card for Local 813, Angelo Reali called him into the 
office and complained that he mistakenly threw recyclable 
aluminum into the area for iron and garbage, and not into the 
aluminum container. Angelo yelled at him, insulted him, called 
him stupid, and made comments about his mother. Carrillo 
conceded that he put the aluminum in the wrong container. 

Angelo’s brother, Paul, was present during this tirade and in-
terceded, telling Angelo not to insult him. Paul escorted Car-
rillo out of the office. Later, Carrillo was told by Peter Reali to 
eat lunch alone, and not to go downstairs, where he usually eats 
with his coworkers.  

Carrillo, who denied that he had been touched by Angelo 
during this incident, stated that this was the first time he had 
been criticized for not sorting the aluminum properly. Carrillo 
also denied that he was given harder or less desirable work to 
do in July 1992. 

Analysis and Discussion 
The evidence failed to establish a violation concerning 

Carrillo. There was no evidence that Angelo Reali physically 
assaulted Carrillo, as alleged in the complaint. Carrillo signed a 
card for Local 813 on July 13. At some unknown time thereaf-
ter, Carrillo was yelled at, insulted and called stupid by Angelo 
Reali after he admittedly threw aluminum into the wrong con-
tainer. Carrillo denied being touched by Reali.  

The complaint also alleged that Respondent imposed more 
arduous and less desirable conditions of employment on him. 
Carrillo denied that he was given harder or less desirable work 
to do that day. The only evidence which goes to this allegation 
is that Paul told him not to eat lunch with his fellow employees 
that day. That does not constitute the imposition of harder or 
less desirable work.  

First, I cannot find that the General Counsel has established a 
prima facie showing that Carrillo’s union activities was a moti-
vating factor in Respondent’s decision to ask him to eat alone. 
Carrillo admittedly told Rios that he signed a card for Local 
813, and was subject to unlawful interrogation by him. During 
the criticism, no mention was made of Local 813, or the fact 
that he signed a card for it. I do not believe that the General 

Counsel has established a prima facie case of discrimination 
against Carrillo for his union activities.  

Assuming that a prima facie case has been made, I find that 
Respondent has met its burden of demonstrating that it would 
have taken such action even in the absence of his union activi-
ties. Wright Line, 251 NLRB 1083 (1980). Thus, although Car-
rillo testified that he was never yelled at before, there was no 
evidence that he engaged in any conduct which warranted 
criticism before. Respondent’s conduct in criticizing him for 
putting aluminum in the wrong container was not unjustified. 
The harsh criticism levied by Angelo Reali was immediately 
softened by Paul’s advice to Angelo not to insult Carrillo.  

I accordingly find that no violation has been established in 
Respondent’s treatment of Carrillo, as alleged in the complaint. 

b. The mass discharge 
The complaint alleges that on July 28 Respondent unlawfully 

discharged Maynor Lima Bobadillo, Hugo Carrillo, Mario Car-
rillo, Joel Chinchilla, Julio Del Cid, Mario Ortiz, and Nery 
Perez because of their activities in behalf of Local 813. 

Respondent denies that it acted in violation of the Act. Its de-
fense is that it laid off the employees until such time as they 
could produce proper immigration documentation permitting 
them to lawfully work in the United States. 

The Employees’ Testimony 
Hugo Carrillo became employed for Respondent in 1991. He 

testified that in July 1992, each employee was asked to come to 
the office. Present were Michael and Paul Reali, and Rios, who 
translated. Michael asked him to produce a green card. Carrillo 
did not have one. Michael said that he was discharged, but that 
he could return to work when he had a work permit.  

Carrillo testified that that was the first time he was asked to 
produce a green card. However, he also testified that he did not 
recall whether, when he began work, he was asked by man-
agement to produce documentation establishing his lawful abil-
ity to work in the United States.  

Carrillo, as well as the six other employees set forth above, 
received the following letter, dated July 28, at their individual 
meetings held on that day:  
 

In the large amount of time that we have extended to you we 
are regretful that you have not produced the proper proof of 
residence that is required by the federal government which 
makes you eligible to work in the United States of America. 
Since you have failed to submit the documents we have no 
choice but to ask you to hold off from your employment until 
such time that the documents are brought into the office. 

 

Thereafter, Carrillo contacted Local 445 Agent Griffin, who 
referred him to an attorney who is working on obtaining a work 
permit. Carrillo showed some paper to Respondent, and in No-
vember 1992, Carrillo was permitted to return to work.  

Joel Chinchilla began work at Regal on November 29, 1991. 
He testified that on his hire, he was asked by Angelo for identi-
fication. Chinchilla showed him a green card, which Angelo 
made a copy of. He was not asked to complete an immigration 
form.  

At his meeting in late July, Chinchilla was asked for his 
green card by the Realis. He refused, saying that they were not 
the immigration authorities. He told them that they had made a 
copy of the green card upon his hire, but they said that they did 
not have it. He was given the above letter, and told that if he 
did not have proper papers he could not return to work. He then 
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left the shop and did not return. Chinchilla admitted that the 
green card he initially showed Reali was a forgery, which 
probably accounts for his refusal to again display it. 

Thereafter, Respondent contacted Chinchilla and asked if he 
wanted to return to work. Chinchilla refused because he did not 
yet have the proper immigration papers. Chinchilla testified that 
he has not applied for legal status.  

Julio Del Cid began work on November 28, 1990. Upon his 
hire he completed a tax form, but not an immigration form. He 
was not asked to produce papers which showed that he was a 
lawful resident of the United States. 

On July 28, his last day of work, Del Cid was shown the 
above letter and was asked if he had his papers. He said that he 
did not, and was told that he could return to work when he had 
a document from the Immigration Service. Del Cid stated that 
prior to July 1992, no one spoke to him regarding having the 
proper documentation in order to work. Del Cid testified that he 
never obtained the proper papers to work legally in the United 
States. 

Mario Ortiz began work in November 1991, at which time he 
was asked for documentation, and showed Angelo a work per-
mit. Angelo made a copy of the permit, and said it was fine, 
and that he could work. He did not complete an immigration 
form at that time.  

In July, Michael Reali asked to see his work permit. Ortiz 
presented it, and was told by Reali that it was expired. Reali 
then showed him the above letter, and told him that when he 
renewed his employment permit he could return to work. He 
then left. Three days later, he produced a document which 
stated that he was awaiting the renewal of his permit. At that 
time, Michael Reali asked him if he saw or contacted any Local 
813 agent, or signed any document. Ortiz replied that he had 
not. 

Ortiz produced a letter, 2-1/2 months later, which Michael 
Reali said was not valid. He was asked to produce an employ-
ment authorization. Thereafter, he returned with valid docu-
mentation, and returned to work in November 1992. 

Nery Perez began work for Respondent in November 1991. 
He did not fill out an immigration form when he was hired, and 
no one asked whether he was lawfully able to work in the 
United States. However, he did produce a marriage certificate 
which showed that he was married to a United States citizen. 
He testified that he was first asked for immigration papers 
about 1 week before his discharge. At that time, Michael Reali 
asked if he had a green card. He replied that he did not have 
one. That was the first time he was asked to produce a green 
card. 

Thereafter, Michael Reali told him that he had until July 27 
to produce the papers. On July 28, Michael Reali asked for his 
papers. He said that he did not have them, and was given the 
above letter. Perez testified that he has done nothing to obtain 
proper authorization to work in the United States. 

Edgar Pineda began work for Respondent in April 1988. He 
testified that in July 1992, Rios told each of the workers that 
Michael Reali wanted to see their papers, such as green cards or 
work permits. Pineda went to the office and showed Michael 
his papers. Michael said that they were in order and he could 
continue to work. 

Pineda stated that he was never asked for his papers before 
that time. 

Thus, the following employees were discharged on July 28, 
allegedly for failing to produce proper immigration documents: 

Hugo Carrillo, Mario Carrillo, Joel Chinchilla, Julio Del Cid, 
Maynor Lima Bobadillo, Mario Ortiz, and Nery Perez. 

Respondent’s Evidence 
Michael Reali testified that in the past, upon an employee’s 

hire, Respondent’s officials asked him for his “papers,” includ-
ing Social Security identification, and other documentation. If 
they said that they had no documentation, they were not permit-
ted to work. If they said that they had proper papers, they were 
permitted to work.   

Respondent experiences a large turnover of employees, and 
in the past 2 years, nearly 90 employees have worked for it. 
Reali stated that Respondent always asks for documentation, 
but sometimes it was not forthcoming. Occasionally when em-
ployees were asked for proof that they were lawfully in the 
United States, they would leave Respondent’s employ.  

Reali testified that he asked the seven employees during their 
employment to produce proof of lawful ability to work. They 
agreed to, but never produced it, but were nevertheless permit-
ted to remain at work.  

Reali testified that in May 1992, he consulted with a law 
firm, and thereafter began to document Respondent’s request 
for proof of lawful residence. Prior to that time, all requests of 
employees had been verbal. According to Reali, in late June 
1992, he distributed the following undated letter to all employ-
ees. This was the first time that he made such a request in writ-
ing: 
 

In order to update our employee files we must request that 
you submit all documents to show proof of residence in the 
United States of America. Please submit this information to 
the office to make copies no later than July 27, 1992. Thank 
you for your cooperation. 

 

Reali testified that most employees complied with that letter, 
by producing proper documentation, and they were permitted to 
work, but the seven did not have such proof. Accordingly, he 
laid them off, on July 28, in order to comply with the law which 
prohibits employment of workers who do not have proof of 
lawful residence in the United States. He told them that they 
could return to work when they received proper documentation.  

Although Respondent does not keep individual personnel 
files for each employee, certain documents were produced pur-
suant to subpoena. The following documents were produced for 
the following employees who were employed during the pay-
roll period ending July 15, 1992: Shoaib Moham Awan: W-4 
IRS payroll deduction form; David Baksh: I-9 Immigration 
form, but with no boxes checked which would show that spe-
cific items of proof of residence were submitted and examined, 
W-4, copy of driver’s license; David Gustman: W-4; Dagoberto 
Moran: W-4, and a social security card, both of which say Da-
goberto Vasquez, and an employment identification card. 

It should be noted that Awon, Baksh, Gustman, and Moran 
were not discharged, but continued in Respondent’s employ 
after July 28.  

The following documents were produced for employees who 
were hired after the July 28 mass terminations: Robert Monk: 
W-4; Richard Ferraro: W-4; New York State driver’s license; 
Julio Flores: I-9 resident alien card, W-4, social security card, 
and employment application; and, Roberto Montalvo: I-9, W-4, 
employment application. 

Michael Reali testified that following July 28, no one was 
discharged for not having the proper immigration documenta-
tion. 
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Certain employees disputed Reali’s testimony that they re-
ceived the undated letter which allegedly was given to all em-
ployees in June. Thus, Del Cid testified that he never saw the 
letter.18 Joel Chinchilla testified that he could not recall when 
he saw the letter, but he perhaps received it the day he was 
discharged. Hugo Carrillo did not remember if he saw the let-
ter. Mario Ortiz stated that he saw the letter, but does not re-
member when, adding that he saw it about 3 weeks before his 
layoff. Nery Perez testified that he saw the letter, but did not 
testify as to when he saw it. 

It should be noted that employees Calderon, Hugo Carrillo, 
Maynor Lima Bobadillo, and Ortiz returned to work upon pres-
entation of immigration documents satisfactory to Respondent. 
They had signed cards for Local 813. 

Analysis and Discussion 
The complaint alleges that on July 28, Respondent unlaw-

fully discharged Maynor Lima Bobadillo, Hugo Carrillo, Mario 
Carrillo, Joel Chinchilla, Julio Del Cid, Mario Ortiz, and Nery 
Perez because of their activities on behalf of Local 813. 

All those employees signed cards for Local 813 on July 13. 
On July 17, Respondent was told by Local 813 agents that a 
majority of its employees had signed cards for that union. One 
employee, Hugo Carrillo, told Supervisor Rios on about July 21 
that he signed a card for that union. All of the seven employees 
were present, when on about July 21, they went to Respon-
dent’s office with Local 813 agent Jackson, at which time Mi-
chael Reali was informed that they wanted Local 813 and not 
Local 445. 

I accordingly find that Respondent possessed knowledge that 
all seven employees sought representation by Local 813. 

Shortly after Respondent learned that its employees wanted 
to be represented by Local 813, Respondent requested immigra-
tion papers from all its employees. Perez testified that he was 
asked for such papers about 1 week before his discharge, and 
was given until July 27 to produce them. The other six employ-
ees all testified that they received the July 28 letter on that date, 
which notified them that they had not produced proper proof of 
residence, and were discharged that day.  

Based on the close timing between the employees’ interest in 
Local 813 and Respondent’s knowledge thereof, the findings of 
animus I have made above, including the findings of coercive 
interrogation, threat of plant closure, threat of discharge to em-
ployee Ortega because he criticized Local 445, and signifi-
cantly, the threat that immigration documents would be re-
quired if they continued to support Local 813, I find that the 
General Counsel has made a prima facie showing that the union 
activity of the seven employees named above was a motivating 
factor in Respondents’ decision to discharge them. Wright 
Line, supra. 

Respondent first argues that the employees were not dis-
charged, but rather were laid off until such time that they were 
able to produce proper eligibility to work in the United States. 
Its June 28 letter stated, in part, that “since you have failed to 
submit the documents we have no choice but to ask you to hold 
off from your employment until such time that the documents 
are brought into the office:” 
 

The test for determining whether [an employer’s] statements 
constitute an unlawful discharge depends on whether they 
would reasonably lead the employees to believe that they had 

                                                           
18 Del Cid first testified that he saw the letter on the day he was fired. 

been discharged and the fact of discharge does not depend on 
the use of formal words of firing. . . . It is sufficient if the 
words or actions of the employer would logically lead a pru-
dent person to believe his tenure has been terminated. Ridge-
way Trucking Co., 243 NLRB 1048 (1979). 

 

By asking its employees to “hold off from their employ-
ment” Respondent in effect told them that they no longer 
worked for it. The fact that they could return to work at some 
later time does not change the fact of their discharge upon re-
ceipt of the letter. Future Ambulette, 293 NLRB 884, 893 
(1989), where a discharge was found when an employee was 
terminated due to an injury but told that he could reapply when 
he was able to work; Midwestern Mining, 277 NLRB 221, 228, 
244 (1985), where discharges were found where the employees 
were told that they might be rehired if additional equipment 
was obtained. 

When given the letter on July 28, the only conclusion the 
employees could have reached was that they were discharged. 
A possibility of reinstatement was given them in the letter. The 
letter did not guarantee reinstatement upon their production of 
the documents. It only asked them to stop work until the docu-
ments were brought to the office. It is true that those employees 
who did obtain proper documentation were employed immedi-
ately. Nevertheless, looking at the situation on July 28, the 
employee would conclude that he had been discharged until he 
presented satisfactory documentation of proper proof of resi-
dence. I accordingly find that the seven employees were dis-
charged on July 28. 

Respondent argues that the workers were properly termi-
nated because they were undocumented aliens prohibited from 
being employed by the Immigration Reform and Control Act of 
1986 (IRCA).  

It first argues that it had no anti union animus in discharging 
the employees because it had asked them, in its undated letter 
allegedly given them in June, to provide documents showing 
proof of residence by July 27. If this letter was given to em-
ployees, it would provide some proof that their discharge was 
not motivated by union considerations since the letter was al-
legedly distributed before the union campaign began. 

However, the evidence does not support a finding that the 
June letter was distributed to employees. Michael Reali testified 
that following the distribution of that letter, most employees 
produced such documentation and were permitted to work.  

I credit the testimony of employees Del Cid and Joel Chin-
chilla that they either did not see the undated June letter or saw 
it for the first time on the day they were discharged, July 28. 
Ortiz’ testimony that he saw the letter about 3 weeks before his 
discharge lacks certainty, in view of his earlier testimony that 
he did not recall when he saw the letter. In addition, in contrast 
to other letters sent by Respondent, this letter was undated. 

I accordingly find that the undated June letter was not dis-
tributed to employees. 

The documents sought were apparently those required in the 
I-9 INS Form, which include a U.S. passport; certificate of U.S. 
citizenship; certificate of naturalization; unexpired foreign 
passport; alien registration card; or driver’s license, U.S. mili-
tary card, and social security card, birth certificate, and unex-
pired INS employment authorization. According to the I-9 
form, those documents are to be examined by the employer, 
and the appropriate boxes checked indicating that this has been 
done. 
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At the hearing, Respondent produced certain documents in 
its possession, set forth above, for various employees who were 
employed at the time of the seven discharges, but who contin-
ued to work after the July 28 discharges. Those employees must 
have been among those who, according to Michael Reali, 
showed proper documentation and were permitted to work. 
However, none of the documents produced for employees 
Awan, Baksh, Gustman, and Moran satisfied the I-9 require-
ments. The completed I-9 form for Awan and Gustman, at least, 
were required to be retained by Respondent at the time of the 
hearing.19 Accordingly, Respondent did not enforce equally its 
policy of terminating employees who did not produce the re-
quired documents. Those employees were not among the em-
ployees who signed cards for Local 813. 

In addition, even after the July 28 terminations, Respondent 
did not adhere to its strict policy of employing only those with 
proper documentation. Thus the documents, set forth above, 
produced at hearing for Monk and Ferraro, hired on August 14 
and September 7, respectively, do not satisfy the I-9 require-
ments. 

Respondent argues that documentation was required of the 
employees upon their hire, and that the seven employees were 
asked for documentation, but never produced it. However, the 
evidence does not substantiate this. Hugo Carrillo was not 
asked for a green card until the date of his discharge. Signifi-
cantly, he was permitted to return to work upon the presentation 
of some “paper,” while he was in the process of obtaining a 
work permit. Joel Chinchilla was only asked for identification 
upon his hire, not proof of residence, and he produced a green 
card. Del Cid was not asked for proof of residence upon his 
hire. Perez produced a marriage certificate upon his hire. 
Pineda was not asked for documentation until July. Only Ortiz 
testified that upon his hire he was asked for documentation, and 
he showed Angelo Reali a work permit. Indeed, the fact that 
Respondent has not retained copies of the I-9 forms for certain 
employees, or copies of the documents allegedly submitted, 
supports an inference that such documents were not requested. 

Thus, based on my findings that (a) the June letter was not 
distributed to employees, (b) disparate treatment was accorded 
the card signers who were discharged while the noncard signers 
were permitted to work although they too did not have proper 
documentation to work, (c) employees who did not have proper 
documentation were hired shortly after the discharges, and (d) 
these discharges occurred during Respondent’s admittedly busy 
season, I conclude that Respondent has not demonstrated that it 
would have discharged the seven  employees in the absence of 
their union activities. Wright Line, supra. 

I accordingly find and conclude that Respondent’s discharge 
of Maynor Lima Bobadillo, Hugo Carrillo, Mario Carrillo, Joel 
Chinchilla, Julio Del Cid, Mario Ortiz, and Nery Perez violated 
Section 8(a)(3) and (1) of the Act. 
                                                           

                                                          

19 The completed I-9 form was required to be retained for 3 years af-
ter the date of hire or 1 year after termination, whichever is later. Awan 
was hired on April 23, 1992, and last appears on the August 26, 1992 
payroll. Gustman was hired on February 17, 1992, and appears on the 
last payroll submitted, December 30, 1992. The dates of hire of Baksh 
and Moran are not known. 

c. The warning to and discharge of Pineda 

Pineda’s Testimony 
The complaint alleges that on November 19 Respondent is-

sued a written and verbal warning to Edgar Pineda, and on 
December 10 discharged him because of his activities in behalf 
of Local 813.20 

Pineda became employed by Respondent in 1988. He was 
promoted from picker, to payloader operator, and then bull-
dozer operator. As set forth above, he contacted Local 813, and 
arranged a meeting with its representatives and the employees. 
He also participated in the October 30 election as an observer 
for Local 813  

Pineda testified that he worked without incident until No-
vember 17, when, as he was operating the bulldozer, its right 
metal track became separated from the wheel, causing severe 
damage. Pineda stated that this occurred because the bolts hold-
ing the track to the wheel were subject to hard wear and broke. 
He told his manager, who called the mechanic. Pineda helped 
the mechanic fix the track, and Pineda was instructed to work 
on a different bulldozer. 

On November 19, he was given a letter by Michael Reali 
which set forth as follows: 
 

Please be advised that this is the second notice of negligent 
equipment abuse and will serve as the final warning before 
termination of your employment. On November 10, 1992 
while operating the Caterpillar 963 bulldozer it ran out of fuel, 
causing extensive engine damage. On November 17, 1992 
while operating the same bulldozer, the right track separated 
from the wheel causing severe damage. In the future, please 
be alert and operate the equipment with proper care, its [sic] 
part of your job. This type of negligent abuse and destruction 
of equipment will not be tolerated. 

 

Pineda stated that prior to November 19 he was not informed 
that his bulldozer had run out of fuel on November 10. He 
stated that while he was operating it, it worked fine. The ma-
chine had run out of fuel before, in about September, and at that 
time Pineda told his manager, who told him to put more fuel in, 
pump the fuel through the engine, and continue working. These 
steps were taken, the bulldozer’s engine started, and continued 
to run without incident. He was not warned for that incident. 

On November 19 when he was given the above letter, Mi-
chael Reali blamed him for letting his machine run out of fuel. 
Pineda denied that it was his fault, saying that it was working 
well when he operated it, and suggested that it was the fault of 
the person who continued to work on the machine when Pineda 
left at 1 p.m. 

Pineda testified that on December 7, as he was operating his 
machine, he noticed that water was leaking from its radiator. 
He stopped the machine and notified Manager Ronald who 
called the mechanic. The mechanic worked on the machine and 
informed Pineda that it was fixed, and that he could operate it. 
He was then instructed by Ronald to grind some wood. About 5 
minutes later the machine stopped, and the engine began to 
smoke. The mechanic was called and instructed Pineda to move 
the machine to a different place. Pineda started the engine and 
moved the bulldozer. Shortly thereafter, Pineda went home at 
the end of his shift. 

 
20 See the charge in Case 29–CA–17056. 
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The following day, Pineda was given other work to do as the 
machine was still being repaired. At the end of the day, Angelo 
Reali told Pineda to take the following day, December 9, off, as 
the machine was still being fixed. When Pineda returned to 
work on December 10, Angelo Reali told him that there was no 
more work for him because the machines were being damaged 
too much. Pineda protested that that was not his fault because 
he told the mechanic many times that the machine was not 
working properly, but was told to continue working on it.  

Pineda left Respondent’s premises, and 1 hour later, he was 
given the following letter at his home by Michael Reali and 
Rios: 
 

On December 7, 1992 while you were operating the Caterpil-
lar bulldozer the engine seized causing extensive damage. 
This was caused by operating the bulldozer with improper oil 
and diesel. Since this is your third notice, you will be termi-
nated immediately. In the future if there is any way that I can 
assist you please do not hesitate to call me. 

 

Pineda protested to Michael Reali that the machine broke, 
and that he told the mechanic that the machine was no good. 
Michael insisted that the damage was his fault. 

Pineda testified that it is the operator’s job to put fuel in the 
tank and check and install oil in the engine each day, and that 
he performed these procedures. He recalled that on December 7 
he checked the oil and fuel and found nothing amiss.  

Respondent’s Evidence 
Michael Reali testified that on June 24 Pineda’s bulldozer 

ran out of fuel while he was operating it. The repair logs indi-
cated that the fuel lines were removed, and the system cleaned 
of residue from the fuel tank; air was pumped through the fuel 
lines, two fuel filters were replaced, the tank was filled, allowed 
to settle, and the fuel system was primed and pumped to re-
move air trapped in the fuel lines. Reali stated that on June 26 
Pineda was given the following letter: 
 

Please be aware that this is a notice of negligent abuse of 
equipment and will serve as your first warning. On June 24, 
1992 while operating the Caterpillar bulldozer it ran out of 
fuel, causing severe engine damage. In the future, please be 
alert and operate the equipment with proper care, its [sic] part 
of your job. 

 

Pineda denied that his bulldozer ran out of fuel that day, and 
did not recall receiving this letter. 

Reali testified that the same repair work had to be performed 
on November 10 due to Pineda’s machine running out of fuel, 
as set forth above. Pineda denied that his machine ran out of 
fuel while he was operating it that day. 

Reali stated that the track separated because it fit loosely on 
its sprocket. Reali testified that the track should always be tight, 
and Pineda should have noticed that it was loose. Accordingly, 
Reali blamed the separation of the bulldozer track on Pineda in 
that he apparently failed to notice that it was loose. Reali stated 
that a track will not separate if it is attached in a taut manner on 
its sprocket. Reali stated that the repair job was $12,000 to 
$15,000, and the bulldozer was out of service for 5 or 6 days.  

Regarding the December 7 incident, Reali testified that the 
bulldozer’s engine had seized because of low oil pressure, no 
oil, and no water. He stated that the oil pressure and tempera-
ture gauges and a warning light were all operating at the time of 
the problem. A new engine was obtained at a cost of $15,000 to 
$18,000. He denied Pineda’s testimony that he moved the bull-

dozer after experiencing a problem with it. Reali stated that it is 
the operator’s responsibility to check the gauges to make cer-
tain that there are sufficient fluids in the engine.  

Accordingly, Respondent’s position is that it discharged 
Pineda on December 10, as set forth in the letter of discharge, 
because of the engine seizure, which constituted his third notice 
of misconduct.  

Analysis and Discussion 
Pineda was employed by Respondent for 4 years. He was 

promoted from picker to payloader operator to bulldozer opera-
tor. Pineda was the prime mover in the organizational campaign 
of Local 813. He made the first contact with that union, ar-
ranged the meeting with Local 813’s representatives, signed a 
card in behalf of the union, and spoke to his fellow employees 
in the shop about the union. He also acted as the election ob-
server for Local 813.  

I have found above that Respondent possessed animus to-
ward Local 813 as demonstrated by its violations of Section 
8(a)(1) of the Act, and by its discharge of the seven employees.  

I accordingly find that the General Counsel has made a 
prima facie showing that the union activity of Pineda was a 
motivating factor in Respondent’s issuance of the warning let-
ter of November 19, and in its decision to discharge him. 
Wright Line, supra. 

Respondent asserts that its discharge of Pineda was justified 
because of his negligence in the operation of the bulldozers. As 
set forth above, the alleged misconduct consists of the bull-
dozer running out of fuel twice, the separation of a track, and 
the seizure of an engine.  

Pineda admits that his bulldozer ran out of fuel once. This 
may have occurred on June 26. The maintenance log for bull-
dozer 973 shows that it ran out of fuel on that date. Respondent 
attributes that incident to him. The log indicates that a routine 
procedure was utilized to get the machine running: the fuel 
lines were removed; residue from the fuel tank was cleaned; air 
was pumped through the lines; two fuel filters were replaced; 
the tank was filled; the fuel system was primed and pumped to 
remove air in the lines, and the machine was started.  

Pineda did not recall receiving a warning letter due to that 
incident, which took place 3 weeks before Respondent was 
visited by Local 813 agents. Even if he did receive the June 26 
letter allegedly given to him, that letter stated that “severe en-
gine damage” resulted from this incident. However, the main-
tenance log does not indicate that any damage was caused.  

The same incident occurred on November 10. Pineda denies 
that this was due to any fault of his. Even if it was, the same 
routine was used to get the machine running. The warning no-
tice regarding this, given to Pineda on November 19, stated that 
“extensive engine damage” resulted. The maintenance log does 
not support that statement. The log only states that rust was in 
the fuel lines due to the lack of fuel, and that the rust was 
cleaned from the lines. 

On November 17, the right track of bulldozer 963 separated 
from its wheel. The maintenance log states that the right side 
was jacked up, the old track was removed, and a new track and 
sprocket were installed.  

Respondent claimed that Pineda should have been aware that 
the track was loose from the sprocket, and therefore held him 
responsible for the separation of the track, terming it “negligent 
abuse and destruction of equipment” in its November 19 warn-
ing letter. As set forth above, Pineda claimed that the bolts, 
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which are subject to hard wear, broke, causing the track to 
separate.  

It must be recognized that these bulldozers perform very 
heavy work in moving and pulverizing demolition materials. As 
a result, they receive regular maintenance work according to 
the logs. They are checked and greased every 2 days, and re-
ceive full service every 6 weeks. The full service includes 
checking the machine and changing the oil and filters.  

The maintenance logs establish the hard wear these machines 
experienced, and the fact that the tracks were subject to espe-
cially severe operating conditions.  

Thus, Caterpillar 963, which experienced the track separa-
tion, had extensive work performed on the tracks prior to the 
November 17 incident. The machine was acquired by Respon-
dent on March 15, 1989. On March 22, both tracks were tight-
ened. On July 30, the track segments were tightened. On Au-
gust 13, the tracks were tightened. On September 23 a broken 
track segment was replaced. On February 10, 1990, the tracks 
were tightened, as they were again on August 11. On February 
13, 1991, both tracks, but especially the left side track was 
tightened. On March 19 the sprocket segments were replaced. 
On July 6 an 18-inch steel rod stuck in the left track was re-
moved. On March 28, 1992, the tracks were tightened. On 
April 25 one track segment was replaced. On August 15 the 
tracks were tightened, as they were on September 29.  

Then on November 17 the right track separated, which was 
blamed on Pineda. Following his discharge, on March 16, 1993, 
both tracks were adjusted, and broken bolts were replaced on 
the left track. On March 23 broken bolts from sprocket seg-
ments were replaced, and the tracks were adjusted. On April 1 
the track bolts were replaced. On April 2 both tracks were re-
moved, the machine removed from service, the left sprocket 
and final drive were disassembled, both sides of the sprocket 
segments were removed, the tilt cylinder bracket was welded, 
and the idler rollers were replaced. Then both tracks were as-
sembled, and both track frames were welded. On April 28 the 
left track motor hydraulic line was replaced. 

Caterpillar 973 experienced similar service maintenance and 
repair work. Thus, between July 1989, when the machine was 
purchased, to December 1992, the tracks were adjusted six 
times, the segment bolts were tightened twice, the tracks were 
tightened once, and track segments were replaced once. 

Based on the above, I do not believe that Respondent has 
met its burden of proving that it would have issued a warning 
letter to Pineda in the absence of his union activities. Wright 
Line, supra. The tracks were subject to severe service condi-
tions. They were adjusted and serviced constantly which is 
some indication of the hard wear they were subjected to. They 
experienced more problems after Pineda’s discharge. Under 
these circumstances, it was improper for Respondent to attrib-
ute the track separation to Pineda. 

Regarding the seizure of the engine on December 7 Pineda 
denied that it was his fault. He stopped the machine immedi-
ately upon noticing that the engine’s radiator was leaking wa-
ter. Michael Reali testified that the engine repair company 
stated that the seizure was due to low oil pressure, and no oil or 
water. Respondent claims that Pineda negligently failed to 
check the engine’s fluids. The log states that a rebuilt engine 
had to be installed. 

Michael Reali stated that he was told that the cause of the 
seizure was low oil pressure and no oil or water. He thus had a 
reasonable belief that Pineda had caused that severe damage 

through his negligence in not checking the machine’s oil and 
water. Pineda admitted that it was his responsibility to make 
those fluid checks on a daily basis. I do not credit him that he 
made them. In view of the damage to the engine, I credit Re-
ali’s testimony that the engine would not start. I do not credit 
Pineda’s testimony that he moved the bulldozer after the prob-
lem arose. His pretrial affidavit did not mention that important 
fact. Respondent gave unrebutted testimony that the cause of 
the seizure and the very costly engine replacement was lack of 
oil and water in the engine. The General Counsel has not shown 
how such damage to the engine could have occurred in any 
other way.  

Pineda admitted that it was his duty to ensure that the ma-
chine had sufficient oil and water. Respondent could thus prop-
erly believe that the engine’s seizure was due to his negligent 
failure to ensure that it had proper amounts of such fluids.  

The General Counsel argues that the logs produced at hear-
ing are unreliable because they were not the original logs pre-
pared at the time of the repair by the mechanic. Rather, because 
of the poor penmanship of the mechanic, the original logs were 
rewritten later. The General Counsel further questions the 
weight to be given Reali’s testimony concerning the breakdown 
because neither the mechanic nor the supervisor who witnessed 
the incident testified. However, I believe that Reali’s testimony 
properly established the nature of the damage to the engine. No 
objection was made to his hearsay testimony that he was told 
the reason for the seizure was no oil or water in the engine.  

On the other hand, the logs also show that the engine of the 
other bulldozer, the Caterpillar 963, seized on January 4, 1993, 
only 1 month after Pineda’s discharge. The same remedial ac-
tion was taken—the engine was removed, rebuilt, and installed 
in the bulldozer. There was no testimony concerning this 
breakdown, but Michael Reali stated that since July 1992, no 
one other than Pineda has been disciplined for misusing equip-
ment.  

The question must therefore be asked why the operator of the 
963 was not disciplined for that engine’s seizure, and does the 
failure to so discipline him demonstrate disparate treatment 
toward Pineda. One possible explanation is that that engine’s 
seizure was not caused by a lack of oil or water, and was there-
fore not caused through any fault of the operator. Since I cannot 
answer that question upon the state of this record, I cannot find 
that Pineda was treated in a disparate manner.  

Despite my findings above that Respondent demonstrated 
strong union animus, it cannot be said that it took any specific 
action against Pineda upon learning that he was actively sup-
porting Local 813. Specifically, when he appeared as that un-
ion’s observer at the election on October 30, it did not dis-
charge him 2 weeks later upon his alleged misconduct in the 
track separation incident.  

Although I find that the warning letter of November 19 vio-
lated the Act, I cannot find that that carried over to the reasons 
for the discharge 3 weeks later. The evidence establishes that 
Pineda was obligated to check the Caterpillar’s fluids. Respon-
dent reasonably believed that the machine broke down as a 
result of that failure, resulting in a very expensive repair to a 
machine which was purchased new in 1989. There is no evi-
dence of disparate treatment of Pineda in his discharge. Road-
way Package System, 302 NLRB 961, 976–977 (1991); T.N.T. 
Red Star Express, 299 NLRB 894, 899 (1990).  
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The Act does not protect employees from discipline because 
they engage in union activity. The Act protects them from dis-
criminatory discipline because of their union activity. 

Accordingly, I find and conclude that Respondent has met its 
burden of proving that it would have discharged Pineda in the 
absence of his union activities. Wright Line, supra. 

3. The alleged refusal to bargain 
The appropriate collective-bargaining unit, as alleged in the 

complaint, and as agreed by the parties pursuant to a Stipulated 
Election Agreement, consists of: 
 

All full time and regular part time pickers, sorters and ma-
chine operators, mechanic and welder employed by the Em-
ployer at its 172-06 Douglas Avenue, Jamaica, New York lo-
cation, excluding all office clerical employees, guards and su-
pervisors as defined in Section 2(11) of the Act. 

 

As set forth above, on July 17, Local 813 Agents Jackson 
and Murray made a demand for recognition, and presented 
Respondent with a recognition agreement, which was rejected.  

As discussed above, on July 13, 13 employees of Respondent 
signed authorization cards authorizing Local 813 to represent 
them. Respondent’s payroll records for the period ending July 
15 demonstrate that 22 employees were employed, including 
Baksh, Costa, and Gustman, whose inclusion may be at issue.21 

Accordingly, Local 813 represented a majority of the unit 
employees on July 13.  

The General Counsel argues that the unfair labor practices 
committed by Respondent are so serious and substantial in 
character as to warrant the issuance of a bargaining order pur-
suant to NLRB v. Gissel Packing Co., 395 U.S. 575 (1969). 

Respondent asserts that it has a valid collective-bargaining 
agreement with Local 445, which precludes the issuance of a 
bargaining order herein. 

The Validity of the Collective-Bargaining Agreement 
On December 13, 1988, Local 445 was certified by the 

Board as the exclusive collective-bargaining representative of 
the employees of Regal in essentially the same unit found ap-
propriate herein. The certification was based upon an election 
held pursuant to a Stipulated Election Agreement. Michael 
Reali testified that he engaged in negotiations with Local 445, 
and entered into a collective-bargaining agreement in Decem-
ber 1988, which expired in December 1991. A renewal agree-
ment was executed in December 1991 which runs to December 
1994. The contract appears regular in form, containing provi-
sions for union security, wage raises, and hours of work. The 
contract also provided for, and employees received, paid holi-
days and vacations. Employees received wages in excess of the 
minimum set forth in the contract. 

The contract requires the payment of health and welfare 
moneys to the Local 445 Health and Welfare fund, the deduc-
tion of dues from wages of employees, and the remission of 
such dues amounts to Local 445. Dues remittance reports were 
received in evidence which indicated that reports were sent by 
Local 445 to Respondent each month from January 1991 
through April 1993, listing the names of employees, and setting 
                                                           

                                                          21 There was testimony that Costa was a supervisor. Baksh and 
Gustman were pickers, but were salaried, unlike the other pickers. 
Aside from the 13 card signers, and Baksh, Costa, and Gutman, the 
other employees employed at that time were Abdool, Awan, Moran, 
Nunez, Veluppil, and Woolard. 

forth the amount of welfare and dues payable. Canceled checks 
were also received which showed payments for those months.22 

Respondent conceded that it did not deduct dues from em-
ployees’ pay, but rather paid the dues directly to Local 445. 
Reali stated that that was the procedure followed in a company 
he had been employed by, and he considered it as a benefit to 
be given to the employees. Although the contract requires that 
dues deduction authorizations be signed by employees, Re-
spondent did not produce any at hearing. 

The employees testified that they were not aware of the exis-
tence of Local 445, or that that union represented them. Pineda, 
who was employed at the time of the Board election, denied 
knowing about the election or voting therein. Other employees 
testified that they never saw a representative from Local 445 
until Griffin appeared at the shop after they had signed cards 
for Local 813.  

Other employees stated that they were not informed that they 
were entitled to medical benefits, as provided in the contract. 
Respondent counters this by arguing that there was no showing 
that any employee was in need of medical benefits. That does 
not answer the question. The evidence supports a finding that 
the employees were not aware that Local 445 represented them, 
or that a collective-bargaining agreement regulated their wages, 
hours, or working conditions. 

In sum, the record is devoid of any evidence that Local 445 
concerned itself with the employees’ hours or working condi-
tions in any respect. Don Mendenhall, Inc., 194 NLRB 1109 
(1972). The employees did not even know that they were “rep-
resented” by a union or covered by a collective-bargaining 
agreement. Weber’s Bakery, 211 NLRB 1, 12 (1974).  

The employees who were allegedly covered by the agree-
ment received no representation from Local 445, and were 
subject to working conditions unilaterally imposed by Respon-
dent without any input from that union. McDonald’s Drive-In 
Restaurant, 204 NLRB 299, 309 (1973). It further appears that 
Local 445 was not concerned with contract enforcement or with 
contract servicing, but was content to receive the dues and wel-
fare payments for a few employees from Respondent. McDon-
ald’s, supra; Bender Ship Repair Co., 188 NLRB 615, 616 
(1971).  

Thus, in the union reporting form covering the period June 
1992, for the first time the following employees were added by 
Respondent to the form, and moneys paid in their behalf, not-
withstanding that some of them were employed by Respondent 
for at least 9 months prior to June 1992: Hasan Abdool, Car-
melo Calderon, Hugo Carrillo, David Baksh, who were on the 
payroll in September 1991, and Mario Ortiz and David Gust-
man who were hired in December 1991 and February, 1992, 
respectively. Obviously, Local 445 did not police its contract. 
Respondent was accordingly delinquent in its payment for these 
employees, and under these circumstances according to the 
contract, Local 445 was entitled to examine the books.  

The contract also provides that notices of the discharge of 
employees must be sent to Local 445, but there was no evi-
dence that this had been done with respect to Pineda.23 Al-
though the contract provides for the appointment of a shop 
steward, this provision has not been implemented.  

 
22 Uncanceled checks dated April 1993 purported to show that sums 

due from December 1992 through April 1993 were being paid in April 
1993. 

23 Respondent claims that the seven employees separated for failure 
to produce immigration documents were laid off. 
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The payment by Respondent of dues for its employees has 
long been held to constitute unlawful assistance in violation of 
Section 8(a)(1) and (2) of the Act. Allied Erecting Co., 270 
NLRB 277 (1984); Sweater Bee by Banff, Ltd., 197 NLRB 805 
(1972). 

Accordingly, I find that the contract between Respondent 
and Local 445 was not an effective or real collective-bargaining 
relationship between the parties, nor was it meant to be, nor did 
they believe that it was such. Ace-Doran Hauling Co., 171 
NLRB 645, 646 (1968). It was treated by them as a convenient 
arrangement to be utilized when another union indicated an 
interest in representing Respondent’s employees. 

Therefore, I find that the collective-bargaining agreement be-
tween Respondent and Local 445 does not preclude the issu-
ance of a Gissel bargaining order. 

The Propriety of a Bargaining Order 
In Gissel, supra, the Supreme Court held that bargaining or-

ders are appropriate in “less extraordinary” cases marked by 
“less pervasive” unfair labor practices where the employer’s 
unlawful conduct has a “tendency to undermine [the union’s] 
majority strength and impede the election processes,” and the 
union at one time had majority support among the unit employ-
ees. 395 U.S. at 614 (1969).  

The Supreme Court held in Gissel, supra, that where 
 

The possibility of erasing the effects of past practices and of 
ensuring a fair election (or a fair rerun) by the use of tradi-
tional remedies, though present, is slight and . . . employee 
sentiment once expressed through cards would, on balance, be 
better protected by a bargaining order, then such an order 
should issue. 

 

In determining whether a bargaining order is appropriate, the 
Board examines the severity of the violations and the effects 
that the unfair labor practices would have on the holding of a 
rerun election. Sheraton Hotel Waterbury, 312 NLRB 304 
(1993). 

Here, I have found that Respondent interrogated employees, 
threatened its employees with discharge, warned them that they 
could not join Local 813, and hired additional employees in 
order to pack the unit and deprive the employees of representa-
tion by Local 813.  

It must be observed that Respondent began a campaign of in-
terrogation, threats and discharges as soon as it became aware 
of its employees’ interest in Local 813. Its campaign was de-
signed to undermine that union’s strength. Q-1 Motor Express, 
308 NLRB 1267, 1268 (1992).  

It is very significant that many of the violations were serious 
in nature. Threats of job loss through plant closure and dis-
charge because of union activity is among the most flagrant 
kind of interference with Section 7 rights and is more likely to 
destroy election conditions, and to do so for a longer period of 
time than other unfair labor practices. Sheraton, supra.  

In addition, the unlawful discharges of the seven employees, 
which comprised half the bargaining unit, and which threatened 
the livelihood of the employees, are likely to have a lasting 
impact which is not easily erased by the mere passage of time 
or the Board’s usual remedies, especially given the small size 
of the bargaining unit. Q-1, supra. 

Thus, the possibility of erasing the effect of the Respon-
dent’s actions and ensuring a fair election by the use of tradi-
tional remedies is slight. Employee sentiment, once expressed 

through cards, is better protected by a bargaining order. Inter-
state Truck Parts, 312 NLRB 661 (1993). 

Because I have recommended that a bargaining order issue, 
it also follows that I will recommend that the election be set 
aside, that Case 29–RC–8020 be dismissed, and that all pro-
ceedings in connection therewith be vacated. Yerger Trucking, 
307 NLRB 567, 578 (1992). However, in the event that it is 
ultimately determined that a bargaining order is not warranted, 
I will discuss the objections and challenges. 

4. The representation case 
The tally of ballots following the election conducted on Oc-

tober 30, showed that 4 votes were cast for Local 813, 2 votes 
were cast for Local 445, no votes were cast against representa-
tion, and there were 24 challenged ballots.  

In light of my findings, above, that employees who were 
hired beginning in August 1992, were hired in an effort to pack 
the unit in violation of Section 8(a)(1) of the Act, I will recom-
mend that the challenges to the ballots of the following em-
ployees be sustained: Roy Dortch, Richard Ferraro, Julio Flo-
res, Jose Gomez, Carlos Hernandez, Alex Martinez, Damon 
Mason, Derrick Mason, Alejandro Montalvo, Roberto Mon-
talvo, Dimas Nunez, Roberto Peraza, Jose Pina, Ahmed 
Sagheer, Nelson Toledo, Jose Toribio, and Giro Valentin. 

I will recommend that the challenges to Hasan Abdool, 
David Baksh, and David Gustman be overruled because they 
were hired before Local 813 began its organizational campaign, 
and thus were not hired in an attempt to influence the election. 
Moreover, there was uncontradicted testimony that they were 
unit employees. 

Inasmuch as I have found that Joel Mancilla Chinchilla, Julio 
Del Cid, and Nery Perez were discharged unlawfully in viola-
tion of the Act, I will recommend that the challenges to their 
ballots be overruled, and that those ballots be opened and 
counted. The challenge to the ballot of Edgar Pineda was with-
drawn with the approval of the Regional Director. His ballot 
should be opened and counted.  

The objections to conduct affecting the results of the elec-
tion, filed by Local 813, generally track the complaint allega-
tions with respect to conduct occurring between the time the 
petition was filed, and the time of the election.24 

In light of my above findings that Respondent (a) discharged 
seven employees in violation of the Act, (b) denied Local 813 
access to its facility and employees to campaign while allowing 
Local 445 such access, (c) by hired additional employees in 
order to influence the outcome of the election, and (d) threat-
ened and interrogated employees, I conclude that the objections 
should be sustained and the election set aside. 

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 
1. The Respondent, Regal Recycling Company, Inc., is an 

employer engaged in commerce within the meaning of Section 
2(2), (6), and (7) of the Act. 

2. Local 813, International Brotherhood of Teamsters, AFL–
CIO, and Local 445, Laborers International Union of North 
America, AFL–CIO, are labor organizations within the mean-
ing of Section 2(5) of the Act. 

3. By interrogating employees concerning their union activi-
ties, Respondent violated Section 8(a)(1) of the Act. 
                                                           

24 No evidence was presented as to the complaint allegation that Rios 
prevented an employee from voting in the election, and I therefore 
recommend that it be dismissed. 
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4. By threatening employees with discharge for criticizing 
Local 445, Respondent violated Section 8(a)(1) of the Act. 

5. By threatening to demand to see the immigration papers of 
its employees in the context of a meeting at which it sought to 
discourage membership in Local 813, Respondent violated 
Section 8(a)(1) of the Act. 

6. By threatening to close its shop if its employees selected 
Local 813, Respondent violated Section 8(a)(1) of the Act. 

7. By informing its employees that they already had a union, 
and that they should not join Local 813, Respondent violated 
Section 8(a)(1) of the Act. 

8. By hiring additional employees to influence the outcome 
of the election, Respondent violated Section 8(a)(1) of the Act. 

9. By denying access to its employees and facility to Local 
813, while at the same time providing such access to Local 445, 
Respondent violated Section 8(a)(1) and (2) of the Act. 

10. By issuing a warning to its employee Edgar Pineda on 
November 19, 1992, Respondent violated Section 8(a)(1) and 
(3) of the Act. 

11. By discharging employees Maynor Lima Bobadillo, 
Hugo Carrillo, Mario Carrillo, Joel Chinchilla, Julio Del Cid, 
Mario Ortiz, and Nery Perez because of their activities in behalf 
of Local 813, Respondent violated Section 8(a)(1) and (3) of 
the Act. 

12. The following unit is appropriate for the purposes of col-
lective bargaining within the meaning of Section 9(b) of the 
Act: 
 

All full time and regular part time pickers, sorters and ma-
chine operators, mechanic and welder employed by the Em-
ployer at its 172-06 Douglas Avenue, Jamaica, New York lo-
cation, excluding all office clerical employees, guards and su-
pervisors as defined in Section 2(11) of the Act. 

 

13. Since July 17, 1992, Local 813 has been the exclusive 
collective-bargaining representative of the employees set forth 
in the appropriate collective-bargaining unit, above. 

14. By the conduct set forth in paragraphs 3–11, above, Re-
spondent has undermined the majority status of Local 813, and 
has precluded any likelihood that a fair election could be held.  

15. Respondent has violated Section 8(a)(5) and (1) of the 
Act since July 17, 1992, by refusing to recognize and bargain 
with Local 813 in the above-defined collective-bargaining unit.  

16. The unfair labor practices found above constitute unfair 
labor practices affecting commerce within the meaning of Sec-
tion 2(6) and (7) of the Act. 

17. Respondent has not violated the Act in any other respect 
as alleged in the complaint as to which no violations have been 
found. 

THE REMEDY 
Having found that Respondent has engaged in unlawful con-

duct under the Act, I will recommend that it cease and desist 
therefrom, and take certain affirmative action which is neces-
sary to effectuate the policies of the Act. 

Having found that Local 813 represented an uncoerced ma-
jority of Respondent’s employees in a unit found appropriate 
for purposes of collective bargaining on July 17, 1992, the day 
the Respondent received the union’s request for recognition, 
and continued to enjoy majority support when Respondent 
began committing unfair labor practices, it is recommended that 
a bargaining order issue effective July 17, 1992, and that Re-
spondent be ordered to post an appropriate notice to employees. 

In the event that it is ultimately determined that a bargaining 
order is not warranted, having sustained certain objections to 
the election held on October 30, 1992, it is recommended in 
that circumstance that the results of the election be overturned 
and a second election directed. 

Regarding the seven unlawfully discharged employees, Re-
spondent argues that no reinstatement or backpay remedy may 
be ordered because they have not proven that they are entitled 
to lawful residence in the United States. In fact, Joel Chinchilla, 
Julio Del Cid, and Nery Perez testified that they had done noth-
ing to apply for legal status.  

The Board’s normal remedy in cases involving discharges 
includes requiring the offer of immediate reinstatement and 
back pay. The Board has held that such undocumented aliens 
are entitled to an offer of reinstatement and back pay unless 
Respondent could prove their illegal presence by means of a 
final deportation order of the Immigration and Naturalization 
Service. Del Rey Tortilleria, 302 NLRB 216 (1991), revd. 787 
F.2d 1118 (7th Cir. 1992). Since Respondent has not met that 
burden, I will recommend that the Board’s normal remedies 
apply. 

The amounts to be paid to the unlawfully discharged em-
ployees shall be computed in the manner prescribed in Florida 
Steel Corp., 231 NLRB 651 (1977), and New Horizons for the 
Retarded, 283 NLRB 1173 1987).  

[Recommended Order omitted from publication.] 

 



 
 

NYCIDA PROJECT COST/BENEFIT ANALYSIS 

March 26, 2020  
 

 

APPLICANT 

American Recycling Management, LLC 

172-33 and 172-25 Douglas Avenue  

Jamaica, NY 11433 

 

173-05, 173-07, and 173-19 Liberty Avenue 

Jamaica, NY 11433  

 

 A.  Project Description: 

American Recycling Management, LLC, a New York limited liability company and its affiliates 

(the “Company”) are seeking financial assistance in connection with the demolition of three 

existing buildings totaling approximately 24,600 square feet, the construction, renovation, 

equipping and furnishing of three new buildings totaling 63,519 square feet, and the 

construction of 1,600 feet of railroad track, all located on an 110,147 square foot parcel of land 

located at 172-33 and 172-25 Douglas Avenue and 173-05, 173-07, and 173-19 Liberty Avenue, 

all in Jamaica, New York (the “Facility”). The Facility will be used for waste management, 

recycling and waste transport, and will connect directly to the adjacent Long Island Railroad 

train tracks (the “Project”). The Project cost is approximately $30,000,000. It is anticipated that 

the Project financing and acquisition of the Facility will close in Fall 2020 and that operations 

will commence at the Facility by December 2021. 
 

 

B. Costs to City (New York City taxes to be exempted):   

Mortgage Recording Tax Benefit:   $203,125 

Land Tax Abatement (NPV, 25 years):  $1,437,412 

Building Tax Exemption (NPV, 25 years):  $15,590,954 

Sales Tax Exemption:                  $825,596  

Total Cost to NYC     $18,057,087  

 

 

 

D. Benefit to City from Jobs to be Created 

(Estimated NYC direct and indirect taxes to be 

generated by Company) (estimated NPV 25 years 

@ 6.25%):  
  

$2,019,715 

 

C. Benefit to City from Operations and 

Renovation (Estimated NYC direct and indirect 

taxes to be generated by Company) (estimated 

NPV 25 years @ 6.25%):  

  

$25,306,365  
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NYCIDA CORE APPLICATION 
Submit your electronically completed Core Application via email to your assigned Project Manager as a Word Document file or a Word Document saved 
as a PDF.  

A. APPLICANT OVERVIEW 
Applicant Name (the “Applicant”):  American Recycling 
Management LLC 

Name of operating company (if different from Applicant):      

Operating company address:  172-33 Douglas Ave, Jamaica NY, 
11433 

Website address:  https://american-recycling-mgmt-llc.business.site/ 

EIN #:   NAICS Code: 562000 

State and date of incorporation or formation:  New York 07/15/2002 Qualified to conduct business in NY?  ☒ Yes       ☐ No 

Applicant is (check one of the following, as applicable): 

 ☐ General Partnership ☐ Limited Partnership ☐ Business Corporation    ☐ Other:       

 ☒ Limited Liability Company ☐ Sole Proprietorship  ☐ S Corporation 

Is Applicant publicly traded? ☐ Yes ☒ No 

Is Applicant affiliated with a publicly traded company?  ☐ Yes ☒ No If yes, name the affiliated company:        

B. APPLICANT CONTACT INFORMATION  
 Name/Title Company Address Email Phone Primary1 

Applicant 
Contact Person 

Dominic Susino 
American 
Recycling 

172-33 Douglas 
Ave, Jamaica, NY 

☒ 

Attorney 
Sean E. Crowley, 
Esq 

Davidoff Hutcher & 
Citron LLP      

605 Third Avenue 
New York, New 
York  10158 

☐ 

Accountant Benedict Di Venti 
Diventi & Lee 
CPA's P.C. 

67 Grand Ave, 
Massapequa, NY 
11758 

☐ 

Consultant/Other Demond Wilkerson 
Modern 
Commercial Capital 

2501 Grand 
Concourse 3rd Fl 

Bronx NY 10465 

☒ 

C. APPLICABLE FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE 
Provide the estimated value of each of the following types of Project Financial Assistance being requested. Discuss the estimation of the Requested 
Financial Assistance with your assigned Project Manager, if needed. 

Requested Financial Assistance Estimated Value of Requested Financial Assistance 

Real Estate Tax Benefits  $  

Sales Tax Waiver  $      

Mortgage Recording Tax Benefit $      

D. APPLICANT BACKGROUND 
Provide a brief description of Applicant’s history and the nature of its business. Feel free to include information from Applicant’s website or other official 
documentation describing Applicant. Include information such as when Applicant was founded, who founded the Applicant, a brief history of the Applicant, 
the Applicant’s primary services and market, and the number of Applicant’s employees in NYC and elsewhere. Limit the description to 250 words. 

 
1 Select the individual to whom questions should be directed and who may speak on behalf of Applicant. 
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E. PROPOSED PROJECT ACTIVITIES 
Describe the proposed Project, including its purpose and Project Location, in the text box below. Refer to the example below. 

Example: [Applicant Name] (“Applicant”) is a [describe general business activity, such as food processor, real estate developer, plastics manufacturer, 
etc.]. Applicant is seeking financial assistance in connection with the [list Project activities, such as construction, furnishing, equipping, etc.] of a [   ] 
square foot building on a [   ] square foot parcel of land located at [address] (the “Facility”). The Facility will be owned by [Applicant or holding company] 
and used as a [describe specific business activities associated with the Project such as warehouse, commercial office space, manufacturing facility, , 
etc.]. The total cost is approximately [Project cost]. The anticipated closing date is [ ]. The project is anticipated to be completed in ___ [months 
or years]. 

F. PROJECT LOCATION DETAIL 
Complete this table for each Project Location with a distinct Block/Lot. For Projects with more than one Block/Lot, copy the Project Location table below 
and paste it directly underneath to complete it.  

Project Location Information 

Project Address: 172-33 Douglas Ave, Queens, NY 11433          
 There are currently 14 lots that will be merged into 5 lots listed below; 
172-33  Douglas Avenue, 173-05 Liberty Avenue, 172-25 Douglas 
Avenue, 173-19 Liberty Avenue, 173-07 Liberty Avenue 
 
 
 

Location #       of       

Borough/Block/Lot: Queens,  
Block/Lot  
10219/56, 10219/58, 10219/59,  
10219/60, 10219/62 
10219/75, 10219/76, 10219/314, 10219/315 
10219/316, 10220/36 10220/42, 10220/43 
10220,44 

Community Board #: 12 Neighborhood: Jamaica, Queens 

Square footage of land: 110,147 sq ft  Square footage of existing building: 86,019 sf Number of Floors:       

How is the anticipated Project Location currently used and what percentage is currently occupied? Waste management facility, 100% Occupied 

In the case of relocation, what will happen with Applicant’s current facility?       ☐ N/A 

Does the Project Location have access to rail and/or maritime infrastructure? The project will formally connect the facility to the LIRR 

Is there any space at the Project Location that is currently being/will be occupied and/or used by any entity other than the Applicant or operating 
company, whether Affiliates or otherwise? 

☒ Yes ☐ No 

If yes, attach a separate page and provide details about tenants such as (1) name of tenant business(es) (whether Affiliates or otherwise), (2) square 
footage of tenant operations, (3) tenant occupancy commencement and termination dates, and (4) copies of leases, licenses, or other documents 
evidencing a right to possession or occupancy. 
 
For the purposes of this question, any license or other right of possession or occupancy granted by the Applicant or operating company with respect 
to the Project Location shall be deemed a tenancy. 

 

 

American Recycling is a comprehensive waste management and recycling company located in federal opportunity Zone in Jamaica Queens. The 
primary items handled at this facility include municipal solid waste, construction and demolition, yard waste and food waste. The core services are 
Transfer Station, Recycling Center, Organic Recycling, Roll-Off Dumpster Service, Material Transportation, and Cardboard Recycling. 

This is a $26 million construction and railroad conversion project that entails demolishing existing buildings and building 3 new state of the art waste 
management and recycling facilities that connects directly to the adjacent Long Island Railroad train tracks. This multi-phase project will allow 
American to transfer over 51% of the current capacity to travel via the rail system and eliminating the need for a significant amount of the current 
trucking transportation being used. The location is in a federal opportunity Zone low income neighborhood in Queens.   
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Construction Information 

Construction Start Date (as defined in the Policies and Instructions): The construction start date is Q3 2020. The current operations will continue 
throughout construction. 
Facility Operations Start Date (as defined in the Policies and Instructions):       

Does the Project involve the construction of a new building or an expansion/renovation of an existing building? ☒ Yes ☐ No  

If yes, complete the following questions and attach a separate page and provide drawings, plans, or a description of the proposed work. 

Does the Project involve subsurface disturbance or excavation? ☒ Yes ☐ No 

Anticipated square footage of Facility after construction and/or renovation:       

Anticipated square footage of non-building improvements after construction and/or renovation (e.g. parking lot construction):       

Please describe any non-building improvements on a separate page.  

Square feet of wet lab space created:          Square feet of wet lab space preserved:       

Percentage of total building size dedicated to wet lab space:       

Are energy efficiency improvements or the installation of a renewable energy system anticipated as part of the Project?2       

Which of the below statements best reflects your current stage in the contractor procurement process? 

☒ A contractor has been selected and the procurement process is complete. 

☐ The procurement process has begun but a contractor has not been selected. Selection is anticipated by:       

☐ The procurement process has not begun. Procurement is anticipated to begin by:       

☐ Other:       

☐ Not applicable 

Percentage of tenancy expected at Facility Operations Start Date: 100 

Percentage of tenancy expected six months after Facility Operations Start Date:       

Percentage of tenancy expected 12 months after Facility Operations Start Date:       

Percentage of tenancy expected 18 months after Facility Operations Start Date       

Zoning Information 

Current zoning of Project Location:       

Is a zoning variance or special permit required for the Project to proceed at this Project Location? ☒ Yes ☐ No  

If yes, attach a separate page and describe the zoning variance or special permit required, which agencies are involved, and the anticipated 
schedule for zoning approval. 

Is the Project subject to any other city, state or federal approvals?  ☒ Yes ☐ No  

If yes, attach a separate page and describe the approval required, and if applicable, list any other environmental review that may be required. 

Is the Project Location a designated historic landmark or located in a designated historic district? ☐ Yes ☒ No 

Is the Project Location within the NYC Coastal Zone Boundary? ☐ Yes ☐ No  
Intended use(s) of site (check all that apply):  ☐ Retail      % ☐ Manufacturing/Industrial      % ☐ Office      % 

 

G. ANTICIPATED OWNERSHIP  
1. Check the accurate description of the Project Location’s anticipated ownership. 

☒ Applicant or an Affiliate is/expects to be the Project Location’s fee simple owner. (Projected) Acquisition date:       

☐ Applicant or an Affiliate leases/expects to lease the Project Location. 

☐ Lease is for an entire building and property. 

☐ Lease is for a portion of the building and/or property. 

(Projected) Lease signing date:       

☐ Neither of the above categories fully describes Applicant’s interest or intended interest in the Project Location. 

Describe the anticipated ownership of the Project Location premises:        

2. Does/will an Affiliate own/control the Project Location? ☒ Yes  ☐ No 

If yes, complete the table below: 

Name of Affiliate:  TBD Address of Affiliate:        

Affiliate is a (check one of the following, as applicable): 

 ☐ General Partnership ☐ Limited Partnership ☒ Business Corporation    ☐ Other:       

 ☐ Limited Liability Company ☐ Sole Proprietorship  ☐ S Corporation 

 
2 More information on free energy efficiency advisory services can be found here.  

https://retrofitaccelerator.cityofnewyork.us/
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H. PROJECT FINANCING  
1. Sources of Financing. Provide amounts as aggregates for all Project Locations. Add table rows, if needed.  

Sources Total Amount 
Percent of  

Total Financing 

Equity $2,277,238 % 

Commercial Loan (Bank Name:      ) $12,500,000 % 

New York City Public Funds $           % 

Source: Assembly (Alecia Hyndman) $2,000,000      % 

Source: DOT Grants $8,000,000      % 

New York State Public Funds $           % 

Other: NMTC 
O 

$5,000,000 % 

Total  $29,777,238 100% 

2. Mortgage amount on which tax is levied (exclude SBA 504 financing1):       

3. Anticipated closing date between the [lender(s)]/[financing party(s)]/[financial 
institution(s) and/or funder(s)] and Applicant:       

4. Uses of Financing. Provide amounts as aggregates for all Project Locations. 

Uses Total Amount 
Percent of  

Total Financing 

Land and Building Acquisition  0% 

Construction Hard Costs  
(i.e. site excavation, building materials, labor, landscaping, construction materials, etc.) 

$18,491,547.00      % 

Construction Soft Costs  
(i.e. pre-planning, legal, financing, design, etc.) 

$883,200.00 
 

     % 

Furnishings, Fixtures, & Equipment (FF&E) and Machinery & Equipment (M&E)  
(i.e. generators, desks, chairs, electronic equipment, specialized manufacturing equipment, assembly 
equipment, etc.) 

$  $5,402,491.00 
    

     % 

FF&E purchased in NYC  60% 

M&E purchased in NYC (recyling and railroad machinery & equipment)  60% 

Closing Fees (costs associated the execution of deal, i.e. debt service reserve fund, financing fees, loan 
origination fees, attorney fees, pre-payment penalties, etc.) 

$1,000,000      % 

Other (describe): Solar panels 
Other (describe)    Payoff Existing Mortgage 

$1,00,0000 
$3,000,000 

     % 

Total  $29,777,238      % 

 
4a. Indicate anticipated budgeting of Hard Costs:   Electrical:    % Carpentry:    % Painting:    % Plumbing:    %  

Excavation or Demolition:    % Other:          % 

 
4b. Indicate anticipated budgeting of Soft Costs:  Architecture:    % Engineering:    % Design:    % Other:          % 

 

I. EMPLOYMENT INFORMATION  
The following information will be used as part of the Agency’s calculation of the Project’s benefit to the City, and as a basis for comparison with the 
employment information that Applicant will be required to report on an annual basis for the term of the Project Agreement (as defined in the Policies and 
Instructions). 

1. Job Creation Schedule for the Applicant 
For all responses in the table below, part-time (“PT”) employees are defined as those working between 17.5 and 35 hours per week on average, and 
full-time (“FT”) employees are defined as those working 35 hours or more per week. Hourly wages in Columns E & F should represent the pay rate 
and are exclusive of overtime. For salaried employees, divide the annual salary by 1,820 working hours per year to calculate an hourly wage.  

 
1 The SBA 504 Loan Program, administered by the Small Business Administration, is designed to provide small businesses with long-term financing to 

acquire and improve major fixed assets, such as owner-occupied commercial real estate and heavy machinery.  
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Information included in Column C below will be used to determine eligibility for participation in the HireNYC Program. For program information, see 
Additional Obligations document.  If eligible for the HireNYC Program participation, NYCEDC will provide additional details. 

 
 

2. Job Creation Schedule for tenants at the Facility not affiliated with the Applicant 

 

3. Of the Total Jobs at Project Location in Column D in Table 1, how many employees are/will be NYC residents? 75%  

4. How many employees at the Project Location will be paid below living wage2 at Project Start Date (as defined in the Policies and Instructions)? 0 

5. Does the Project currently have, or anticipate having, contract or vendor employees3 at the Project Location?  ☒ Yes ☐ No 

6. Generally describe all other forms of compensation and benefits that permanent employees will receive (i.e. healthcare, employer contributions for 
retirement plans, on-the-job training, reimbursement for educational expenses, etc.).       

7. Will Applicant or any of its Affiliates be required to provide health coverage to its employees pursuant to the federal Patient Protection and 

Affordable Care Act (the “Act”)?  ☐ Yes ☐ No 

If yes, provide an overview of the applicable requirements under the Act and an explanation of how Applicant plans to comply with such 
requirements. If no, explain why and provide a FT employee count using the Act “FTE Employee Calculator”.       

8. Is Applicant currently providing paid sick time to employees in accordance with the Earned Sick Time Act (Chapter 8 of Title 20 of the NYC 

Administrative Code) and otherwise in compliance with such law?  ☒ Yes ☐ No 

If yes, provide an explanation of your company’s paid and unpaid sick time policy.  If No, explain why and provide a table which outlines the 
number of anticipated employees and hours worked per calendar year.4       

9. Will the Project use an apprenticeship program approved by the New York State Department of Labor?  ☐ Yes ☐ No 

 

 
2 For information regarding living wage, see Additional Obligations document.  
3 Contract or vendor employees are independent contractors (i.e. persons who are not “employees”) or are employed by an independent contractor, who 

provide services at a Project Location. 
4Information on the Paid Sick Leave Law can be found here. 

A B C D E F G H 

Job Category # of NYC 
jobs 

retained 
by Project 

# of jobs to be added in each year at 
Project Location in first 3 years of 

operation to be employed by 
Applicant 

Total  # of Jobs 
at Project 

Location in first 
3 years of 

operation (Sum 
of all Columns B 

and C) 

Average 
hourly 

wage for  
Year 1 

Lowest 
hourly 
wage 

for  
Year 1 

Average 
Fringe 

Benefit for 
retained jobs 

Per Month 

Average 
Fringe 

Benefit for 
created jobs 

Year 1: 
20      

Year 2: 
20      

Year 3: 
20      

FT Executive 
level 

4                         $58.60 

 

$472 $      

FT Manager 
level 

4 1             5 $35 $472 $472 

FT Staff level 26 9       8 43 $15 $472 $472 

Total FT 
Employees 

34 18  8 52 $      $      $472 $472 

Total PT 
Employees 

0 4                   $      $      $      $      

A B C D E F G H 

Job Category # of NYC 
jobs retained 

by Project 

# of jobs to be added in each year 
at Project Location in first 3 years 

of operation  

Total  # of Jobs 
at Project 

Location in first 
3 years of 

operation (Sum 
of all Columns B 

and C) 

Average 
hourly 

wage for  
Year 1 

Lowest 
Hourly 
Wage 

for  
Year 1 

Average Fringe 
Benefit for 

retained jobs 

Average Fringe 
Benefit for 

created jobs 

Year 1: 
20      

Year 2: 
20      

Year 3: 
20      

 

FT Employees 
                              $      $      $      $      

PT Employees 
                              $      $      $      $      

https://www.healthcare.gov/shop-calculators-fte/
http://www1.nyc.gov/site/dca/about/paid-sick-leave-law.page
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J. LABOR  
Applicant and its Affiliates hereinafter will be referred to collectively as the “Companies” or individually as a “Company.”  If none of the following questions 
applies to any of these Companies, answer No. For any question that does apply, be sure to specify to which of the Companies the answer is relevant.   
 
 

1. Has any of the Companies during the current calendar year or any of the five preceding calendar years experienced labor unrest situations, 
including actual or threatened labor strikes, hand billing, consumer boycotts, mass demonstrations or other similar incidents? 

   ☐ Yes ☒ No   If Yes, explain on an attached sheet. 

2. Has any of the Companies received any federal and/or state unfair labor practices complaints asserted during the current calendar year or any 
the five calendar years preceding the current calendar year? 

   ☐ Yes ☒ No   If Yes, describe and explain current status of complaints on an attached sheet. 

3. Do any of the Companies have pending or threatened requests for arbitration, grievance proceedings or other labor disputes during the current 
calendar year or any of the five calendar years preceding the current calendar year? 

   ☐ Yes ☒ No   If Yes, explain on an attached sheet. 

4. Are any of the Companies’ employees not permitted to work in the United States?  

   ☐ Yes ☒ No   If Yes, provide details on an attached sheet. 

5. Is there any period for which the Companies did not complete and retain, or do not anticipate completing and retaining, all required documentation 
related to this inquiry, such as Employment Eligibility Verification (I-9) forms?   

  ☐ Yes ☒ No  If “Yes,” explain on an attached sheet. 

6. Has the United States Department of Labor, the New York State Department of Labor, the New York City Office of the Comptroller or any other 
local, state or federal department, agency or commission having regulatory or oversight responsibility with respect to workers and/or their working 
conditions and/or their wages, inspected the premises of any Company or audited the payroll records of any Company during the current or 
preceding three year calendar years?  

  ☐ Yes ☒ No  If “Yes,” use an attached sheet to briefly describe the nature and date of the inspection and the inspecting  

     governmental entity.  Briefly describe the outcome of the inspection, including any reports that may have been  
     issued and any fines or remedial or other requirements imposed upon any of the Companies as a consequence.  

7. Has any of the Companies incurred, or potentially incurred, any liability (including withdrawal liability) with respect to an employee benefit plan, 
including a pension plan? 

  ☐ Yes ☒ No  If “Yes,” use an attached sheet to quantify the liability and briefly describe its nature.  Refer to any  

     governmental entities that have had regulatory contact with the Company in connection with the   
     liability.  

8. Are the practices of any of the Companies now, or have they been at any time during the current or preceding five calendar years, the subject of 
any complaints, claims, proceedings or litigation arising from alleged discrimination in the hiring, firing, promoting, compensating or general 
treatment of employees? 

  ☐ Yes ☒ No  If “Yes,” provide details on an attached sheet.  Note “discrimination” includes sexual harassment.  

K. FINANCIALS 
1. Has Applicant, Affiliate(s), Principal(s), or any close relative of any Principal(s), ever received, or is any such person or entity currently receiving, 

financial assistance or any other kind of non-discretionary benefit from any Public Entities? 

   ☐ Yes ☒ No  If Yes, provide details on an attached sheet. 

2. Has Applicant, or any Affiliate or Principal, or any existing or proposed occupant at the Project Location(s), obtained, or is any such person or entity 
in the process of obtaining, or contemplating obtaining, other assistance from the NYCIDA/Build NYC and/or other Public Entities? 

   ☒ Yes ☐ No  If Yes, provide details on an attached sheet. 

3. Has Applicant, or any Affiliate or Principal, ever defaulted on a loan or other obligation to a Public Entity? 

   ☐ Yes ☒ No  If Yes, provide details on an attached sheet. 

4. Has real property in which Applicant, or Affiliate or Principal, holds or has ever held an ownership interest and/or controlling interest of 25 percent or 
more, now or ever been (i) the subject of foreclosure (including a deed in lieu of foreclosure), or (ii) in arrears with respect to any type of tax, 
assessment or other imposition? 

   ☐ Yes ☒ No  If Yes, provide details on an attached sheet. 

5. Does Applicant, or any Affiliate or Principal, have any contingent liabilities not already covered above (e.g., judgment liens, lis pendens, other liens, 
etc.)?  Include mortgage loans and other loans taken in the ordinary course of business only if in default. 

   ☐ Yes ☒ No  If Yes, provide details on an attached sheet. 
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6. Has Applicant, or any Affiliate or Principal, failed to file any required tax returns as and when required with appropriate governmental authorities? 

   ☐ Yes ☒ No  If Yes, provide details on an attached sheet.  

7. In the table below, provide contact information for Applicant’s references.  If the space provided below is insufficient, provide complete information on 
an attached sheet. List any “Major Customers” (those that compose more than 10% of annual revenues) and any “Major Suppliers” (those that compose 
more than 10% of goods, services, and materials).  

Reference 
Type 

Company 
Name 

Address 
Contact 
Person 

Phone Fax Email 
% of 

Revenues 

Major 
Customers 

 

City Waste 
Services 

529 Coster St. 
Bronx NY 
10474 

Joseph Tessi 

     % 

                       % 

Major 
Suppliers 

 

Waste 
Connections 
– Seneca 
Meadows 
Landfill 

1786 Salcman 
Road 
Waterloo, NY 
13165 

Rocky 
LaRocca 
      % 

                       % 

Unions 
 

United 
Workers of 
America 

50 CHARLES 
LINDBERGH 
BLVD. 
SUITE 207 
UNIONDALE, 
NY 11553 

Steve 
Sumbrotto 

 

                   

Banks 
 

TD Bank 324 South 
Service Rd. 
Melville, NY, 
11747 

William 
D’Allesandro 

 

                   

L. ANTI-RAIDING 
1. Will the completion of the Project result in the relocation of any plant or facility located within New York State, but outside of New York City, to New 

York City? ☐ Yes ☒ No  
   

  If “Yes,” provide the names of the owners and addresses of the to-be-removed plant(s) or facility(ies):       

2. Will the completion of the Project result in the abandonment of any plants or facilities located in an area of New York State other than New York City?  

  ☐ Yes ☒ No  
 

  

  If “Yes,” provide the names of the owners/operators and the addresses of the to-be-abandoned plant(s) or facility(ies):       

        If the answer to question 1 or 2 is “Yes,” answer questions 3 and 4. 
 

3. Is the Project reasonably necessary to preserve the competitive position of this Applicant, or of any proposed occupants of the Project, in its industry?  

 ☒ Yes ☒ No  
 
 

4. Is the Project reasonably necessary to discourage Applicant, or any proposed occupant of the Project, from removing such plant or facility to a 
location outside New York State?      

☒ Yes ☐ No  
 

  If the answer to question 3 or 4 is “Yes,” provide a detailed explanation on a separate sheet of paper. 

M. COMPLIANCE WITH LAW 
1. The Applicant and any owner or occupant of the proposed project is in substantial compliance with applicable local, state and federal tax, worker 

protection and environmental laws, rules and regulations.     ☒ Yes   ☐ No 

2. The proposed project, as of the date of this application, is in compliance with all provisions of Article 18-A of the General Municipal Law, including, 

but not limited to the provisions of Section 859-a and Section 862(1) thereof.      ☒ Yes  ☐ No  

N. ADDITIONAL QUESTIONS 
1. Is the Applicant considering alternative Project Locations outside of New York City? ☒ Yes  ☐ No  
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a. If “Yes,” where? Upstate NY 

2. What uses are being considered for the Project Location other than those described in the Proposed Project Activities? Observation are for local 
school field trips to learn about recylcing. 

3. How does the Applicant intend to utilize the tax savings provided through the NYCIDA? Railroad conversion to green energy facility. 

4. What are the primary sources of revenue supporting Applicant’s operations? Recycling and waste transfer. 

5. If the Applicant’s income statement categorizes any revenues as “Other operating revenues,” describe what revenues are captured in that category:  

       ☐ N/A       

6. If the Applicant’s income statement categorizes any revenues as “Other general and administrative,” describe what revenues are captured in that 

category:       ☐ N/A   
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CERTIFICATION 
 
I, the undersigned officer/member/partner of Applicant, on behalf of Applicant and its Affiliates, hereby request, represent, certify, understand, 
acknowledge and agree as follows: 

I request that this Application, together with all materials and data submitted in support of this Application (collectively, these “Application Materials”), be submitted 
for review to the Agency’s Board of Directors (the “Board”), in order to obtain from the Board an expression of intent to provide the benefits requested herein for 
the Project.  

I certify that I have the authority to sign these Application Materials on behalf of, and to bind, Applicant and its Affiliates. 

I certify under penalty of perjury to the best of my knowledge and belief, after due investigation, that the information contained in these Application Materials is 
accurate, true and complete and does not contain a misstatement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements contained 
herein not misleading. I understand that an intentional misstatement of fact, or, whether intentional or not, a material misstatement of fact, or the providing of 
materially misleading information, or the omission of a material fact, may cause the Board to reject the request made in the Application Materials. I understand that 
the Agency will rely on the information contained within these Application Materials in producing and publishing a public notice and convening a public hearing. If 
any information in these Application Materials is found to be incorrect, Applicant may have to provide new information and a new public notice and public hearing 
may be required.  If a new public notice and public hearing is required, they will be at Applicant's expense.  

I acknowledge that the submission of any knowingly false or knowingly misleading information may lead to the immediate termination of any financial assistance 
and the reimbursement of an amount equal to all or part of any tax exemptions claimed by reason of Agency involvement in the project. 

I understand the following: that Applicant and Principals will be subject to a background check and actual or proposed subtenants may be subject to a background 
check, and if such background check performed by the Agency with respect to Applicant or any Affiliates reveals negative information, Applicant consents to any 
actions that the Agency or NYCEDC may take to investigate and verify such information; that the Agency may be required under SEQRA to make a determination 
as to the Project's environmental impact and that in the event the Agency determines that the Project will have an environmental impact, Applicant will be required 
to prepare, at its own expense, an environmental impact statement; that the decision of the Board to approve or to reject the request made in the Application 
Materials is a discretionary decision; that no Bonds may be issued (if Bonds are being requested) unless such Bonds are approved by the Mayor of the City; that 
under the New York State Freedom of Information Law (“FOIL”), the Agency may be required to disclose the Application Materials and the information contained 
therein (see the Disclosure Policy section of the Polices and Instructions document provided to Applicant and signed by Applicant on or about the date hereof (the 
“Policies and Instructions”)); and that Applicant shall be entirely responsible and liable for the fees referred to in these Application Materials. 

I further understand and agree as follows: 

That notwithstanding submission of this Application, the Agency shall be under no obligation to present Applicant’s proposed Project to the Board for approval.  If 
the Agency presents Applicant’s proposed Project to the Board for approval, the Agency does not guaranty that such approval will be obtained.  If upon presenting 
Applicant’s proposed Project to the Board for approval the Agency obtains such approval, such approval shall not constitute a guaranty from the Agency to 
Applicant that the Project transaction will close. 

That preparation of this Application and any other actions taken in connection with the proposed Project shall be entirely at Applicant’s sole cost and expense.  
Under all circumstances, the Application Fee is non-refundable, including but not limited to the circumstance where the Agency decides, in its sole discretion, to 
not present Applicant’s proposed project to the Board for Approval. 

That each of Applicant and each of its Affiliates (collectively, the “Indemnitors”) hereby releases the Agency and  NYCEDC and their respective directors, officers, 
employees and agents (collectively, the “Indemnitees”) from and against any and all claims that any Indemnitor has or could assert and which arise out of, or are 
related to, any Application Materials, any actions taken in connection therewith or any other actions taken in connection with the proposed Project (collectively, the 
“Actions”).  Each Indemnitor hereby indemnifies and holds harmless each of the Indemnitees from and against any and all claims and damages brought or 
asserted by third parties, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, arising from or in connection with the Actions.  As referred to herein, “third parties” shall include, but 
shall not be limited to, Affiliates. 

That in the event the Agency discloses the Application Materials in response to a request made pursuant to FOIL, Applicant hereby authorizes the Agency to make 
such disclosure and hereby releases the Agency from any claim or action that Applicant may have or might bring against the Agency, their directors, officers, 
agents, employees and attorneys, by reason of such disclosure; and that Applicant agrees to defend, indemnify and hold the Agency and the NYCEDC and their 
respective directors, officers, agents, employees and attorneys harmless (including without limitation for the cost of reasonable attorneys’ fees) against claims 
arising out of such disclosure as such claims may be made by any party including Applicant, Affiliate, Owner or Principal, or by the officers, directors, employees 
and agents thereof. 

That capitalized terms used but not defined in this Application have the respective meanings specified in the Policies and Instructions. 

I acknowledge and agree that the Agency reserves its right in its sole and absolute discretion to request additional information, waive any requirements set 
forth herein, and/or amend the form of this Application, to the full extent permitted by applicable law. 

Requested, Represented, Certified, Acknowledged, Understood and 
Agreed by Applicant,  

I certify that, using due care, I know of no misstatement of material fact in 
the Application Materials, and know of no material fact required to be 
stated in the Application Materials to make the statements made therein 
not misleading.    Certified by Preparer, 

This       day of      , 20     . _________________________ This       day of      , 20     . 

Name of Applicant:       _______________________________ Name of Preparer:       __________________________________ 
  
Signatory:      ___________________________ Signatory:        ____________________________ 

Title of Signatory:      ________________________________ Title of Signatory:      __________________________________ 

Signature:         _____________________________________ Signature:      _________________________________________ 
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Good morning, my name is Natasha Bynum, and I am a legal intern in the Environmental Justice 
Program at New York Lawyers for the Public Interest. Along with many of our community 
partners who are testifying here today, our organization has advocated for waste equity for 
decades – including our long-time advocacy for the Commercial Waste Zone law – the amending 
of which is the subject of this hearing. Thank you to the Sanitation Committee, and Chair 
Reynoso for your continued leadership on this issue and the opportunity to testify today. 

I am testifying on behalf of NYLPI to express our support for preconsidered bill T2021-7669, 
which would remove waste auditors from the definition of “trade waste broker” in section 501 of 
chapter 1 of title 16-A of the administrative code. In doing so, we hope to underscore the 
importance of ensuring that the City’s laws will allow emerging sustainability auditing 
businesses – which are largely women owned and led – to play critical and growing roles in the 
Commercial Waste Zone system without having to pay a prohibitive licensing fee. 

While trade waste brokers negotiate deals between commercial customers and waste collectors 
for a fee or commission, waste auditors serve an entirely different, environmentally responsible, 
function in the materials management economy. The services and data produced by waste 
auditors can be used by their generators of commercial waste to seek transparent and fair price 
estimates from haulers, identify opportunities for waste reduction, overall improving 
transparency in what the customers are paying for and resulting in increasing diversion rates for 
the commercial waste sector—a major goal of the Commercial Waste Zone system. As the City 
works toward its goals of zero waste, waste auditors can and should play an integral role. 

However, these auditing businesses cannot flourish so long as they are mistakenly classified as 
waste brokers under the law. Because every business considered a waste broker must be licensed 
by BIC under the administrative code, small sustainability-minded auditing businesses are 
required to pay prohibitively expensive licensing fees, and jump through unnecessary procedural 
hoops. This has prevented--and will continue to prevent--local, sustainable, and women and 
minority-led businesses from playing a critical role in commercial waste management. Hindering 
the growth of this waste auditor start-up sector undermines the sustainability and equity goals 
that are fundamental to the Commercial Waste Zone law. 

NYLPI supports removing waste auditing from the definition of waste broker, and further 
suggests that this bill amend Title 16 Section B of the administrative code as well to explicitly 
define waste auditing such that DSNY alone has the right to certify and regulate waste auditors. 



 

 New York Lawyers  

for the Public Interest, Inc. 

151 West 30th Street, 11th Floor 

New York, NY 10001-4017 

 
 

   
 

 

As the City continues to implement the Commercial Waste Zone system, we want to thank our 
partners in DSNY for their diligent work to ensure that the transformative system is implemented 
in a way that ensures that sustainability, equity, and transparency are at the heart of the new 
commercial waste system. 

We'd like to again thank Chair Reynoso for continuing to work with us on waste equity issues in 
this City, and thank you all for your time and consideration today. 

 



 

 
 

 

New York Lawyers  

for the Public Interest, Inc. 

151 West 30th Street, 11th Floor 

New York, NY 10001-4017 
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 June 24, 2021 

Good morning, my name is Caroline Soussloff, and I am a Legal Fellow in the Environmental 
Justice Program at New York Lawyers for the Public Interest (NYLPI). NYLPI works with 
communities across the New York City area, providing support and services to combat 
inequalities, injustices, and infringements on civil rights. Our Environmental Justice program has 
advocated and litigated on the subject of the inequities of the distribution of environmental 
burdens and benefits in our City for almost three decades. Thank you to the Council, the 
Sanitation Committee, and Chair Reynoso for the opportunity to speak up in regards to this 
troubling bill, Intro 2349, which purports to amend the Waste Equity Law. 

For decades, we have partnered with residents of Environmental Justice communities to fight for 
a more equitable solid waste management system. Our City’s waste infrastructure, such as waste 
transfer stations and truck depots, has historically been concentrated in just three low-income 
communities of color, which have, for too long, borne the brunt of the resulting poor air quality, 
unsafe traffic, noise, odors, and vermin, with measurable repercussions for public health. 
Fortunately, in 2018, this Council passed a landmark Environmental Justice law—the Waste 
Equity Law—to begin to remediate this injustice. 

I am appearing here today because the Waste Equity Law is in danger of being diluted and rolled 
back based on mere promises of upgrades and more sustainable practices—and even these 
promises do not go far enough to mitigate the harmful impacts these truck-intensive waste 
transfer stations have had on their surrounding community. 

Waste facilities had almost ten years to get into compliance with waste equity legislation, as 
various versions of the Waste Equity Law were introduced in the Council at least three times 
over eight years before finally passing into law three years ago. There were three separate 
hearings for these individual bills, and during each hearing the larger goal of shifting from truck-
based waste export to rail and barge export was highlighted, and companies were put on notice 
that they would be rewarded if they transitioned to export by rail in advance of the law being 
passed. 

The owners of these facilities chose to wait until AFTER the law passed—after fighting this 
relatively modest reform for years—and now want to appear to “get with the program”. 

At their current capacity, these facilities have failed to comply with regulations, which raises 
serious concerns about their ability to safely manage additional capacity. The Department of 
Environmental Conservation has fined Regal and placed the company under two consent orders 
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for failing to minimize leachate and its effects and leaving unprocessed food waste on the ground 
as recently as 2019. 

Moreover, these facilities are not taking advantage of existing exemptions in the Waste Equity 
Law. In their 2020 annual report, Regal Recycling reported that they sent only 6,400 tons of 
organic waste to a compost facility—that is about 18 tons per day, far less than the 120 tons per 
day of permit capacity that Regal reserved with DSNY during the implementation of the Waste 
Equity Law. American Recycling reported even less organics recycling, sending only about 12 
tons per day to a compost facility. This minimal commitment to recycling the huge quantities of 
food waste and other organic material in our waste stream is a missed opportunity for the 
companies to expand under the existing law, so it is difficult to understand why they are asking 
for more and more permit capacity at this time. 

NYLPI shares the goal of transporting waste by rail… If the companies had (i) community 
support, with ample opportunity for meaningful engagement; (ii) a commitment to fully enclose 
all the facilities’ operations, rather than simply “three sides”; (iii) a concrete technical plan for 
construction and rail export, with agreements in place to utilize the railroad, and engineering 
plans to demonstrate the upgrades they will accomplish to the facility in less than two years of 
construction; and (iv) an enforceable agreement of a sunset provision so that the added/restored 
capacity would again be slashed to the current post-Waste Equity levels once all the construction 
was completed—then a waiver or exemption might actually be acceptable. 

But what they are proposing now is simply a four-year waiver from the Waste Equity Law to 
allow them to have hundreds of tons of capacity restored, bringing more waste and trucks into 
their community, based upon mere lip service that they intend to improve operations. Rather than 
implementing the benefits of transporting waste by rail, this Bill risks undoing the progress of the 
past couple of years. 

This Bill would create a slippery slope: once we start amending our Environmental Justice laws 
to allow for one or two private industry actors to belatedly try to improve, we completely gut the 
force and reliability of our laws in the first place. To say nothing of the fact that our City Council 
should not be legislating to benefit single private actors or companies. We therefore oppose this 
bill and urge the Council to reject it and protect the Waste Equity Law. 

Thank you all for your time and consideration today. 



TESTIMONY
REGARDING COUNCIL MEMBER MILLER LOCAL LAW TO AMEND THE ADMINISTRATIVE CODE

IN RELATION TO INCREASING PERMITTED CAPACITY FOR EXPORT RAIL

Good morning Chairman Reynoso, Council Member Daneek Miller and all of the panel.

My name is Andrea Scarborough, I am the former President of Addisleigh Park Civic Organization (APCO)
a civic organization in Southeast Queens (SEQ), I was most recently voted in as the Vice Chair of the
Queens Solid Waste Advisory Board.

I am speaking here today however as a concerned resident of Southeast Queens, District 12, a
community that is among one of the most overburdened districts with waste facilities and the related
diesel truck pollution it creates. I oppose Intro 2349 the local law to amend the administrative code of
the city of New York, in relation to increasing permitted capacity for export by rail for the following
reasons:

Currently LL152 states that if a transfer station exports their waste through the rail system then the
reduction in their waste capacity is waived and no longer applies. However LL152 does not grant a
waiver based on intent but rather on the facilities existing mode of operation. The proposed legislation
is seeking to grant the facilities American Recycling/Regal Recycling an increase in their putrescible
waste based on their intent to move to a rail system and not their current operational practices.
Although these facilities are not named in the legislation, the civic/community leaders of district 12
attended a presentation by Council Member Miller and the two waste transfer stations where this
project was presented. Why would a “city law” give permission to waste facilities to infringe upon a
community’s quality of life by removing an existing cap and allowing more tonnage of waste for four
years based on their word/intent to move to exporting waste by rail.

History has shown that Regal/Royal Recycling cannot be depended upon to honor their commitments. In
2002/2003 a stipulation of settlement between the waste facility and several advocacy groups, allowed
the company to increase its’ capacity for processing putrescible solid waste from 177.5 tons/day to 600
tons per day. In return they agreed to several conditions including preparing quarterly compliance
reports to be sent to the Federation of Civic Associations and Community Board 12. Regal was also to
designate an in-house point person to receive and respond to complaints from the community, whose
name and telephone number was to be provided to the community and to the Exec Board of the
Federation of Civic Associations and Community Board 12.

These conditions were never met.

The difference between district 12 and most other districts that manage waste is the zoning. District 12
has only M1 zones which are designed to accommodate light manufacturing that can coexist easily with
residential homes. With the exception of one other waste transfer station Southeast Queens, District
12 is the only area in all of NYC where a waste station has been allowed to operate in an M1 zoned
area due to being grandfathered. New York State and New York City laws state that this type of
business is not allowed in an M1 but rather belong in an M3 zoned area for heavy industrial use type
activity. In addition these facilities are poorly run and they need to improve their management of
leachate generation, dust control and elimination of noxious fumes that emanate from the facility which
is not fully enclosed. As a result we have homeowners that are subject to two waste facilities that



pollute the air, possibly poison the sewer system with leachate and create an unhealthy condition for
the residents that live there. In the summer I have personally experienced the stench coming from these
waste transfer stations. It is unbearable, and residents have told me they are unable to open their
windows to get fresh air. The waste facilities are not good neighbors and clearly infringe upon the
residents’ quality of life.
Intro 2349 fails to make the case for allowing more waste into a community where by law, it does not
belong. Understanding that increased waste means increased trucks coming in creating the very
environmental condition that you’re trying to rectify.

Finally at the zoom presentations by American Recycling/Regal Recycling, it was stated that their intent
was to (1) build a new facility at their site, (2) export their waste by the rail system and (3) request a
removal of their existing cap and increase their waste capacity. The facilities attempted to justify this
waste increase by citing expenses associated with the building of a new facility and the costs associated
with the needed rail spur to allow an export of its waste. Intro 2349 legislation that is before the
sanitation committee however excludes the building of a new facility. Something very important to the
community. Should this legislation pass, the waste transfer station potentially would be allowed to
increase their waste without ever being held accountable to build a new facility or address the
inefficiencies that exist at their site. Without ever being held accountable to improve the quality of life
for the residents that live by these two transfer stations.

As a concerned resident of Southeast Queens I urge that Intro 2349 be rejected.



Date: June 24, 2021

To: New York City Council / Sanitation Committee

From: Christina Grace, CEO, Foodprint Group Inc.

Subj: A local law to amend the administrative code of the city of New York, in relation to the
definition of trade waste broker

My name is Christina Grace and I am the CEO of Foodprint Group, a zero waste design, training and

technology company based in Brooklyn. We work with food, hospitality, cultural, real estate and

other organizations in NYC and around the world to achieve zero waste, 90% or better diversion

from landfill. We are co-authors of the NYC Zero Waste Design Guidelines.

We have decided to stop conducting multi-stream waste audits in New York City and let our costly

Business Integrity Commission (BIC) Trade Waste Broker registration lapse. The annual registration

fee for what has been a small component of our work, particularly in light of Covid-19, no longer

makes financial sense.  We still provide audits to clients in other cities. That we had to have a BIC

registration in order to help companies understand the make-up of their waste, often to provide data

to validate that a client’s actual trade waste broker or hauler was poorly estimating waste and thus

improperly charging them, is very frustrating and counter-intuitive.

The City of New York defines a "trade waste broker" as “1) a person or entity who for a fee brokers

agreements between consumers and providers of trade waste removal, collection or disposal

services or 2) who conducts evaluations or analyses of the waste stream of such consumers in order

to recommend cost efficient means of waste disposal or other changes in related business practices”.

Part one of this definition defines a true waste broker. Part two is a function that is, in every other

part of the country, and even here in New York City, conducted by:

1. Sustainability, often LEED, Consultants,

2. Zero Waste Services Companies,

3. Building Management/Janitorial Firms,

4. Not-for-Profits providing community greening programming, and

5. Trade Waste Brokers

Many companies that fit into 1-4 above don’t even realize they need to be a Trade Waste Broker to

conduct a waste audit in New York City. LEED audits happen all the time by companies not currently

registered with the Business Integrity Commission. But, for those of us who are in the know, we have

to make a choice to either pay to be classified as a broker when we are not brokers, but instead
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designers, sustainability consultants, or trained zero waste professional, OR to not provide audit

services. In deciding not to be a “broker” we lose business to non-registered companies from outside

of New York and brokers, and clients miss out on truly rigorous audit services.

We are not in the business of brokering the hauling and disposal of waste. We are in the business of

eliminating waste. We are truly unbiased auditors, because in order for us to eliminate waste, we

need to know the exact makeup of what is landing in the trash, organics and recycling whereas

companies in the business of moving waste can be biased towards waste audit results that will

support the movement of more waste - which is their primary business.

The way the BIC rules have been written put brokers, companies that stand to gain from more waste,

in the position of auditing waste. A law that currently makes brokers their own watch dogs does not

move the city closer to achieving zero waste (90% or better diversion from landfill or incineration).

We strongly suggest limiting the definition of a trade waste broker to the true broker function.

Companies should not have to have a costly registration to complete a waste audit. We do believe

the City should provide 1) a set of requirements for waste audits being conducted for city buildings

that are shared as a best practice for all buildings and 2) very clear requirements for the waste audits

that will be required under the new Commercial Waste Zones.

We are happy to provide additional information about our experience and thank you for the

opportunity to testify on behalf of sustainability businesses, in many cases, very small companies and

independent consultants, who provide quality services to reduce waste and ultimately reverse

climate change. Changing the definition of a trade waste broker will enable these businesses to have

greater impact here in New York City. Please reach out to me at christina@foodprintgroup.com or

718.207.4967 with any questions.

Sincerely,

Christina Grace

CEO

Foodprint Group

35 2nd Street, #2

Brooklyn, NY 11231
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The New York & Atlantic Railway and companies like Tunnel Hill Partners/WIN Waste 
Innovations (THP/WIN) that operate waste-by-rail transfer and transload stations and landfills 
are in this business together. The MTA is a silent partner in all NYC area waste-by-rail export 
because this business would not even exist without the waste-by-rail industry’s use of MTA’s 
publicly owned and subsidized facilities. These include LIRR’s Farmingdale Yard where 
THP/WIN’s NYAR Coastal is located, and LIRR’s freight rail assets licensed for use by the New 
York & Atlantic Railway. LIRR also pays capital costs for freight rail, among other subsidies. 

 
While Zero Waste may be the city’s goal, the more tonnage companies export, the more money 
they make. Waste-by-rail is seen as such a growth industry and good investment that Tunnel 
Hill Partners was acquired first by an Australian private equity firm and now waste giant 
Wheelabrator Technologies’ WIN Waste Innovations owns it.  

Yet these profitable companies haven’t bothered to spend money enclosing the THP/WIN NYAR 
(New York & Atlantic Railway) Coastal Distribution facility, equipping it with modern pollution 
controls, or even covering their garbage gondolas. So waste blowoff, leachate, and odors from 
uncovered Tunnel Hill Partners’ rail cars and their outmoded 3-sided building on MTA property 
continue to harm public and environmental health and quality of life, and their overloaded 
“muffintop” rail cars cause derailments that disrupt commuter lines, as the photos below show. 
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The MTA-LIRR and NYS DEC haven’t stopped these abuses and harms, which have helped 
private owners get rich, even though this is all happening in a public right of way. MTA had to 
bring in a crane from Pennsylvania to handle the derailment above, by Jamaica. An article about 
Macquarie’s acquisition of Tunnel Hill Partners included Moody’s glowing description of Tunnel 
Hill Partners’ “unique, difficult to replicate network of collection and transfer assets.” To restate 
that from the community perspective, NYS subsidizes this business to the detriment of their 
residents’ health and quality of life, and turns a blind eye to public harms:1 

Founded in 2008 by principals at American Infrastructure MLP Funds, Tunnel Hill 
has a major behind-the-scenes presence in the Northeast. The company has grown 
through multiple acquisitions, including the 2014 purchase of WCA Waste's Northeast 
assets. For the 12-month period ending in June 30, 2018, revenues were reportedly 
$280 million. 

With a footprint spanning from Ohio to Massachusetts, Moody's described Tunnel Hill 
as benefiting from "a unique, difficult to replicate network of collection and transfer 
assets in a region that is experiencing sharply declining disposal/landfill 
capacity." The Connecticut-based company now owns two Subtitle D landfills, 14 
transfer stations (including many with rail capability), two recycling facilities, one 
beneficial use burial site and the collection company City Carting.  

Recently Omni Brentwood waste-by-rail transfer station that will ship waste to a THP/WIN 
landfill in Ohio received a permit from the NYS Department of Environmental Conservation. 
Public officials and residents from Queens to Brentwood, NY strenuously objected to permitting 
the new facility, which is located in a state-identified Environmental Justice Community already 
overburdened with polluting facilities. New York State lacks a law like New Jersey’s that takes 
into account existing environmental and health burdens on Environmental Justice Communities 
before siting another polluting facility there, such as a waste transfer station. Instead, New York 
State provided the required “enhanced participation” to this Environmental Justice Community 
and then permitted the facility. This was DEC’s summary of one comment: 

Constituents bear the burden of a legacy of environmental racism by approval of harmful 
projects in the community. Community is already overburdened by superfund sites, brownfield 
sites, three power plants, industrial and commercial facilities. Siting a solid waste facility in a 
low-income, predominately minority neighborhood goes against the principles of environmental 
justice and directly injures the residents of the Brentwood neighborhood. Study by the Health 
Department found Brentwood Gardens suffered high rates of colorectal cancer and asthma, 
which can be attributed to ongoing exposure to toxic substances. Deny the permit.  

                                                
1Macquarie acquires Northeast disposal company Tunnel Hill Partners, Rosengren, Cole, Feb. 13, 2019,  
 https://www.wastedive.com/news/macquarie-acquires-tunnel-hill-partners-northeast-disposal/548191/ 
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There is an imbalance of private profits and public costs because NYS has failed to plan and 
regulate waste-by-rail to protect communities and the environment, and left it up to private 
companies to provide public benefits. The industry has failed to invest in mitigations that would 
protect public health and quality of life. Please don’t make this worse by lowering NYC’s current 
standards and writing a bad actor a blank check with a new city law. Please withdraw Int 2349. 
 
Mary Arnold, Co-Founder Civics United for Railroad Environmental Solutions, 
civicsunited@gmail.com 
 



TO: The Committee on Sanitation and Solid Waste

The local law being proposed should be rejected for the below reasons:

1. Southeast Queens District 12 has been identified as an Environmental Justice community.

2. The goal is to get to zero waste

3. Any consideration of an increase in waste defeats this purpose.

4. The locations of these proposals are in an already overburdened M1 zone with buildings

that were grandfathered in.
5. The area would suffer an increase in pollution, because it would require an increase in

the number of trucks coming into and going out of the neighborhood.

6. This law offers blanket tonnage increases in Environmental Justice communities for up to four
years based on a hauler’s intention to only use some rail and the rest trucks. This waters down
the promises and exceptions in the Waste Equity bill, and privileges competitors who aren’t

meeting the Department of Sanitation standards for a waste-by-rail facility that Waste
Management had to meet.

7. The residents of the community are suffering and will continue to suffer more, because they are
unable to enjoy the comforts of their homes year round.

8. The Council should not be providing loopholes to increase more tonnage of waste coming into a
community. It is inappropriate when Zero Waste is the goal. This was not the intent of the Waste
Equity Law.

9. There have been no plans shared, nor answers provided for the questions posed by the

community about this project. The residents that live in the area has not been considered in a

meaningful way.

10. Councilman Miller’s law proposes legitimizing unenclosed transfer stations with three walls and

a roof.

11. Please consider our families who have suffered and will continue to suffer from this legislation.

12. Please withdraw this legislation

Brinkerhoff Action Association

Walter Dogan


